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The key results of NS for 2013, summarised in brief. Complete or additional information can be 

found in the Activities Report, the Annual Report and on www.ns.nl/jaarverslag (Dutch).
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FOREWORD
NS as a company is irrevocably bound to Dutch society. Every 
single day, we help hundreds of thousands of people with their 
mobility requirements: people who are travelling to their work or 

place of study, families who are going out for the day, friends who want to go 
shopping in Maastricht... That comes with a great deal of responsibility.
During my first few months at NS, I have got to know it as a people company, 
where everyone is very involved in their work and very committed, whether 
they’re involved in operations and maintenance, or buttering the sandwiches. 
If I visit a site or workshop, I see professional expertise, responsibility and 
customer focus. I speak to customers almost every day and I have to field a 
lot of questions. I regularly get complimented, but I still come across a lack of 
understanding all too often. About checking in and out when switching to 
another carrier, for example. We still have a lot of ground to make up.
For NS as a company, 2013 was primarily about Fyra/V250. We will still be 
dealing with this in 2014: the legal situation with AnsaldoBreda will have to 
be resolved and the Dutch Lower House will be starting the parliamentary 
inquiry into the tendering process for the HSL South and the V250. For NS, 
2013 was also the year in which we took further steps towards facilitating 
journeys that go seamlessly from door to door, with full ownership of Qbuzz, 
better journey information and wonderful newly renovated stations such as 
Rotterdam Centraal.
Sustainable travel is important if we are to be able to keep travelling in future 
and keep the Netherlands mobile. Mobility is very beneficial to the 
Netherlands in economic and social terms, but it does come hand in hand 
with environmental and health burdens due to CO2 and fine particulate 
emissions. Fossil fuels are running out and the climate is changing. As a 
national carrier, we want to be in the vanguard of sustainable mobility with 
an attractive product. Sustainability is one of the driving forces for innovation. 
Consider the NS Group Return, for instance, and our intention to purchase 
(new) green energy, which will encourage the growth of the sustainable 
energy market. In addition, we are seeing that passengers are increasingly 
deliberately choosing the sustainable alternative. This makes it all the more 
important for us to make sure that people know that the train is an 
environmentally friendly alternative.
In this report, we link our performance, governance and finances to the 
social, economic and sustainability contexts in which we operate and 
provide services. Thanks to this ‘integrated reporting’ approach, we are giving 
our customers and stakeholders an even better picture of how we work and 
what the impact of our work is on the world around us.
An annual report marks both the close of the year gone by and the transition 
to the new one. We will be working on the details of our new direction in 
2014: we want 2014 to be a year of operational excellence for our customers 
and staff, providing optimum levels of service for passengers. What I would 
like to see in 2014 is that NS and its public transport partners work together 
towards a single goal: getting passengers as safely and as comfortably as 
possible from door to door.”

Timo Huges

 

“
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PROFILE
OF THE COMPANY

NS operates in the public transport sector. It provides reliable passenger transport, 

comfortable trains and buses, lively stations and station areas and a range of 

services for a pleasant journey from door to door.

Our 32,155 employees put their combined effort into one 
mission: to keep transporting more passengers safely, punctu-
ally and comfortably via appealing stations. The operations of 
NS cover both passenger transport and hub development and 
operation, with combined revenues of €4.6 billion. More than 
85% of that comes from passenger transport.

NS in the Netherlands and Europe
The oldest predecessor of NS, HIJSM, was founded in 1837.  
So NS has been making its contribution to mobility and 
progress in the Netherlands for over 175 years. The company 
still plays a very significant social role in its domestic market. 
Over the past eleven years, NS has acquired an increasing 
share of rail transport in other European countries through 
its subsidiary Abellio.

NS Reizigers is responsible for rail transport operations in the 
Netherlands and the associated sales and service activities. 
With more than 11,000 employees and revenue of €2 billion 
from the Dutch main rail network, it is the largest and also  
the most high-profile of the NS business units. NS Reizigers 
handles the logistics, provides journey information, sells 
tickets and manages the Customer Service department.

NedTrain is responsible for the maintenance of trains in the 
Netherlands, working on continually upgrading our trains 
and making them more sustainable. NedTrain’s operations 

are exclusively business-to-business, primarily within NS for 
NS Reizigers and NS Hispeed. Its revenue is €500 million.

NS Stations is responsible for the management and commer-
cial operation of stations in the Netherlands and for develop-
ment in and around these stations. The company collaborates 
closely with public authorities and its partners. NS Stations 
has revenue of €700 million. NS Stations is involved in the 
hospitality and retail sectors as well as the development and 
operation of property, and it is responsible for the facilities  
in and around the stations (such as the bicycle hire facility 
OV-fiets and NS Zonetaxi) that ensure a smooth door-to-door 
journey. There are 406 stations in the Netherlands.

NS Hispeed provides cross-border passenger transport and 
handles transport on the high-speed lines in the Netherlands. 
NS Hispeed collaborates closely with foreign rail companies 
and has revenue of €160 million. In the final quarter of 2013, 
a decision was taken to integrate this business unit with NS 
Reizigers as of 1 January 2014.

The NS subsidiary Abellio acquires and operates public 
transport franchises with the aim of consolidating the 
position of NS in the European market as it becomes more 
deregulated. Abellio currently has rail and bus transport 
operations in Britain and Germany and through Qbuzz in  
the Netherlands. Its revenue is €1.6 billion.

 
NS GROUP

Supporting companies 
and participations

Passenger transport

NS Reizigers

NedTrain NS Stations
NS Hispeed

Abellio

Hub development and operation

Carriers Maintenance

Qbuzz
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€1.6
billion

€70
million

€2 
billion

NS Reizigers 

648

11,041

11,161

674

3,057

5,574 €700
million

NS Stations

€160
million

NS Hispeed

Abellio

€500
million

NedTrain

Other business units
  

From left to right: Merel van Vroonhoven Director | Hans Hemels Director, HR and Organisation

Jeff Hoogesteger CEO Abellio | Michiel Noy CEO NS Stations

Ingrid Thijssen CEO NS Reizigers | Timo Huges Chairman and CEO

Engelhardt Robbe, Financial Director| Michiel van Roozendaal CEO NedTrain

Group Council
The Group Council consists of the 
Executive Board plus the business unit 
directors and the director of HR and 
Organisation. The Group Council is 
involved in the company’s major 
decisions. Merel van Vroonhoven and 
Ingrid Thijssen have indicated that they 
will be looking to pursue their careers 
outside NS as of 1 April 2014 and  
1 March 2014 respectively.
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Denmark

NS franchises in Europe
In the Netherlands, Germany and the United Kingdom

Nederlandse Spoorwegen

bus lines are indicative

Intercity direct
Abellio Deutschland
Abellio Deutschland, operated by JV company WestfalenBahn
Abellio Greater Anglia
Northern Rail, a Serco/Abellio joint venture
Merseyrail, a Serco/Abellio joint venture

other railway lines
other high-speed lines
RandstadRail - light rail
Qbuzz buses
Abellio London & Surrey buses
railway station
railway station with Qbuzz city buses

 
 

 bus station
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TAKING RESPONSIBILITY 
FOR PASSENGERS

2013 had hardly started before a floor plate fell off a V250 
high-speed train during the winter weather. In December 
2012, NS had started using the Fyra connection between 
Amsterdam and Brussels over the High-Speed Line (HSL) South. 
So that did not last very long. We took the Fyra/V250 out of 
service in January.
At the end of a lengthy process, NS concluded that the 
technical condition of the V250 trains and the lack of any 
clarity about solutions for the problems did not make us 
confident that the situation could be resolved. It became clear 
that the V250 train is not sufficiently reliable to allow us to 
run it to a dependable timetable. NS did not feel that the repair 
programme presented by the manufacturer AnsaldoBreda was 
sufficient to solve the problems. The result of this was that the 
NS Executive Board and Supervisory Board decided to stop 
deploying the V250 trains on our commercial services.
“After a confrontational event like that, the company can only 
eat humble pie,” said director Merel van Vroonhoven. “We 
were unable to offer our customers the connections between 
Amsterdam and Brussels that we wanted. We regretted that 
very much.”

Customers’ needs
NS subsequently made every possible effort to provide 
passengers with a proper connection between the Netherlands 
and Belgium again, both in the shorter and the longer term. 
The Financial Director, Engelhardt Robbe, says, “I think that 
we’ve acted effectively and focused on finding solutions. The 
customer’s needs were paramount.” NS worked closely with 

other carriers such as NMBS, Thalys and Eurostar to find a 
solution. Ms Van Vroonhoven says, “NS is a very capable 
organisation, but where necessary wealso bring in strong 
partners and experts who are closely involved with the 
practical side. That’s one important lesson that we’ve learned 
from the situation. We have a strong focus on high-frequency 
Intercity transport, whereas other parties may be especially 
strong in high-speed transport.” The alternative for the 
Amsterdam-Brussels connection was supported by the  
consumer organisations and most of the political parties.  

“Our first task now is to do what we promised, but we won’t be 
finished then. We still have to sort out all the various claims 
for damages that have been submitted against AnsaldoBreda. 
The Lower House has decided to set up a parliamentary inquiry 
into what happened during the governmental authorities’ 
tendering process for the HSL South and for that type of train 
by NS and NMBS.”

2013 was a turbulent year for NS, with Fyra as the main theme. Our passengers 

between Amsterdam and Brussels were disappointed with us. It was a traumatic 

experience for the company and its customers, and a reminder that NS needs  

to focus even more on its customers. We laid the foundations for that in 2013. 

“Merely ‘good’ isn’t good enough.”

Bringing in 
strong 

partners” 
Merel van Vroonhoven
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Taking the customer seriously
What NS has learned is that we will have to put the customers 
more clearly at the centre of things and take them seriously. 
NS can no longer be satisfied with mere pass grades, whether 
they are for punctuality or customer satisfaction.

For many years now, NS has been reckoned to be one of the 
best three carriers in the world. Robbe adds, “But that’s not the 
perception of the passenger who is in an overcrowded train or 
is late for a job interview because of a delay. Every day, 
thousands of passengers do have to deal with delays of more 
than ten minutes. Our services have some routes and days that 
are systematically underperforming. There are also groups of 
customers who have problems with specific connecting trains 
or passengers with functional disabilities for whom the journey 
does not go smoothly enough. We are taking our responsibility 

to do something about that, as much as is reasonably possible. 
More than before, we have to look further than the bottom-
line figures and make efforts to improve the experience for the 
individual passengers. Merely ‘good’ isn’t good enough.”

Extending the timetable
The Executive Board often discussed safety on the railways. 
Robbe adds, “This is a very important topic for NS, and it is 
going to remain one. Together with ProRail and other railway 
companies, we are working on a new warning system for 
drivers, for instance.” There were also discussions about  
items such as the SER (Social and Economic Council of the 
Netherlands) energy agreement, the student public transport 
pass, the sales of VM & Werner and Probobus, and the time-
table for 2014. Ms Van Vroonhoven says, “There were 
relatively few changes to the timetable with respect to 2013, 
when we started using the Hanze Line. The timetable will be 
extended further in 2014.”
“As a consequence of new safety rules, the way in which 
ProRail does maintenance will change in 2014. This means 
that trains will not be able to run on some routes for a couple 
of midweek nights, so a small number of night trains will not 
be run.” Attention was also paid to the reputation of NS. “It’s a 
bit below par for the international public transport sector,” 
explains Timo Huges, the Chairman and CEO. “For the coming 
years, we want our reputation to rise above the average, using 
a structured reputation management approach.”

Cooperation
Looking at the developments in the railway sector, we see 
limits to the capacity and the flexibility of rail travel. This 
means that cooperation with others is a necessity. The joint 
winter planning of NS and ProRail is a prime example of this. 
This yielded results in 2013. Ms Van Vroonhoven says, “By 
changing the timetable as a precaution when certain weather 
conditions were forecast, we were able to save passengers a 
great deal of annoyance and avoid rail traffic coming to a 
standstill.” Last year, NS and ProRail also laid the foundations 
for more intensive cooperation in controlling and adjusting 
rail traffic. The two parties discussed the structure of the 
Long-term Rail Agenda together with the Ministry of Infra-
structure and the Environment. Mr Huges says, “We are 
working together on a joint approach to a high-quality, 
future-proof operational concept for the railways. The leitmotif 
for this is first making it more reliable, then increasing the 
frequency. The door-to-door journey is a key addition to that 
philosophy: passengers want a seamless journey with as few 
changes of trains as possible - a single means of payment, good 
journey information, with quick and simple changeovers to 
other modes of transport. Keeping the journey as seamless as 
possible draws more people to public transport. And that 
includes the train.”

Coordinating train and bus services
NS took two important steps in 2013 to help shape the 
door-to-door philosophy more effectively: it took a 49% stake in 
the tram and bus company HTM in The Hague and it became 
the sole owner of Qbuzz. Mr Huges says, “In Utrecht, Gronin-
gen and The Hague, we will shortly be able to make sure that 
trains, buses and trams match up properly in terms of journey 
information and payment. A third of HTM customers also 
travel with NS. What we learn from these experiences can 
then be applied at other stations in the Netherlands, where we 
want to work closely with other carriers.” For NS, the stations 
are an essential part of the door-to-door journey. They let 
passengers make better and more pleasant use of their time. 
“There are increasing numbers of places for teleworking at the 
stations,” explains Ms van Vroonhoven.

Sustainable travel
Robbe adds, “Teleworking is another way of contributing to a 
more sustainable society. Thanks to the working and meeting 
facilities at stations, customers are able to spread their travel 
out over the day better. That gives better occupancy rates in 
the off-peak hours, which improves our energy efficiency.”
Mr Huges says, “Sustainability is part of our strategy. The 
railways and the stations can offer society solutions for 
congestion and for flexible working. We want to contribute to 
this, for example through smarter public transport, energy-
saving driving or reusing waste as raw materials. Ms Van 
Vroonhoven says, “Nevertheless, this create dilemmas. How 
sustainable are you ready and able to be? Are you going to buy 
in green electricity if it’s more expensive? Are you going to bid 
for a franchise without hybrid buses? Those are discussions 
that we’ll have to have together.” Robbe adds, “Our rail-based 

Looking 
further than the 

bottom-line 
gures” 

Engelhardt Robbe
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products are intrinsically sustainable, but we need to act in 
line with our sustainability goals in other fields as well.”

Costs keep increasing
The financial director adds that 2013 was not a good year for 
NS financially. “That was largely because of the extra costs we 
incurred for taking the V250 out of the timetable. Despite the 
economic crisis, our revenues from passenger transport on the 
main rail network did go up a little. But our costs kept 
increasing by more than that.” NS started the TOP programme 
in 2013: improvements are possible in both costs and quality 
in the supporting services at NS (Finance, IT, HR and 
Purchasing), by standardising policy and working methods, 

looking for economies of scale, and utilising synergy. The 
programme is intended to yield savings of approximately  
€100 million per year from 2017 onwards, partly from savings 
on both hired-in and internal staff, and partly from savings on 
purchasing. Robbe adds, “Whether this is enough for the 
coming years is open to question. We are going to look more 
closely at what the added value of internal processes is and to 
what extent our customers can profit from them.”

A new era
For NS, 2013 was the year that the company said farewell to its 
CEO, Bert Meerstadt. On 1 October, Timo Huges moved from 
FloraHolland to take over the baton. “We’re at the beginning of 
a new era,” says Robbe. During the final months of last year, 
the Executive Board worked at recalibrating the strategy, 
fine-tuning the course it is taking as a result. Mr Huges says, 
“Our passengers in the Netherlands are now being placed right 
at the centre of all our processes. We want to provide the best 
possible service for our customers and focus on the individual 
passengers, not on the statistics, as a company that is aiming 
for operational excellence. We will achieve that by focusing on 
unity, simplicity and ownership. Cooperation with public 
transport partners such as ProRail and other carriers and 
authorities is crucial for this, as well as cooperation with the 
ministries of Infrastructure and the Environment and Finance 
so that solutions can be found within the framework of the 
Policy on Government Participations. We offer passengers a 
seamless and worry-free journey from door to door that is 
comfortable, pleasant and easy, both in the train and at the 
station. We want to regain the trust of our passengers. We 
have everything it takes to do a little bit better every day and 
provide the customers with the best possible service. We are 
doing that first and foremost through our own staff, who are 
ready every day to tackle the task with commitment and 
professionalism.”

Timo Huges (1965) | NS Reizigers, strategy, HR and communication.  
Other positions held: member of the supervisory board of the Rotterdam 
Port Authority, member of the executive board of VNO/NCW, vice chairman 
of the Strategisch Platform Logistiek at the Ministry of Infrastructure and the 
Environment, member of the board of Ubbo Emmius Fund Groningen 
University, chairman of the Blokhuis Loopstra Fund of Gemeentelijk 
Gymnasium Hilversum, member of the advisory board of H&S Transport 
Groep
Background: Business Administration (Groningen University)
Career: Frans Maas Groep, FloraHolland flower auctions

Engelhardt Robbe (1955) | finance, Abellio, NedTrain, IT, purchasing.  
Other positions held: member of the supervisory board of Eurofima 
Zwitserland, chairman of the executive board of NS Financial Services 
Company, chairman of the supervisory board of NS Insurance, chairman  
of the supervisory board of Basisfonds Stationslocaties C.V.
Background: Business Economics (Groningen University)
Career: Shell

Merel van Vroonhoven (1968) | stations, Long-term Rail Agenda, coopera-
tion in the rail sector
Other positions held: member of the supervisory board of Rotterdam Port 
Authority, chair of the supervisory board of the Dutch Rail Museum, 
member of the board of the Dutch Society for Autism, chairman of the ‘from 
the perspective of Autism’ working group, member of the board of the 
National Committee for 4 and 5 May, member of the supervisory board of 
Platform Bètatechniek. 
Background: Geophysics (Delft Technical University), MBA. Career: ING

Detailed CVs of the board members can be found on the following web 
page: http://www.ns.nl/over-ns/wie-zijn-wij/profiel/ns-directie.

Passengers 
are central to 

all our 
processes” 

Timo Huges
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REPORT 
BY THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

as of 1 April 2014. The board is also very grateful to her for 
her efforts over recent years.
In the year under review we also said goodbye to Wim Meijer, 
who has been on the Supervisory Board for three terms of 
office as chairman. Throughout those years, he has assisted 
and advised the company with dedication and enthusiasm. 
The same can be said of Marjan Oudeman, who departed after 
two terms of office in 2013. Carel van den Driest took over 
the chairman’s role from Wim Meijer on 13 March last year. 
In addition, Ilonka Jankovich was appointed to the board as of 
that date.
Another departure is planned in 2014: At the general meeting 
of shareholders in March, Frans Cremers will be resigning as 
vice-chairman of the board and as chairman of the Audit 
Committee. He was the financial pillar of support for us for 
three terms of office, for which we owe him a debt of 
gratitude. Jeroen Kremers will succeed him as chairman of 
the Audit Committee. It has been proposed that Gerard van 
de Aast should be appointed as a new Supervisory Board 
member as of 4 March 2014.
Immediately after Timo Huges started, the Executive and 
Supervisory Boards began a process of recalibrating the 
strategy, in close consultation with the Group Council and 
the Central Works Council. Communication about this and 
the implementation are progressing well. The board has 
taken due note of the Hackett benchmark, which will yield 
suggestions for quality improvements and cost improvements 
for the supporting services. The board is supporting the 
change programme that has been started up as a result of 
this, aiming to produce quality and cost improvements in the 
supporting services.

Activities in 2013
In addition to discussing Fyra, the Executive and Supervisory 
Boards talked in 2013 about the structure of TransLink 
Systems, how the railway market is organised and more  
specifically within that context about the Fourth European 
Railway Package.

2013 was an eventful year for NS and therefore also for the way the Supervisory 

Board works. A great deal of attention was paid to the complex situation with Fyra. 

In addition, the board had numerous other activities to handle, the most  

eye-catching of them being the appointment of Timo Huges as the new Chairman 

and CEO.

Fyra, recession and governance
The board greatly regrets that Fyra had to be 
taken out of service, the problems that caused 

for passengers and the financial implications for society and 
the company. We were closely involved throughout the year, 
being kept constantly informed about Fyra, the decision to 
discontinue it and the formulation of the alternative that was 
offered. The board also met frequently about Fyra, the effects 
for passengers, the financial consequences, our legal position 
and the solutions. The board supports the alternative that has 
been offered, which gives passengers greater freedom of 
choice and is based on tried and tested technology.
We endorse the need to learn from the purchase of the V250. 
A ‘lessons learned’ project has been started up internally.  
In addition, the Lower House decided on 4 June 2013 that a 
parliamentary inquiry will be held in 2014.
The board can see that the effects of both Fyra and the 
recession are making themselves felt: the economic down-
turn is affecting passenger numbers and also depressing retail 
sales at the stations. Despite the fact that 2013 was not  
a good year for NS financially, the financial position is 
nevertheless stable. The board also discussed the Policy on 
Government Participations, which the government issued on 
18 October 2013.

Changes in the Executive and Supervisory Boards
At his own request, Bert Meerstadt resigned as Chairman and 
CEO as of 1 October 2013. That same date is when the new 
Chairman and CEO, Timo Huges, started. Mr Meerstadt 
worked for NS for twelve years, over four and a half of them 
as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive. The Super-
visory Board would like to thank him very much for all his 
work. We have said farewell to an exceptionally skilled and 
successful leader. At the same time, the board would like to 
wish the very best to his successor, who has acquired exten-
sive experience with FloraHolland and before that at Frans 
Maas. We would also like to thank another member of the 
board, Merel van Vroonhoven, who has decided to leave NS  

“
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There were meetings about the Rail Master Plan, under the 
aegis of which NS and ProRail are developing a joint approach 
for a future-proof, high-quality operational rail concept. The 
procedure for approving investments and disposals by the 
board has been reviewed: the limits for approval requests for 
disposals have been increased. The accountancy services were 
put out to tender in 2013 as well. After an extensive evalua-
tion process, EY were selected and appointed to take over 
from KPMG as of the financial year 2014. The board would 
like to thank KPMG for the good service it has provided since 
1995 and is looking forward to the new partnership with EY.
The board was closely involved in the acquisition of a 
minority share of 49% in HTM, the increase of the stake in 
Qbuzz to 100%, and the proposed integration of NS Hispeed 
into NS Reizigers and the associated transfer of shares from 
NS Internationaal to NS Reizigers. Various proposals for 
investments and disposals were presented to the Supervisory 
Board. These covered items such as the purchasing of 
climate-neutral electricity for traction, the FIT Together 
Programme, which involves an update to the NS IT environ-
ment, the replacement of the control system for rolling stock 
deployment, and installing a system for taking over the 
passenger emergency brake. In addition, we discussed the 
proposed purchase of the new generation of Sprinters.
The board has also considered a wide range of tenders by 
Abellio for rail franchises in the United Kingdom and  
Germany, including the rail franchises for Essex Thameside 
and Thameslink, Southern & Great Northern, the extensions 
to the Northern Rail and Abellio Greater Anglia franchises, 
and the German franchises for Niederrhein-Netz and  
Sauerland Netz. We also discussed the sale of the bus compa-
nies in the Czech Republic and Germany.
The Supervisory Board, Executive Board and shareholder  
dedicated a meeting to the strategic course for the company. 
In their annual meeting, the Supervisory and Executive 
Boards and the Central Works Council discussed industrial 
relations, the scope of NS’s European activities and the 
passenger as the fulcrum of the company’s activities. The 

board took these and other opportunities to ensure that 
employee participation was functioning properly at NS.
The Supervisory Board ensures it is kept up to date about NS’s 
performance, using quarterly reports, six-monthly figures and 
annual figures. At every regular meeting, the Executive Board 
informs the Supervisory Board about current issues relating to 
safety, such as accidents and the associated investigations. The 
safety reports also cover personal safety and accidents at work.

Composition and meetings of the Board  
and its committees
The board met on eighteen occasions in 2013, half of them 
entirely or partly by telephone. With only occasional  
exceptions, all members of the Supervisory Board were 
present at all the meetings. The Supervisory Board has the 
following permanent committees: the Audit Committee, the 
Remuneration Committee and the Selection and Appoint-
ments committee.

Audit Committee
In 2013, the Audit Committee consisted of Frans Cremers 
(chairman), Jeroen Kremers and Paul Rosenmöller. The 
committee met three times. The chairman was present at all 
the meetings. Each of the other two members had to miss one 
meeting. The key topics were the annual report, the financial 
statements, the six-monthly and annual figures, the corporate 
plan for 2014 to 2017, the budget, audits, the concern control 
report, the tender for the accountancy services, Enterprise Risk 
Management (as a plenary session of the board), NS Financial 
Services Company and IT developments.

Combined Remuneration Committee and Selection and 
Appointments Committee
The combined Remuneration Committee and Selection and 
Appointments Committee, chaired by Truze Lodder, was split 
up functionally in mid-2013. Their meetings were held 
successively. The committees met five times in 2013. With 
one exception, all the members attended all the meetings.

From left to right: Carel van den Driest, Jeroen Kremers, Ilonka Jankovich, Paul Rosenmöller, Frans Cremers, Truze Lodder
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Carel van den Driest | Chairman (1947) | Dutch citizen | 
Appointed on  24 October 2012 until 2016. Former chairman of the 
Executive Board of Vopak NV Other positions held: chairman of the 
Supervisory Board of  Van Oord, chairman of the Supervisory Board of 
Anthony Veder Group, member of the Supervisory Board of Koninklijke 
Vopak, member of the Supervisory Council of the Municipal Museum of The 
Hague

Frans Cremers | Vice-chairman (1952) | Dutch citizen | 
Appointed on  1 July 2002 until 2006, reappointed until 2010 and 2014.
Former member of the Executive Board and CFO of VNU NV. Other 
positions held: member of the Supervisory Board of Vopak NV, member of 
the Supervisory Board of Unibail-Rodamco SE, member of the Supervisory 
Board of NV Luchthaven Schiphol, member of the Supervisory Board of 
Parcom Capital BV, vice-chairman of the Supervisory Board of SBM 
Offshore NV, member of the boards of trustees of Philips and Heijmans, 
member of the Capital Markets Committee of the AFM (Netherlands 
Authority for the Financial Markets), vice-chairman of the Supervisory 
Board of Royal Imtech NV

Truze Lodder | (1948) | Dutch citizen | 
Appointed on 1 June 2004 until 2008, reappointed until 2012 and 2016. 
Former chairwoman of the Executive Board of the ‘Het Muziektheater’ 
foundation in Amsterdam and former Commercial Director of De 
Nederlandse Opera Other positions held: chair of the Supervisory Council 
of Maastricht University, member of the Advisory Board of the Nexus 
Institute, board member and treasurer of Europa Nostra, chair of the 
Supervisory Board of Stichting NJO, chair of the Supervisory Board of the 
Operamakers foundation

Ilonka Jankovich | (1963) | Dutch citizen |
Appointed on 13 March 2013 until 2017.
Innovation Investment Manager Randstad Holding,
Other positions held: consultant to various startup companies.

Paul Rosenmöller | (1956) | Dutch citizen |
Appointed on 1 June 2007 until 2011, reappointed until 2015. Chairman  
of the Secondary Education Council
Other positions held: chairman of the Healthy Weight Covenant Steering 
Committee, member of the Supervisory Board of CSU, member of the 
Supervisory Board of APG (until 15 May 2013), member and vice-chairman 
of the national board of the Dutch Red Cross (until 1 December 2013)

Jeroen Kremers | (1958) | Dutch citizen |
Appointed on 26 January 2012 until 2016
Vice-Chairman & Chief Risk Officer, Managing Board, Royal Bank of 
Scotland NV and Head of Global Country Risk, RBS Group
Other positions held: member of the Supervisory Board of Maastricht 
University, member of the Senior Advisory Board of Oliver Wyman Financial 
Services, member of the Supervisory Board of Robeco

 Until 13 March 2013, the composition of the committees was 
as follows: Truze Lodder (chair), Wim Meijer and Marjan 
Oudeman. After that date: Truze Lodder (chair), Carel van den 
Driest and Ilonka Jankovich. After the split, Truze Lodder 
retained the chair of the Remunerations Committee. The 
chair of the Selection and Appointments Committee was 
passed on to Carel van den Driest. Items discussed included 
the remunerations policy, the targets, the annual calendar, 
the evaluation of the board, future vacancies in the board and 
at key positions in the company, the reappointment of Merel 
van Vroonhoven as a member of the Executive Board as of  
1 August 2013 and the appointment of Timo Huges and 
Chairman and CEO as of 1 October 2013.

All members of the Supervisory Board are independent,  
as defined in the Dutch Corporate Governance Code. The 
Supervisory Board ascribes to the best practices and princi-
ples of Chapter III of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code 
in general, and applies them in practice. The board had an 
external evaluation of how it functions carried out in the 
second half of the year. This gave an above-average, positive 
result and recommendations that we will be happy to adopt.

About this report
The financial statements for 2013, as prepared by the 
Executive Board, were discussed by the Supervisory Board. 
The external auditor was present during the discussion.  
The financial statements are accompanied by the report by 
the NS Executive Board. We invite the General Meeting of 
Shareholders to approve the 2013 financial statements,  
which can be found on pages 73 to 133 of this report. We also 
invite our shareholder, the Ministry of Finance, to ratify  
the decisions of the Executive Board and the supervision 
exercised by the Supervisory Board.
The profit appropriation proposed by the board has been 
included on page 134 of this report.

We would like to thank the Executive Board and the  
employees of NS for their efforts in an exceptionally  
challenging year.

Utrecht, 12 February 2014

THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
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attempting to make the levels of personal safety for our 
passengers and our employees as high as possible. Our efforts 
involve using service & safety staff and external security 
personnel, for example, as well as more intensive checks to 
cut down on fare dodging. Nevertheless, there are limits to 
the effects our efforts can have. Aggression and vandalism are 
social ills that are by no means restricted to public transport.

Dialogue for value creation
We cannot function without our stakeholders.
Listening to the voice of the consumers through LOCOV,  
or making agreements with ProRail to produce the most 
efficient timetable we can... Discussions with stakeholders 
help us perform better, and that creates added value for 
society. Our stakeholder dialogues are held at various levels 
and at a range of different places within the organisation.  
The NS Executive Board is always involved in these. We have 
discussions with many of the stakeholders on a systematic 
basis, and others are for instance regularly invited to come 
and visit the company.

Numerous subjects are covered at the meetings between NS 
and its stakeholders. The content of the dialogues is generally 
in two categories: the overall performance of NS and subjects 
that demanded special attention in 2013. We spoke about 
items such as safety (including personal safety), winter 
measures, Fyra and our financial position. Other important 
topics included journey information, customer satisfaction 
and sustainable mobility (inter alia in the context of the 
Social and Economic Council’s Energy Agreement).

DIALOGUE
WITH OUR STAKEHOLDERS

NS operates right at the heart of society and therefore holds regular discussions 

with numerous groups in society that are stakeholders in NS. These discussions 

are about strengthening their involvement in NS policy relating to key aspects and 

letting us learn from their contributions.

The right kind of dialogue format has to be adopted for this 
- transparent provision of information, listening to advice and 
taking it on board in policy and/or improvements in the 
services we provide. The dialogue with our stakeholders is 
also a way of obtaining a picture of the significant risks the 
company is exposed to (see Chapter 7) and then examining 
how we can mitigate them or accept them. Our key stakehol-
ders are our customers, our staff, the various governmental 
authorities (including our shareholder), ProRail, suppliers, 
and civil society interest groups such as environmental 
organisations.

Dilemmas in the discussions
Our mission statement is “to keep transporting more  
passengers safely, punctually and comfortably via attractive 
stations”. We understand that those passengers also want  
an attractive (and attractively priced) product. The most 
significant dilemma for NS is weighing things up in a manner 
that is financially sound but also takes account of society’s 
wish lists. That kind of healthy price-to-quality ratio is also in 
the customer’s interests. It can for instance be difficult to 
make a watertight business case for expansion of the night 
train services, supervised bicycle storage or adding extra 
trains to the timetable, whereas from society’s point of view 
there is no question that such services would be desirable. 
The trick is then to find a solution in consultation with the 
interested parties in society that both does justice to the 
societal interests and makes a business case that fits in with 
NS financial policy.
NS bought some of its trains through an Irish subsidiary 
(NSFSC). This subsidiary leases the trains out, for example to 
the NS passenger transport company. The dilemma for NS,  
as far as NSFSC is concerned, is that there is an ongoing 
public discussion about the desirability of having the leasing 
company based in Ireland, given that NS is then paying some 
of its taxes in Ireland rather than the Netherlands. On the 
other hand, basing it there has commercial benefits for NS, 
which were for instance taken into account in the financial 
agreements that NS made with the governmental authorities 
about the new main rail network franchise.
Another example of a dilemma that our dialogue brings to 
the fore is personal safety. This is a materially important 
theme for many stakeholders and for NS. We at NS are 

I’d never realised that I could 
get from Breda to Rotterdam so 

quickly by train. I think I’ll be more 
aware of the transport options  

I use from now on”

Vincent Weijers 
member of the board at Unilever Benelux, 

taking part in  the Low Car Diet scheme
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Stakeholder Type of dialogue Content of dialogue Effects of the dialogue on NS policy

European

EU institutions, Community of 
European Railways (CER), Union 
Inter nationale des Chemins de fer (UIC)

For information and to 
determine standpoints

6*
Fourth EU Railway Package; enhancing 
interoperability; improving the passenger’s 
position

Strengthening the position of the passenger and 
defending NS’s position as the key rail passenger 
carrier in NL

National

Customers Informational, monitoring 1,3,6,7,8,17
Timetable and public transport smartcard, 
Fyra, winter measures, customer satisfaction, 
handling of complaints and queries

Improvements to the service (longer trains at 
peak times, simplification of the use of the public 
transport smartcard and changes to communica-
tions about it, developing and adjusting the new 
timetable, improving journey information)

LOCOV
(the national public transport users’ 
forum)

Intensive involvement 1,3,6,7,8
NS performance, customer satisfaction, main 
rail network franchise, public transport 
smartcard policy, Fyra, winter precautions, 
fares, services, safety.

A better train product (timetable changes, an 
alternative for Amsterdam-Brussels, better 
station accessibility for people with disabilities, 
right of carriage, improvements to journey 
information)

Shareholder: Ministry of Finance Intensive involvement, formal 
accountability in line with Book 
2 of the Dutch Civil Code

2,4,5,12
NS performance, profitability requirement, 
remunerations, Fyra, strategy, appointments, 
articles of association, approval of major 
investments or disposals

Determining financial policy and the board’s 
remuneration, Fyra, TOP, transparent reporting as 
per GRI, policy on participating interests, the Irish 
leasing company

Ministry of Infrastructure and the 
Environment

Intensive involvement 1,3,6,7,8,9
NS performance, strategy, main rail network, 
public transport smartcard, Fyra, winter 
measures, safety, Long-term Rail Agenda, 
Fourth European Railway Package, timetable, 
SAAL (Schiphol-Amsterdam-Almere-Lelystad 
corridor) public transport study

Determination of objectives in the 2014 Transport 
Plan, the planned integration of NS Hispeed and 
NS Reizigers, the Amsterdam-Brussels alternative

National political bodies Informational, with detailed 
involvement for various 
dossiers

1,2,3,6
NS performance, main rail network franchise, 
public transport smartcard policy,  
Netherlands-Belgium connections, winter 
measures, safety, Fourth EU Railway Package 
and impact assessment

Determination of objectives in the 2014 Transport 
Plan, the Amsterdam-Brussels alternative, the 
planned integration of NS Hispeed and  
NS Reizigers, sector-wide winter measures

ProRail Intensive involvement 1,3,6,7
NS/ProRail master plan, performance of the 
rail system, availability of infrastructure for the 
timetabled services, safety

Master Plan Programme, close cooperation 
about seasonal measures, the 2014 timetable, 
cooperation in safety and safety policy

Interest groups and NGOs (including 
employers)

Negotiation, consulting, 
informational

9,10,11,12,15
SER energy agreement for sustainable growth, 
mobility component; tendering process to 
make the energy greener, social policy, CSR

Leader/implementer of measures from the SER 
energy agreement; input to tendering strategies 
for becoming greener and for energy

Unions Intensive involvement 3,15
Collective labour agreement, personal safety, 
social plan

New collective labour agreement, joint efforts to 
improve personal safety

Suppliers Consulting, negotiating, 
contractual agreements, 
intensive involvement

12,13,14
Performance of suppliers (including IT 
services), cooperation with NS, innovation, 
sustainability, improvements in efficiency and 
effectiveness

Efforts for Best Value Procurement (BVP) and 
output-oriented purchasing (more innovation 
and cooperation with strategic partners), 
development of socially responsible procure-
ment

Media Intensive involvement 1-20
Virtually all NS-related subjects, including 
winter, safety, Fyra, timetable

Position statements, sometimes for specific 
measures

Regional

Regional authorities and official 
representatives

Informational, negotiation, 
contractual agreements

6,7,16,19
Quality of stations, timetable, cross-border 
transport, roll-out of the access gates (BTS = 
‘controlled access to stations’), safety, 
transport chain agreements

New stations, expansion of bicycle storage 
capacity, cooperation with provinces about the 
new timetable, new contracts about safety, 
transport chain services

Internal

Central Works Council, vocational 
training centres

See chapter on ‘We can make 
the difference together’

The table below summarises the wide range of dialogues between NS and its stakeholders.

* see material relevance matrix on page 17
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We use various processes and techniques to identify our 
stakeholders, such as the Internet, media, market research 
and continuous customer satisfaction surveys. We make a 
range of communications channels available to them for the 
dialogue. We used the feedback from these contacts for 
determining our goals and for recalibrating our strategy.

Stakeholder dialogue and materially relevant 
themes
We regularly discuss our vision and current developments in 
various themes with the stakeholders. Our stakeholder 
dialogue is one of the key measures for mitigating the main 
risks and for utilising opportunities (see Chapter 7) by 
increasing the involvement of stakeholders in NS policy. 
Priorities in our policy are determined according to their 
material relevance (materially relevant themes). Material 
relevance involves weighing up the interests of stakehol-
ders and the actual impact that NS can have on the topic.
We determine the themes that are materially relevant to us in 
various ways. From the table below, it can be seen which 
materially relevant themes our key stakeholders deem most 
important and what priorities they assign to them. This score 
is confirmed by a number of extra checks: NS has commissi-
oned media and Internet tracking and has had an internal 
and external risk analysis carried out. Internal experts have 
contributed knowledge of the sector, developments throug-
hout the transport chain and the topics used in the Global 
Reporting Initiative. In addition, the analysis of our value 

creation process plus our business model (see also p. 57) has 
affected our assessment of the material relevance of some 
themes. A number of trends and developments are having an 
effect on the themes that are materially relevant for us. There 
are for instance developments within the sector (see also the 
‘Strategy’ chapter) allowing journey time to be used increasin-
gly for meeting people or for working, and developments 
within the transport chain such as the incorporation of 
energy-saving measures involving ProRail in version 3 of the 
Long-term Agreement on Energy Efficiency, and the efforts to 
make the power we use for traction greener. In addition, we 
see that our customers expect us to adopt sustainable 

impact of NS highlow
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Activities in Europe (page 34)
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NS is an exciting partner for Rover. Together, we 
are aiming for better public transport - that’s 

something we agree upon entirely. Sometimes Rover does 
get pretty annoyed about the implementation of train 
services or about the umpteenth incident involving the 
public transport smartcard. Rover does then get angry with 
NS, which is awkward for them. The debacle with Fyra was 
a low point in 2013 for both passengers and NS. NS did 
then listen very carefully to Rover, and we worked it all out 
nicely together with NMBS and our Belgian colleagues from 
TreinTramBus.”

Arriën Kruyt 
chairman of the passengers’ organisation Rover
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business practices. There are continuing concerns about CO2 
and fine particulate emissions from mobility and the conse-
quences this can have on climate change and a healthy 
climate for living in.

Our social policy fits in with these trends and developments. 
The current economic climate and cutbacks by the govern-
ment have also affected the social performance and policies 
of NS. We are using our social policy to contribute to both a 
healthy ROI and a favourable social return. In addition, 
mobility and rail transport can act as an important driver of 
economic recovery.

Materially relevant subjects
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) have been defined for 
materially relevant topics, based on our intentions and on 
agreements with the stakeholders (such as franchises), 
Version 3 of the Long-term Agreement on Energy Efficiency 
and our strategy. The most materially relevant issues are 
punctuality, safety (including personal safety), risk manage-
ment, integrity and the financial position of NS. These issues 
could all be grouped together under the heading ‘Operational 
excellence’.
In 2013, NS will continue tackling materially relevant topics 
in six strategic areas: The customer is king, We think from 
door to door, We work throughout Europe, We can make the 
difference together, We look after our environment, and We 
are cost-conscious. In the following chapters, for consistency’s 
sake, we have reported on those topics in the same order as in 
the strategy. Our activities in Europe are a materially relevant 
theme for NS, but not for all our external stakeholders. We 
saw a shift in material relevance during 2013, with topics that 
impinge upon the basic services that we provide (punctuality, 
for example) being assigned a higher level of importance. This 
is because we did not meet the expectations of our stakehol-
ders for a number of aspects (full trains and taking Fyra out of 

service, for example) . We expect to be able to use our KPIs 
and specific measures to improve our performance.
The significant performance indicators that affect the 
attractiveness of travelling with NS include not only customer 
satisfaction with our services but also the reputation of NS.  
A KPI has been added for the financial policy of NS: TOP 
savings. The opportunities and risks that go hand in hand 
with the strategic objectives are listed on page 60 and 
following (Managing risks).

 

 

Anticipating trends and 
developments
The Ministry of Infrastructure and the 
Environment has studied the trends 
in mobility for the decades to come. 
Developments that the ministry 
describes in the Long-term Rail Agenda 
(‘Vision, ambitions and goals’) include 
the growth of mobility, prosperity and 
employment, as well as an increase 
in the number of single-person 
households.
The mobility of passenger transport as 
we head towards 2040 will increase, and 
the demand for mobility in passenger 
transport will increase most rapidly 
in areas that are already the biggest 
bottlenecks. As the Infrastructure and 
Environment Ministry sees it, optimum 
transport chain mobility for 2040 
will come from good connections 
between the various mobility networks 
via multimodal hubs (for both people 
and goods) and from matching up 
infrastructural and spatial development 
requirements properly. ProRail and NS 
are working with stakeholders from 2013 
onwards on the operational details of 
the Long-term Rail Agenda for the main 
rail network in order to ensure that public 
transport by rail in the Netherlands can 
anticipate the said developments.

NS is increasingly showing its social and 
sustainable face, and ProRail and NS are getting 

better at fitting together. A nice small-scale example is the 
‘Join the Pipe’ pilot at Almere and Amersfoort stations. 
Offering water for free is of course a tricky one for NS, 
because money is made at the stations by selling bottled 
water. A nice example on a larger scale is the joint study 
into increasing the voltage of the overhead lines to 3000 
volts. After the procurement of sustainable energy, this 
chain-wide project is the one that will have the next 
largest impact on energy savings in the rail sector: by taking 
measures in the infrastructure and rolling stock, NS can 
save 20-25% on energy and CO

2
 emissions and passengers 

will have shorter journey times because trains will be able 
to accelerate more quickly.”

Chris Verstegen 
Innovation & Sustainable Development Manager, ProRail
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targets achieved targets partially achieved

Strategic theme KPIs Objectives for 
2013

Achievements in 
2013

Status

The customer is king

On time / reliable 

% punctual arrivals (to the 5 minute standard) NS Reizigers 93%; Abellio 92% 93.6%; 91%

% information provided in the train during disruptions 60% 68%

%  information provided at the stations during  
disruptions

79% 87%

% rolling stock withdrawn for maintenance 13% 14%

Safety (including personal safety)

Number of red signals passed 114 143

Lost time injury frequency rate 4.8 per million hours worked 4.3

% customers giving > 7 out of 10 for perception of safety 79% 80%

Risk Management: management of significant risks progress reports 4x annually 100%

Integrity Taking additional steps (1) to 
implement the policy tackling 

bribery and corruption and (2) 
to fill the Ethics & Compliance 

function

100%

We are cost-conscious

Affordable

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) margin €159 million -€64 million

ROI 10% -1.4%

Investments €833 million €430 million

TOP savings n/a n/a

From door to door

Journey information: % customers giving a customer  
satisfaction score of > 7 out of 10

74% 75%

Stations: % customers giving a customer satisfaction score of 
> 7 out of 10

57% 58%

Accessible: % seated 99% 99%

We look after our environment

Energy efficiency and CO2 reduction

Energy consumption by trains 5% improvement 5%

Occupancy rates A rise of 6% in five years, 2012: 
28.4%

28.8%

Waste reduction and recycling 17% less waste, 60% recycling 
(2017)

Achieved in 2013 0% 
reduction and 31% 

recycling

Quieter transport 100% (2030) 92%

Perception: positioning as the most sustainable company in NL top 10 (2017), 2012: 74 49th place

We can make the difference together

An attractive employer: position in the list of best employers top 10 (2017) 14

Caring employer: % sickness absence 4.7% 4.8%

Diversity, inclusiveness

% women in senior management Top: 23%, sub-top: 24% Top: 22%, sub-top: 
30%

number of complaints to confidential advisors no target 85

All strategic themes

Transparency: position in the Transparency Benchmark top 10 (2013) 6

Sustainable procurement: % criterion in tenders 100% (2017) 50%

Linking our materially relevant topics to the KPIs and the strategy:
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In the context of its transport franchise, NS has carried out 
an international benchmark of railway company perfor-
mance, looking at aspects including punctuality, customer 
satisfaction and productivity. The results of this study were 
not yet available at the end of 2013.

One indicator for the attractiveness of travel with NS is  
our reputation. NS obtains regular measurements of its 
reputation using the Reptrak method (from the Reputation 
Institute). After a period showing a rising trend (2006-2009), 
the reputation of NS weakened in the period 2010-2012. This 
fall was caused, among other things, by the performance of 
the railways in three successive winter periods, the tragic 
train accident in Amsterdam in 2012 and the developments 
around Fyra. During the course of 2013, this downward trend 
was stopped, with a score that was comparable to 2012. Our 
reputation is currently somewhat below the average for the 
international public transport sector (55.5 on a scale of 100), 
with public transport scoring systematically lower on average 
than organisations in other sectors. 

THE PERFORMANCE
 OF NS IN A BROADER CONTEXT

The subjects that are materially relevant to us can be seen in the material relevance 

matrix. Our performance is compared below (as far as possible) with similar  

organisations or sectors.
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Transparency
In terms of purchasing and the whole transport chain, we do 
not know of any comparative studies looking at NS versus 
other organisations.
NS is in the permanent group assessed in the Transparency 
Benchmark. This is a tool provided by the Ministry of Econo-
mic Affairs for improving reporting on social matters within 
the Netherlands. An extensive set of criteria is used annually 
to assign a score to the social reporting of the 500 largest 
Dutch companies. The results of this are presented in a 
Transparency Ladder, made publicly available and widely 
communicated. Scoring 195 points on a scale of 200 gave NS 
the sixth spot on the 2013 Transparency Ladder. We aim to 
retain that position in the top ten in 2014.

An attractive and caring employer
Last year, we paid extra attention to our social performance, 
including the issues of diversity, inclusiveness, talent 
development and women in senior management. According 
to the Talent to the Top monitor in 2012, the percentage of 
women in senior management was 16.6% in the transport 
sector and 22.5% at NS.
In 2013, that figure was once again 22.5% for NS. Comparative 
material for 2013 for the whole transport sector was not 
available at the time this annual report was published.

During the period from 2014-2017, NS will be focusing on 
steadily repairing its reputation to a point above the average 
for the sector by means of a structured reputation manage-
ment approach.

Sustainable mobility
NS is seeking to improve its image in terms of sustainability. 
Eight out of ten passengers expect us to have sustainable 
business activities (Market response 2013). Research in 2013 
(the Dossier Duurzaam survey) showed that the Dutch place 
great value on sustainable practices in the transport sector, 
but that they also see this sector as one of the ones that is 
lagging behind in terms of performance. The sustainable 
image of NS rose again in this survey, after years of decline: 
from position 74 to 49.
In Europe, 31% of direct CO2 emissions are caused by the 
transport sector, of which 1.8% comes from the railways 
(source: UIC, IEA). CO2 emissions from the railways have 
decreased in recent years, whereas those from the transport 
sector as a whole have increased substantially. In line with 
this trend, we have also seen a reduction in CO2 emissions  
by NS over the last five years. Our CO2 performance has  
been improved by our energy efficiency measures. If we 
compare this against the sector, we can conclude that (in  
the Netherlands in 2013) we were a good 20% below the UIC 
norm of 0.10 to 0.15 kWh per passenger-kilometre. Trains 
are in fact 50% less polluting than an average electric car.
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Customer satisfaction in the Netherlands
It is important for NS to know how satisfied customers are 
with our services. This last year, we have focused on preven-
ting hindrances as far as possible. If such events occurred 
nevertheless, we made efforts to soften the blow as much as 
possible. In order to quantify how satisfied our customers are, 
we carry out customer satisfaction surveys and we measure 
various different aspects of our service and products. The 
customers’ opinions are determined in independent research 
that NS has carried out in cooperation with the consumer 
organisations and the governmental authorities. Our aim is to 
get the scores to increase every year, which we managed in 
2013: in 2013, 75% of our passengers gave a score of 7 out of 
10 or higher for their overall satisfaction with rail travel (NS 
target: 74%). This is slightly higher than in 2012 (74%). 
Despite this improved figure, the very full trains in the final 
quarter of the year did depress the annual figure somewhat. 
We are seeing that customer satisfaction is below par in the 
operational areas in particular: that can - and must - be 
improved so that the railways will remain a high-quality, 
reliable alternative for customers.

The station experience
We also ask our customers what they think of our stations. 
Despite the many rebuilding projects, the Station Experience 
Monitor showed customer scores rising from 56.6 (in 2012)  
to 62.4. This is important, given that a good score for the 
stations (as part of the overall door-to-door journey) has a 
positive effect on helping people choose the railways.

The train experience
The Train Experience Monitor studies how changing elements 
in the train can affect the scores passengers give for the 
quality of the trains. The central items in this are comfort 
and perceptions. We experimented in 2013 with various 
improvement measures. A more friendly and less formal 
attitude from the chief guards, for example, improved the 
customers’ scores for the service by half a point. Small 
alterations such as these can improve people’s perceptions  
of their train journey. The information from the Train 
Experience Monitor helps us work towards improved services 
for our customers.

Satisfaction with cross-border services
The developments around Fyra last year were a disappoint-
ment to our customers. Taking Fyra out of service left us with 
falling customer satisfaction figures in the first and second 
quarters of 2013. They recovered in the second half of the 
year. This was partly due to improved performance from 
Thalys and the restoration of the Amsterdam-Brussels link. 
The domestic Fyra service also performed better than in 
2012. Over 2012 as a whole, 79% of our passengers gave a 
score of 7 out of 10 or higher for the cross-border services. In 
2013, that rose to 81%. The reasons why NS Hispeed was able 
to achieve this result included improvements to the on-line 
booking process, as well as NS Hispeed and Deutsche Bahn 
being connected to the same fare system. The number of 
destinations that could be sold online rose to more than 

3,108. Searching is easier now too thanks to the use of Google 
Maps on the site; all stations in Belgium and Germany are 
shown on it. Approximately half of all NS Hispeed bookings 
are made online.

Customer satisfaction with Abellio’s services
Customer satisfaction with the franchises held in the United 
Kingdom by the NS subsidiary Abellio was also surveyed.  
In 2013, Merseyrail obtained a score of 93% (2012: 92%) in a 
national customer survey. In the same customer survey, 
Northern Rail scored 78% (2012: 80%) and Abellio Greater 
Anglia 80% (2012: 83%).

Customer satisfaction with Qbuzz
Qbuzz operates franchises in southeast Friesland, Groningen, 
Drenthe and Utrecht. Passengers who used Qbuzz in  
southeast Friesland gave the service a score of 7.4 out of 10. 
For the Groningen-Drenthe franchise, the score was 7.5. This 
means that we just met the target standard of 7.3 in both 
regions. A customer satisfaction survey has not yet been 
carried out for the franchise in the Utrecht region, which 
started in December 2013.

Punctuality for passengers still below par
In 2013, 93.6% of our trains on the main rail network arrived 
on time (within the five-minute margin). This means that we 
met the target of 93.0% for arrival punctuality that had been 
agreed with the Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environ-
ment. That does not however apply for our punctuality for 
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passengers, in which we look at not only the punctuality of 
arrival but also the connecting trains that were not missed. 
That figure ended up at 90.0% in 2013, less than in 2012 
(90.9%). The causes of the lower punctuality scores were an 
increase in the number of days with incidents, a number of 
major station reconstruction projects and lengthy periods of 
interrupted services such as on the route between Amsterdam 
and Eindhoven.

The winter weather in January and February also affected the 
punctuality scores in 2013. NS does everything it can to bring 
punctuality up to the desired and required levels and keep 
delays for passengers to a minimum.

Punctuality in the Abellio franchises
In the United Kingdom, Abellio Greater Anglia achieved 
punctuality of 92%. Northern Rail scored 91% and Merseyrail 
96%. A different definition of punctuality applies for trains in 
the United Kingdom than in the Netherlands:
9:59 minutes for intercity services and 4:59 minutes for other 
rail traffic.

Stable figure for cleanliness of trains
Clean trains contribute to a pleasant journey and to personal 
safety. In 2013, 56.1% of customers gave the cleanliness of the 
trains a score of 7 out of 10 or higher, as opposed to 54.8% in 
2012. The figure was stable throughout the year and was 
above the norm of 55% agreed with the Ministry of Infrastruc-
ture and the Environment, despite the cleaning staff having 
to adapt to a different way of working. The second indicator, 
the quality of the train interiors, came out at 84.9%. This 
means that the objectives were achieved. Nevertheless, we 
are aware that the experiences of customers are often not as 
good as they should be and they do regularly find trains that 
are not clean enough. We therefore do want to see progress 
on this front.
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innovative way of preventing blocks of ice from damaging  
the points. The hot summer days also resulted in temporary 
unavailability of rolling stock.

Availability of rolling stock
NS is continuing to invest in modern and reliable rolling 
stock. Good, safe and comfortable transport does of course 
improve satisfaction levels among our customers. Even so,  
in 2013 (up to 3 December) 1,623 reports were received of 
defects (2012: 1,568). Although investments in the quality  
of maintenance are bearing fruit, the availability of trains  
per day was still too far short of what is needed for the  
NS timetable.
Improving this is one of the main priorities for our efforts in 
2014. To keep rolling stock available, for example, we started 
the construction of a new technical centre near Utrecht 
Centraal last year. The current technical centres are in Amers-
foort, Watergraafsmeer, Eindhoven, Arnhem, Groningen and 
Hengelo. Having technical centres lets us deal with rolling 
stock faults closer to the actual train services, This also 
reduces the time the rolling stock has to be withdrawn from 
service and increases the spare capacity.
In 2014-2015, three further technical centres will be added, 
in The Hague, Nijmegen and Zwolle. In total, an average of 
14% of the NS fleet will have been withdrawn for maintenance, 
repairs and upgrades on any given day.

New and modern trains
NS is modernising 240 coaches/carriages for the new Inter-
city. In 2013, 110 coaches were upgraded, which meant  
192 were ready by the end of the year. The last of the VIRM 
double-decker train sets were fitted with the OBIS (On Board 
Information Services) information system during 2013.
This means that passengers now have up-to-date journey 
information and free Wi-Fi in more than 1,500 carriages.  

Crowded trains
In order to determine how many seats are needed, NS tries to 
match up the supply and demand for seats as well as possible.
Our objective for transport capacity at peak times (the 
likelihood of being able to get a seat during peak periods in 
any arbitrary train) has been set at 99%, as agreed with the 
Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment. The trans-
port capacity actually realised in 2013 was below that, at 
98.7%. Customer satisfaction for the availability of seats at 
peak times was 68.6%.
 
NS received an increasing number of complaints from 
passengers, interest groups, members of staff and the 
Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment about 
overcrowding on trains. NS has listened to this and expanded 
the capacity where necessary and where possible. In addition, 
a taskforce is taking another careful look at a number of 
specific routes. The journey planner has also been extended 
to include a crowding indicator to help spread out the peak of 
passenger numbers. A pilot has also been carried out for the 
smartphone application iNStapp, which provides real-time 
information about the crowding and composition of the train.

2014 timetable: few changes
NS began using the 2014 timetable on 15 December 2013. 
This involved relatively few changes with respect to 2013. 
The extensions to the timetable included extra Sprinters 
between Leeuwarden and Meppel and between Utrecht and 
Geldermalsen in the evenings. Amersfoort now has a connec-
tion to the night-time services in the weekends. The frequen-
cy of the service between The Hague and Brussels has also 
been increased.
From 2014 onwards, ProRail will be adopting new safety rules 
that mean route sections are taken entirely out of service 
during maintenance work. As a consequence of this, it may 
be impossible to run trains on some routes on weekday 
nights, for example the night-time services between Schiphol 
and Amsterdam (three nights a week) and between Rotterdam 
and The Hague (two nights a week). Where possible, NS will 
take its night-time passengers to their destinations on these 
routes by diverting trains, using shuttles and putting on buses.
This will be done in close consultation with Schiphol and 
ProRail.

Influence of the weather on the timetable
During the last year, there were twelve occasions on which 
NS modified the timetable nationwide because of forecasts of 
winter weather, and on one occasion in the autumn for a 
storm. Logically enough, the modified timetables did lead to 
crowded trains and pressure on seating capacity. The average 
number of train trips (including empty rolling stock) was 
4,500 a day for the modified timetable (the normal figure 
being about 5,400).
In technical terms, the winter measures meant that the 
rolling stock was generally well prepared for the wintry 
conditions. This had a positive effect on NS’s performance 
during the winter. The new de-icing line in Onnen was an 

Modi�ed timetable
in winter weather

+ once for other 
conditions

12x 

4x
New technical centres
(2013-2015)
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We are working with T-Mobile to improve Wi-Fi availability 
and capacity. In addition, 2013 saw the start of the Intercity 
New Generation and Sprinter New Generation projects, set 
up for the purchase of train sets.

Knowing your customer
The choices we make when improving the services we 
provide are determined increasingly often by the effect that 
the service in question has for the customer. The Customer 
Investment Model (KIM in Dutch) helps us monitor, predict 
and improve customer behaviour and customer satisfaction 
as a result of our performance. To do this, the model uses 
data from customer satisfaction surveys, the public trans-
port smartcard, feedback from the Customer Service 
department, social media and the Station Experience 
Monitor. The model was developed in 2012 and expanded 
further in 2013.

Customer Services are active online
After a good year in 2012 (82.5%), the Customer Service 
department saw a slight fall in customer satisfaction in 
2013: 81.5% of customers gave our customer services a score 
of 7 out of 10 or higher. To let us monitor everything said 
about us online, both negatively and positively, and to be 
able to listen to this better, NS has been active on various 
social media platforms since 2010, such as Twitter (90,000 
followers), Facebook (70,000 friends) and YouTube (650,000 
views). Last year, we made webcare - helping customers 
through the social media - an integral part of Customer 
Services. The result was that NS came out as the top service 
provider in the Quantitative Webcare Survey held by Coosto 
of the top 100 advertisers in the Netherlands. One reason  
for that was that we had the fastest response time via 
Twitter, as well as receiving the most ‘likes’, a sign that 
customers also value our efforts. In the annual Social Media 
Monitor, NS was ranked ninth.

Paying extra attention to the customer
NS is paying extra attention to customers who regularly 
travel on a route that has a lot of disruptions. We want the 
customers to see that we are taking them seriously, that we 
know what they need and that we want to make their 

journey as pleasant as possible. We have a project aimed at 
making things right without being asked, sending regular 
customers a letter of explanation, our apologies and a small 
gift. In 2013, we sent about 40,000 letters. The project was 
expanded and renamed ‘Clearly Considerate’: not just 
contacting customers after the event, but also surprising our 
passengers in a positive way. NS warns as many people as 
possible individually about major service interruptions and 
modified timetabling. In exceptional situations, we also gave 
out small gifts.

Assisting customers during emergencies
If unforeseen circumstances mean that a train journey did 
not go as planned, we do everything we can to help custo-
mers and take the best possible care of them. Both in 
planned and unforeseen situations. Last year, for instance, 
we made efforts to improve the service provided for passen-
gers during construction work. When the railway yard in 
Den Bosch was being rebuilt, for example, NS paid extra 
attention to communications, signposting and service. The 
result was positive: in the third quarter, 59% of customers 
gave a score of 7 out of 10 or higher for journeys during 
track work.  
We will be extending this way of working in 2014 to eleven 
large construction jobs that will be causing disruptions.
In order to reduce the inconvenience for passengers yet 
further, we also paid attention to shortening the duration  
of emergency situations. This has improved since the 
Operational Control Centre for the Railways (OCCR) was set 
up by ProRail and NS in 2010, according to the findings of 
TNO in 2013. There has been a decrease of 20.5% in the 
average time that emergency situations lasted on a daily 
basis. Reasons for this included more efficient information 
sharing, deploying expertise together, and readiness to 
cooperate.
During the last year, NS started a pilot for speeding up the 
process for dealing with suicides on the railways. About 
fifteen drivers have been given a handy camera system that 
can be put in the cab. The images can be used as supporting 
technical evidence, thereby shortening the investigation. 
The pilot will be evaluated early in 2014.
In 2013, NS and ProRail also started offering their staff a 
training course in ‘Contact with suicidal or potentially 
suicidal people’. The training course teaches participants 
how to speak to people if they suspect that thoughts of that 
nature are involved.

Activities in the United Kingdom
Abellio Greater Anglia has improved its cooperation with 
the infrastructure manager, Network Rail. One of the key 
benefits of this is a decrease in work on the infrastructure 
over the weekends, which reduces the inconvenience for 
passengers. Abellio Greater Anglia also offers alternative 
transport during disruptions.

Upgrading the rolling stock
192 of the 240 carriages 
have been completed
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Safety on and around the track
Personal safety: perceptions of safety have improved -  
focus on aggressive behaviour
Customers’ perceptions of safety at the stations and in the 
train improved last year: 79.5% give a score of 7 out of 10 or 
higher for this. In 2012, that was 78%. As in previous years, the 
feeling of being safe in the evenings rose, both at the stations 
(from 59.7% in 2012 to 61.2% in 2013) and in the trains (from 
67.1% in 2012 to 69.2% in 2013).
We were able to achieve these results in part by responding  
to information from the Railpocket, the Safety Centre, the 
Service Centre and images coming into the CCTV monitoring 
room. Based on this, plans were drawn up for a targeted 
ap proach to personal safety. These plans are also the starting 
point for the deployment of Service & Safety staff, external 
security staff and our personal safety partners. Security for 
specific events and Stop & Go actions have also contributed  
to the perception of safety and we have intensified our checks 
on fare dodging and our CCTV monitoring. Qbuzz scored above 
the national average of 7.6 out of 10 for personal safety: Qbuzz 
Groningen/Drenthe scored 7.8 and Qbuzz South-East Friesland 
scored 7.9.

Railway safety: no further reduction in the number of red 
signals passed
The falls that we have seen in recent years in the numbers  
of undesired, non-technical cases of signals being passed at 
danger (SPADs) did not continue in 2013. The number of 
SPADs in the Netherlands in 2013 was virtually unchanged at 
94, as compared to 93 in 2012. The number of train-kilometres 
did increase however, so the relative risk of SPADs did go 
down. The number of trains that reached a dangerous position 
rose from 36 to 37. This underlines the usefulness of systems 
such as the automatic train protection system ATBvv (automa-
tic train protection for improved safety). To achieve further 
structural reductions, NS is actively participating in the 
sector-wide SPAD steering group that is led by ProRail. This 
steering group is working on measures such as ‘Orbit Introduc-
tion’ (warnings for high speeds when approaching red signals), 
‘Changed Braking Criteria’ and the ‘Route Ticker’ (giving 
drivers a picture of traffic on the track), as well as developing 
numerous applications for improving the planning process. In 
addition, we have carried out studies into the effect of the pres-
ence of a second person in the cab on how alert the driver is.
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We are going to use these findings in a ‘Fit for Duty’ program-
me. In addition, NS will keep investing in a professional culture 
of safety, for instance by developing a campaign about the 
effects of mobile phones and tablets on how alert drivers are.

SPADs at Abellio
For Abellio in the United Kingdom, the number of signals 
passed at danger in 2013 was 47. For Abellio Germany, the 
figure was 2.

New safety certificate
NS Reizigers and NS Hispeed received a new safety certificate 
last year for a period of five years. At the end of 2013, the 
Human Environment and Transport Inspectorate (ILT, the 
supervisory body) carried out a documentation audit and an 
inspection for the certificate.
The new certificate is the result of our efforts to get the safety 
management system set up appropriately and to ensure that 
working practices are in line with this new system. This 
means that we have laid the foundations for the management 
and continuous improvement of passenger safety. We will be 
applying this way of working consistently. NedTrain has its 
own ISO certificate, which was extended for another three 
years. This has also extended the basis for continuous 
improvement of passenger safety.

Stations undergoing renovations
Passengers and customers of NS place a high value on 
pleasant stations and attractive station areas. This influences 
their decision to use the train. Over the coming years, many 
stations will have to handle larger passenger flows. This is 
why some major stations are being rebuilt, for example at 
Tilburg (new passenger underpass), Eindhoven (new passen-
ger underpass), The Hague, Delft (station concourse and 
municipal offices), Arnhem, Rotterdam Centraal and Breda. 
One striking project is the extensive reconstruction work at 
Utrecht Centraal, where ProRail and NS completed the second 
of six building phases last year. For passengers, each phase 
means that the pedestrian routes and the accommodation 
areas at the station change.
The new Utrecht Leidsche Rijn station, part of the  
Randstadspoor urban rail network, was included in the 
timetable in 2013. As well as all the new buildings, the old 
have not been forgotten either: NS feels very honoured that 
Almelo station was given listed building status in 2013.

Consideration for privacy
Caring for the customers also means being careful with their 
data. In accordance with the Dutch Personal Data Protection 
Act and the Corporate Governance Code, the Executive Board 
of NS bears final responsibility for the proper observance of 
its privacy policy. NS offers transparency about the privacy 
policy it adopts through its public Privacy Statement on  
www.ns.nl/privacy. NS urges the business units to adhere to 
the privacy rules. NS has adopted a proactive privacy policy 
with the aim of ensuring that the administrative processes 
involving passengers and staff comply with the legal criteria 
for appropriate and careful data processing.

 

A very special King’s Day
The coronation of King Willem-Alexander 
made 30 April 2013 a very special day. 
And it was also special for the NS staff 
who worked on that day. The Dutch have 
an expression ‘travelling from A to B’, 
but on that day it was all about ‘from 
B to A’ - from Beatrix to Alexander. We 
transported an extra 300,000 people to 
Amsterdam and the King’s Day festivities 
elsewhere in the country. Shops at twen-
ty stations were decorated in a special 
‘from B to A’ style and orange banners 
were hung at a number of stations. On 
30 April itself, passengers at Amersfoort, 
Leiden, Rotterdam Centraal, Breda and 
Den Haag Centraal stations were able to 
watch the coronation festivities on giant 
screens. To make sure that everyone was 
able to get home again safely, trains kept 
running through the night throughout the 
whole country.

2013
2018
ILT



29 XXX  ANNUAL REPORT 2013

WE THINK FROM 
DOOR TO DOOR



30ANNUAL REPORT 2013  WE THINK FROM DOOR TO DOOR

The train as an attractive alternative
A seamless journey from the starting point to the final 
destination, for door to door, makes public transport a more 
attractive option for passengers. We are achieving this with 
various products and services such as the public transport 
smartcard, the NS-Business Card, the OV-fiets public transport 
bicycle, the NS Scooter, the NS Zonetaxi and Greenwheels, as 
well as sufficient parking facilities for cars and bicycles at  
NS stations. For all those efforts, we received a ‘Golden RAI 
Wheel’ mobility award last year from the RAI: encourage-
ment to keep extending the door-to-door approach.

Partners in the door-to-door journey
NS works with various partners to make door-to-door 
journeys possible. In 2013, the NS subsidiary Abellio took 
over all the shares in Qbuzz. In addition, NS has acquired a 
minority interest in HTM, the local public transport company 
for The Hague. In 2013, the bus franchise for Bestuursregio 
Utrecht was assigned to Qbuzz (estimated at 200,000 passen-
gers per day). This franchise started on 8 December.  
Qbuzz currently also provides bus transport in the Groningen-
Drenthe region and in southeast Friesland (estimated at a 
total of 150,000 passengers per day). NS made an agreement 
with the municipality of The Hague in 2013 that we are going 
to invest in public transport in the city. The municipality, NS 
and HTM have drawn up an investment agenda to that effect. 
In addition, NS is also involved in a number of regional rail 
franchises: Zwolle-Kampen, Gouda-Alphen aan den Rijn and 
the line from Rotterdam Centraal to Hoek van Holland in the 
urban region of Rotterdam. The knowledge that NS is 
acquiring in all these franchise markets will be used for 
improving our door-to-door offerings. Far-reaching coopera-
tion with partners in the public transport sector will be one 
of the main thrusts of our activity over the coming period, in 
order to make the journeys much more seamless.

Use of the public transport smartcard is  
increasing
The public transport smartcard - the OV-chipkaart - is making 
it simpler to pay on public transport and is replacing the 
numerous ticketed products and the multi-journey zone 
ticket (the strippenkaart). In 2013, passengers checked in and 
out a total of 21% more times with the public transport 
smartcard than in 2012. NS took steps in 2013 to encourage 
people to use and to switch to the public transport smartcard 
and to simplify the process further.

Consumers
NS began consultations with the consumer organisations 
about the new Traject Vrij season ticket, which is being 
introduced in 2014 as the replacement for the monthly 
season tickets and the route season tickets. An innovative 
element is that season ticket holders can pay off their routes 
and can also travel outside that route, paying on account 
afterwards. In addition, NS has made preparations for the 
introduction of one-off chip cards for occasional passengers. 
These will replace the paper tickets.
For passengers aged sixty and older, the Keuzedagen are now 

Number of passengers checking in and out
Public transport smartcard

+21%

2012 2013
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journeys. The general score is just about a pass grade 
(6.4 from the visually impaired, 6.6 from those with auditory 
disabilities and 6.2 from those with motor disabilities) and it 
is therefore still a long way short of perfect. It also became 
clear the customers experienced various components of the 
journey very differently. Based on these results, we therefore 
want to improve the service further. For instance, we would 
like to shorten the period of notice that customers have to 
give if they need assistance. In addition, in close consultation 
with the Council of the Chronically Ill and Disabled and the 
Oogvereniging (an association for the visually impaired), the 
OV-chip Plus was introduced. Passengers with visual
impairments can book their train journey by phone and no 
longer have to check in and out with the public transport 
smartcard. In addition, we have investigated possible ways of 
improving the rolling stock. For instance, we examined ways 
of making the gap between the platform and the train even 
smaller for type SLT Sprinter trains. The four-carriage train 
sets for the upgraded Intercity trains were given facilities for 
passengers with auditory and visual impairments in 2013. 
One example of these is the signage to help recognise the 
outer doors, which is now done with large, white triangles. 
The six-carriage train sets will follow in 2014.

Parking the car
14% of rail passengers use the car to get to the station.  
For them, NS is continually working on improving and increa-
sing the number of parking spaces. Last year, we constructed 
or improved over 1,700 parking spaces. There are now  
over 27,000 free parking spaces at P+R locations and more 
than 9,000 paid parking spaces elsewhere in the vicinity  
of stations.

Parking your bicycle
42% of all passengers go to the station by bicycle. That number 
is expected to increase over the coming years, with one 
reason being the improving quality and quantity of bicycle 

only available on the public transport smartcard. Because 
some elderly people do have difficulty with the machine, 
season ticket holders were given a free day trip ticket. They 
could take this to an NS station, where NS staff would be 
ready to assist them individually.
 
Business travel
In 2013, a large number of major corporate customers 
switched to the new NS-Business Card. This offers employers 
more options for flexibility and travelling on account with all 
forms of public transport in the Netherlands. They can 
specify which door-to-door services may be used by each 
company, department or staff member, and the combination 
of services can be changed easily online. We ran a campaign 
and gave recommendations to the corporate market showing 
them they could save up to 30% on their mobility costs, for 
example by swapping leasing costs for public transport 
kilometres and using journey time as working time.

Cooperation with other carriers
In the spring of 2013, NS decided along with other carriers 
that the paper NS tickets would provisionally remain valid 
with other carriers. Moreover, passengers making journeys 
involving multiple carriers should not have to pay the 
boarding fee component twice. In addition, we worked 
together on a solution for passengers who were entitled to 
long-distance discounts and then changed to another carrier, 
using their public transport smartcard. We have also worked 
together on the mutual acceptance of season tickets on the 
public transport smartcard, which is necessary if seamless 
journeys are to be offered.

Access to stations
Access gates at the stations are now being used in order to 
make the train journey and the time spent at the stations 
safer. A great deal of the nuisance that makes other passen-
gers feel unsafe is caused by fare dodgers. Thanks to the 
access gates, this nuisance will decrease and it will be safer in 
the train and at the stations. By the end of 2013, fifty stations 
had been prepared to make controlled access via these gates 
possible. The access ports at 43 stations are already partially 
in use, so that passengers can get used to them. During the 
course of 2013, fifteen short pilots were carried out in which 
all the access gates at various stations were used fully for a 
brief period. At the beginning of 2014, NS will be activating 
all the gates at three stations as a pilot for a longer period.

Accessibility of stations and trains for people 
with functional disabilities
Around 9,000 customers with functional disabilities are 
registered with NS. The number of journeys for which 
assistance needed to be provided was almost 65,000 in 2013. 
NS wants people with functional disabilities to be able to 
travel by train as well as possible. In 2013, together with the 
Ministry of Infrastructure and the Environment and the 
Dutch Council of the Chronically Ill and Disabled, we held a 
customer survey among customers with auditory, visual or 
motor disabilities about how they experienced their train 
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storage facilities. Our customers can park their bicycles in one 
of the 100,000 supervised bike spaces, the roughly 300,000 
unsupervised spaces or the 16,000 bicycle lockers. Given the 
large number of passengers who come to the station by 
bicycle, a new and cost-conscious form of commercial opera-
tion of the bicycle storage areas at the stations is needed. In 
2013, we worked on a new offering for customers for storing 
their bicycles. We will be presenting this approach to the 
interested parties at the beginning of 2014.

From the station to the final destination
Passengers experience the part of their journey from the 
station to their final destination as the most awkward part. 
There are four ways in which NS wants to speed up this link 
in the chain and make it simpler.

OV-fiets
The OV-fiets - the public transport bicycle - is the sustainable 
means of transport for getting from the station to the final 
destination. The number of people with a subscription grew 
in 2013 from 140,000 to more than 160,000. Over 1.4 million 
trips were made. In order to meet the increasing demand, we 
opened fourteen new rental locations and expanded two, as 
well as adding public transport bicycles at a number of places.
These can now be rented at over 250 locations in the Nether-
lands, mostly at NS stations. The OV-fiets can also be found at 
metro stations and bus stations, in city centres, at business 
locations at P+R sites, and at ferries. We also offer electric 
bicycles and electric NS scooters at some of the larger hire 
locations.

NS Zonetaxi
In 2013, 26 new locations were added to the list of NS 
Zonetaxi sites. This brings the total to 49.

Greenwheels
Greenwheels is available at 1,648 street corners in 97 towns 
and cities and cars are available at 85 stations.

Transfer
Together with ProRail, NS provides safe, logical and readable 
pedestrian routes between trains, as well as between trains and 
other connecting transport. In 2013, we equipped three major 
stations - Utrecht Centraal, Leiden and Schiphol - with techno-
logy that gives a detailed and continuous picture of passenger 
flows and waiting times. A prototype has also been developed 
to allow passenger flows and waiting times to be monitored at 
all stations using information from the public transport 
smartcard gates and checkin/checkout columns that are 
present at all stations. Both tools provide information that NS 
is using to improve the services it provides for all station users.

Efforts in journey information
NS issues about 1.8 billion journey recommendations 
annually. For  the regular services, of course, but we also 
want to be able to provide high-quality advice during work on 
the tracks and disruptions. In 2013, we were able to provide 
information in good time about almost 87% of cases where 

49
NS Zonetaxi

26 new locations in 2013

OV-�ets 

160,000
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there was disruption. That is above the highest annual score 
of 83.4%, in 2010. We achieved the highest monthly score 
ever for this indicator (90.6%) in October. The quality of the 
journey information received a big boost in 2013:
•	 The completion of the rollout of Infoplus at the traffic 

control centres in June was an important milestone. This 
system translates logistical information automatically into 
journey information for the passenger. This gives better 
quality and more up-to-date journey information on the 
signs at the stations and via the public address system.

•	 In addition, we have also improved the information about 
disruptions on the Internet and in the mobile apps, and 
customers at the stations can see what any work being 
done on the tracks will mean for their journey.

•	 In order to make the door-to-door journey even simpler and 
more comfortable, the Journey Planner Xtra app has been 
expanded to include information about products and 
services at the departure station or the destination. In 
addition, the app has been extended on a pilot route to 
include a crowding indicator for the train.

•	 The transfer of journey information staff from ProRail to 
NS was completed in 2013.

•	 In order to encourage seamless public transport, NS 
(working with ProRail and the Ministry of Infrastructure 
and the Environment) has placed screens at nineteen bus 
and P&R locations near railway stations, giving an overview 
of train departures. Passengers who are debating whether 
to go by car or public transport can also use the improved 
fileweissel.nl website to help make their choice easier.

•	 The online journey planner from NS Hispeed was expanded 
in 2013 to include up-to-date journey information for 
national and international train traffic. This means that  
NS Hispeed is now the first railway company in Europe  
to provide real-time information about international  
train journeys.
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Shops at the stations
We want to have retail and hospitality sector outlets at the 
stations that offer a level of services that fit in with our 
passengers’ requirements and are appropriate for a modern 
station. In and around the new station concourse in  
The Hague, for example, we have started an expansion from 
12 to 26 shop units, with a greater diversity of food and 
non-food products. The first block of shops opened their 
doors at the end of 2013.
Our shops in Leiden took part in a trial for non-contact 
payments: customers were able to pay small amounts with 
their bank card or mobile phone without having to enter 
their PIN code. In addition, as an experiment, we extended 
the functionality of the Journey Planner Xtra app: it now 
shows shops, services and facilities at twelve stations. Since 
September 2013, NS has been cooperating with KPN to offer 
free Wi-Fi at 48 stations.
 

Impuls voor reisinformatie
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Franchises in Germany: focusing on rail transport
In 2013, Abellio was operating buses and trains in Germany 
and buses in the Czech Republic. Last year, we decided to 
terminate most of our bus franchises in these countries and 
focus on rail transport in Germany. In the autumn of 2013, 
the sales of VM & Werner (Germany) to Transport Capital AG 
and Probobus (Czech Republic) to Arriva were completed, 
although the small but profitable KVG bus franchise is 
provisionally being retained in our portfolio.
Abellio won the cross-border Niederrhein Netz franchise in 
2013. This is a connection between Düsseldorf and Arnhem, 
primarily for commuters. We will be running this from 
December 2016. We also won the MDSB II rail franchise 
(central Germany). The current incumbent and the only other 
tenderer, DB Regio, then appealed against this decision. The 
legal case that then ensued lasted so long that Abellio was 
forced to withdraw at the end of September: the supplier was 
no longer able to guarantee that the requisite new trains could 
be delivered before mid-2016, which meant that we would 
have been running unforeseeable and unclear financial risks.
 

Public transport in Europe
NS operates franchises in the United Kingdom and in Germany.
In 2013, 1.1 million customers in these countries made use of 
our subsidiary Abellio’s train and bus services every working 
day. Our ambition is to realise and retain a solid and viable 
portfolio in the United Kingdom, Germany and Scandinavia. 
Our station retail activities are in the United Kingdom, France 
and Belgium.
Our aim is to provide top-quality services for passengers in 
the Netherlands. To do so, we make use of the experience we 
have acquired in other countries. In addition, we want to be 
prepared for the possible deregulation of public transport in 
Europe. With that in mind, we are learning how the franchise 
market works and we are acquiring the tendering skills for it. 
Because NS operates in competitive markets abroad, we are 
learning how NS can work more cost-effectively. Abroad, we 
are also learning that being average is not good enough. 
Paying attention to apparently marginal but nonetheless 
concrete improvements for passengers helps us provide 
excellent services. The same principle applies to the Nether-
lands, of course.
In NS’s foreign franchises, we are also able to use Dutch 
knowledge and expertise. One example of this is Bike & Go in 
England: the English version of the Dutch public transport 
bicycle has been available since August 2013 at 20 stations in 
the Merseyrail, Northern Rail and Abellio Greater Anglia 
franchises.
In 2013, our foreign activities were concentrated on further 
improvement of the operational services, the profitability and 
streamlining our portfolio.

Public transport franchises in the United Kingdom
The railway market in the United Kingdom is completely 
deregulated and subdivided into franchises. Abellio tenders 
actively for franchises in order to obtain and retain a market 
share, running the Merseyrail, Northern Rail and Abellio 
Greater Anglia franchises in 2013. We also operated bus 
franchises in London and Surrey.
Last year, Abellio participated in two tendering processes  
in the United Kingdom: Essex Thameside and TSGN  
(Thameslink, Southern and Great Northern). The winner of 
both these franchises will be announced in the spring of 2014.
Abellio also was prequalified for the rail franchise ScotRail in 
October. This is an honour and an opportunity for Abellio to 
potentially acquire a franchise that is important for the 
Scottish economy. The requirements for this franchise will be 
announced in January 2014.
Abellio also worked on the Single Tender Award (STA) last 
year for Northern Rail and Abellio Greater Anglia. For 
Northern Rail, the STA resulted in a head of terms agreement 
in January 2014. This will let Abellio run these franchises for 
a further 22 months, until February 2016, with an option for 
a further extension of two months. Abellio is expected to sign 
the interim franchise agreement for Abellio Greater Anglia in 
May or June 2014. The STA contains an extension to the 
franchise by 27 months from July 2014, with an option for a 
six-month extension after October 2016.

Number of 
passengers

1,100,000
United Kingdom and Germany
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Prize-winning carriers
Abellio was awarded a number of prizes in 2013. Merseyrail, 
for instance, won various awards for Liverpool Central, 
including the ones for Station Excellence, Best Large Station 
and Overall Station of the Year. Northern Rail’s prizes 
included one for Environmental Excellence, and Abellio 
Greater Anglia was voted best Train Operator of the Year. 
London Bus & Surrey won acclaim as the Top City Operator.

Amsterdam-Brussels: more choices,  
more connections
In December 2012, we introduced new type V250 high-speed 
trains for the Fyra connection between Amsterdam and 
Brussels over the HSL South.
The V250 trains were taken out of service a few weeks later 
on 17 January. The immediate reason for this was an incident 
in which a floor plate fell off. Based on a detailed investiga-
tion, NS came to the conclusion that continuing with the 
V250 is neither justifiable nor desirable for passengers.
The technical condition of the V250 trains and the lack of any 
clarity about solutions for the problems did not make us 
confident that the situation could be resolved and made it 
clear that the V250 train was not reliable enough to make a 
dependable timetable possible. After the trains were with-
drawn from the timetable, NS and NMBS gave AnsaldoBreda 
three months to come up with a remedy. Even after this 
period had been extended, the approach put forward  
by AnsaldoBreda was insufficient and NS did not feel that  
the repair programme presented by the manufacturer 
AnsaldoBreda was sufficient to solve the problems. Unfortu-
nately, this had far-reaching consequences for our passengers. 
The Intercity to Brussels over the older track (the Benelux 
train) had after all been discontinued as of December 2012. 
This left only Thalys. The failure of the V250 meant that HSA 
was unable to meet its obligations under the franchise. In 
order to improve this unacceptable situation as quickly as 
possible, we put together a task force of internal and external 
experts, led by the NS Executive Board. They were given 
instructions to examine the technical suitability of the V250 
and decide how to implement the franchise agreements.

Temporary solution
First of all, an emergency solution was needed to help our 
passengers. Together with our colleagues from over the 
border, we were able to restore the old Intercity connection 
between the Netherlands and Belgium in less than three 
weeks. We increased the frequency of these trains between 

Restoration of the Intercity connection
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The Hague and Brussels step by step from two a day in 
February to twelve in December. At the same time, Thalys 
increased the number of trains per day from Amsterdam to 
Brussels from nine in January to eleven in October and twelve 
in December.
 
Continuing with the V250 would have been irresponsible
It became clear to NS during the investigation that the 
number of faults in the V250 was excessive. Deployment, 
maintenance, operational reliability and lifespan all turned 
out to be a great deal poorer than expected. We also did not 
have sufficient confidence in the recovery plan produced by 
the supplier AnsaldoBreda. Based on this, we came to the 
conclusion that continuing with the V250 was not only 
unjustifiable but also undesirable for passengers. NMBS came 
to the same conclusion.

Future solution for Amsterdam-Brussels
NS then produced a list of structural alternatives for this 
connection, which it shared with passenger organisations, 
governmental authorities and other interested parties. In 
September, this resulted in the presentation of a customer-
driven proposal from NS and NMBS with more destinations, 
more connections and more choice for passengers. Both 
carriers have opted for international high-speed transport 
using the tried-and-tested concepts and the proven techno-
logy of Thalys and Eurostar. The Intercity to Brussels will 
continue, running twelve times a day from 2015 onwards 
from Amsterdam and hourly (sixteen times a day) from 
December 2016 onwards, partly over high-speed lines and 
partly over the conventional tracks. The route will call not only 
at Schiphol, The Hague, Rotterdam, Antwerp and Mechelen 

but also Breda, Noorderkempen and if possible Zaventem 
Airport as well. There will be a direct Intercity connection 
from Eindhoven via the HSL South to The Hague. The recovery 
plan has been received positively by passenger organisations 
and in political circles. The new Intercity trains that NS is 
going to acquire and which will be operational from 2021 will 
reach speeds of at least 200 kilometres per hour and can run 
on both the HSL South and the main rail network.

Cross-border connections
In addition to the Amsterdam-Brussels connection, NS offers a 
variety of other options for cross-border transport.
NS is connected to the major city network between Paris, 
Brussels, Cologne , Amsterdam, London, Berlin and Frankfurt.
We also continued to work closely with rail companies and 
governmental authorities in Germany and Belgium in 2013. 
For instance, we and Deutsche Bahn offered passengers an 
alternative timetable between Amsterdam and Berlin in the 
period from June to November after a dyke broke in Germany.

Station retail outside the Netherlands
Hospitality services and retail at stations make door-to-door 
train journeys attractive for the customers. NS aims to 
improve the customer experience and customer satisfaction 
throughout the journey, which also means making the 
stations more attractive. In the United Kingdom, it has been 
decided that the retail developments at the stations should be 
made an integral part of the rail franchises where possible, 
for example at Abellio Greater Anglia. Abellio and NS see 
opportunities for offering a complete journey from door to 
door in the United Kingdom as well, including attractive 
stations and retail outlets.

Number of passengers per carrier in Europe
Passenger numbers per day
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Staff engagement
The annual staff engagement survey showed a rising trend in 
2013. Compared with the year before, this involvement 
showed a slight increase for aspects such as ‘enthusiasm’ 
(from 3.83 to 3.92 on a five-point scale) and ‘feeling capable 
of doing the job’ (from 3.67 to 3.72). Satisfaction with work 
at NS rose to 7.31 (on a ten-point scale, from 7.25 in 2011). 
The key challenges are clear goals, more professionalism 
from those in leadership positions, and improvement of basic 
facilities such as workstations and equipment. We have used 
the results to create improvements in professional skills, 
communications, accommodation and facilities. Departments 
that score well in specific areas will serve as the inspiration 
for other departments and teams within NS. We want this to 
underpin a continuing upward trend for staff engagement in 
the coming years.

Core values for service
NS is working at creating an environment in which employ-
ees can contribute enthusiastically and enjoyably to the 
provision of high-quality services for customers. Each 
organisational unit and each functional group wants to have 
sufficient numbers of deployable, properly qualified and 
committed staff at costs that are comparable to those in other 
organisations. They work in line with the core values that 
were defined for NS in 2012: proactive, professional, cohesive 
and hospitable. The last year has been all about activation 

Positioning NS as an attractive employer
NS can only provide the services it wants to if it has enough 
employees, who must also be satisfied and appropriately 
equipped for their tasks. A good image, as an attractive and 
caring employer, will let us get and keep the right people.
Last year, NS rose from 20th to 14th place on the Intermediair 
Image Survey, a ranking of companies by their public image. 
Our aim is to be in the top ten in 2014. Helped among other 
things by a new Employer Story and the introduction  
of a common recruitment system (Otys), we have set up  
a new external recruitment site for NS as a whole:  
www.werkenbijns.nl.

Recruiting new employees
In 2013, we filled 2,242 vacancies for people with vocational 
qualifications and 314 vacancies for graduates (32 of them 
trainees: 17 management and 15 professionals). In addition, 
NS also took on 50 work placement trainees so that up-and-
coming talented youngsters could get some work experience, 
as well as getting them interested in NS. Recruitment for 
vacancies and work placements is being done increasingly 
often through social media such as Twitter and LinkedIn 
(6,500 connections). In addition, we organised 32 events such 
as in-house days for students, meet-and-greet sessions and 
business cases. During the three-day Finance Business Rally in 
Paris, students (studying finance in particular) were given a 
chance to get to know NS better as an employer. For jobs   
that are difficult to fill, NS began active cooperation with 
internal ‘ambassadors’ in 2013 - sixteen for IT, thirteen for 
technology and five for finance.
An external recruitment and selection agency filled  
80 vacancies for us in 2013.
The internal InhuurDesk (hiring desk) supervises the requests 
for external staff at higher vocational level or above. In 2013, 
more than 400 temporary assignments were requested. The 
InhuurDesk manages on average to reduce rates by an 
additional 2% during the negotiation phase. Last year we were 
able to save an additional €1.2 million by asking external IT 
staff to lower their rates.
In order to let new staff familiarise themselves properly with 
NS and the transport chain as a whole, an online onboarding 
programme was developed in 2013.

14
Most popular employers

NS rose from number 20 
to 14 in 2013 on the 
Intermediair Image Survey list
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and implementation of these core values within the various 
business units and the corporate staff services. We are 
measuring the progress of the implementation through 
month ly surveys of customer experiences and internal 
surveys of staff engagement.

NS Next as the new working style
NS Next is the new working style at NS. By agreeing clearly-
defined results and making proper working agreements, 
scope is created for staff - supported by the right tools and IT 
- to choose how, where and when they work. The NS Next 
programme team was set up in 2013. Various departments 
have now started using the NS Next approach. For example, 
Move NS was one of the first departments to start with 
aspects such as more result-oriented work, joint agreements 
about work, modified working accommodation and facilities.

Diversity and inclusiveness
NS wants to be seen as an attractive employer, an inclusive 
organisation in which everyone feels at home and from 
which nobody is excluded. This will let us make optimum use 
of our employees’ skills.
We focused on three target groups in 2013: women, people 
with occupational incapacities, and employees with non- 
Western ethnicity. NS wants to bring in more women and get 
them to progress to the senior levels. In 2013, 33% of the NS 
Executive Board and 33% of the NS Supervisory Board were 
women (see table).

Number of women at the top of NS in the Netherlands

Women at the  
top of NS in the 
Netherlands

Target for 2013 
(set in 2008)

Achieved 
2013

Achieved 
2012

Group Council and 
those reporting 
directly to it

23% 22% 23%

Senior management 24% 30% 29%

Management 
development 
programmes

>30% 50% 45%

Trainee programme 50% 60% 31%

In addition, we made an agreement in our new collective 
labour agreement for people with occupational limitations 
(those covered by the Invalidity Insurance (Young Disabled 
Persons) Act or the Sheltered Employment Act, plus our own 
staff with occupational disabilities) that there would be 
opportunities for 50 people with occupational limitations to 
gain work experience. NS would like to use the ‘job carving’ 
method to create long-term employment opportunities for 
people with occupational restrictions. (Please refer also to 
Chapter 6, ‘Our impact on the environment and on society’.)
Together with various partners, NS organised an employers’ 
congress called ‘Autism on the shop floor: a win-win situa-
tion!’, during which employers, educators, HR professionals 
and people with disabilities in the autistic spectrum gave a 
realistic picture of what autism means in practice on the shop 
floor and at work. This was followed by a gathering that was 

Special Talents pilot
NS wants to create long-term jobs  that 
are suitable for people who have less 
access to the normal labour market. NS 
does that by applying the ‘job carving’ 
methodology. The target group for the 
Special Talents pilot, i.e. particularly 
people covered by the Invalidity 
Insurance (Young Disabled Persons) 
Act or the Sheltered Employment Act, 
consists largely of people who are not 
capable of doing regular jobs.
They are often not able to perform the 
existing jobs in full, but can do parts 
of some jobs or some of the tasks. In 
2014, NS will be testing the job creation 
methodology within its organisation, 
together with Locus and Professor Frans 
Nijhuis of Maastricht University. We will 
also look at whether the method is also 
suitable for our own NS employees with 
occupational disabilities.
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year. The large number of applications - this year there were 
again more than 400 - show how successful the TechniekFa-
briek and the Rail Transport Driver training course are. In 
2014, NS will be examining whether it is possible to coope-
rate with other rail sector players and vocational education 
institutes to provide training courses.

Talent development
NS has been organising management development program-
mes for a number of years. Last year a programme called 
‘Sprinter’ was started for promising youngsters who we want 
to offer more depth after their first jobs. In addition, young 
people in management positions with potential to progress 
further could follow the Creating Accelerating Performance 
programme, and the pilot training programme Conduct your 
Team was also introduced in 2013 for people in leadership 
positions to let them develop their skills further in manage-
ment, result-oriented supervision and personal leadership.
In order to be able to assess the value of these talented 
employees, we have made the talent development process in 
NS more professional. The process we use for assessing the 
potential of young talented people has been tested and 
updated, in collaboration with Tilburg University. 
The Insights Discovery methodology has been introduced at 
NS: about 600 NS staff have now received a personalised profile 
from an accredited management development consultant.
2013 also saw the final edition of the Leadership Develop-
ment Programme (LOT), in which 10 people took part.
This will be replaced by the international leadership program-
me Navigator, which is being developed in close consultation 
with Abellio.

Getting experience abroad
NS lets its talented and experienced staff, trainees and 
managers work abroad for shorter or longer periods, not only 
to let them acquire knowledge and experience, but also so 
that they can share it. In 2013, six employees were posted for 
longer than one year to important positions in Britain and 
France. Two NS staff members were deployed full-time for 
periods of three to twelve months on specific projects for 
Merseyrail and NS Stations abroad. At the same time, we used 
staff with the right expertise to help structurally or as the 
occasion required in bid teams, mobilisations and startup of 
new activities in Belgium, Germany, Britain, France and 
Sweden. The expertise that they acquire can then be reused 
by NS in the Netherlands.

Company health, and sickness absence
The sickness absence rate at NS was 4.8% in 2013 (4.9% in 
2012). This refers to the sickness absence rate for the first 
year of illness, adjusted for modified duties (lighter work).
 

organised for HR directors of major Dutch employers and  
the state secretary Jette Klijnsma, focusing on employment 
market participation for this target group.
NS is also aiming to increase the number of staff from 
non-Western ethnic groups. For this reason, we want to get  
a better picture of the motivating forces and considerations  
of these groups, so that the match between them and NS  
can be improved.
NS was ranked 13th in the gay rights organisation COC’s  
list of 100 companies that score well for being tolerant and 
gay-friendly (2011).

The number of reports made to NS’s confidential counsellors 
rose to 85 in 2013 (from 67 in 2012). 35 cases involved 
inappropriate behaviour, intimidation (including sexual 
intimidation), discrimination or bullying. The NS Complaints 
Committee for its staff received 26 complaints, 7 of which 
were about inappropriate behaviour.

Developing professional skills and talent
NS Opleidingen provided 1,809 training courses and nation-
wide refreshers in 2013 for e.g. drivers and trainee drivers, 
chief guards, safety officers and mechanics (as opposed to 
1,977 in 2012). Investments in new technology resulted in a 
new learning infrastructure (course participant management 
system), new e-learning modules, simulators and skills sheets 
for drivers and customer service staff. Cooperation with 
regular education institutions was also further intensified in 
2013. The Amsterdam Regional Training Centre (ROC) offers 
training to become a Rail Traffic Driver; the Rivor ROC has a 
course for our secretarial administrative employees.
A further 27 participants from the various retail and hospita-
lity sector formats of NS Stations started the new Station 
Retail vocational training in the third quarter of 2013. This 
gives students a recognised diploma at the Dutch MBO-3 
level, and they have an opportunity to progress to a job at 
assistant supervisor level.

Rail College
Last year, it could be seen that the cooperation between rail 
companies and vocational education institutes was bearing 
fruit. The first class of the TechniekFabriek (‘technology 
factory’) and the class of trainee drivers at the Amsterdam 
ROC have successfully completed their first year. They will be 
graduating in 2014. In the 2013-2014 year, 30 pupils started 
at the TechniekFabriek and Amsterdam ROC, and recruit-
ment activities were started in November for the 2014-2015 

x400
TechniekFabriek is popular
number of applications in 2013

4.8% 
4.9% in 2012

Sickness absence rate
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Over 40% of them did so at their own request. In addition, 
monthly workshops and training courses are given to 
managers and HRM staff, focusing on discovering talent, 
carrying out FIT Together programme interviews and encou-
raging internal mobility. Almost 50% of the staff receiving 
such guidance have now found another job, and others are 
now better equipped for carrying out their own current role.

Employee participation
The Central Works Council (COR) met with the NS Executive 
Board regularly in 2013. The key topics were the strategy of 
NS, the alternative offered for the HSL South, the cooperation 
between NS and ProRail, and NS Next. Representatives for the 
central works council were chosen from those elected to the 
various individual works councils. At the end of 2013, these 
were as follows: Jan Arndts, Hans Booy, Jan Hein Cornelissen, 
Fred Dekker, Huub van Doremalen, René van Eijk, Henk 
Klaster, Bas Kuperus, Ernst Loois (deputy chair), Rien Maas, 
Marko Ruijtenberg, Jan Velthuis (chair), Remko Vleeshouwer 
(deputy chair), Jan Witlox and Gerard Wold.

Labour affairs: new collective labour agreement
The new NS CAO (collective labour agreement), which will 
run for 27 months, came into effect in April 2013. The 
agreements made were largely about the main rail network 
franchise and continuing to work longer. A new wages 
agreement with a 3% rise came into effect as of 1 February 
2013. Other agreements were:
•	 An action plan for longer-term deployability of staff
•	 A package of specific terms and conditions of employment 

for NS Stations
•	 Standard retirement age raised to 67
•	 Use of former NS staff in field staff roles
•	 Both before and during the CAO negotiations, all NS staff 

were able to follow the course of the negotiations through 
the digital ‘CAO Forum’. This also let them discuss the 
collective labour agreement.

The organisation in motion
There was a restructuring of NS Stations in 2013 in order to 
further improve the services and guarantee the financial 
continuity. The main structure of the organisation will 
henceforth consist of Real Estate & Development (V&O) and 
Retail & Transfer (R&T), which reflect our activities in the 
commercial and private markets. In addition, the Station 
Operations change programme has been set up, in order to 
focus the services even more on the passengers. The new 
organisation came into effect on 1 September.
NS commenced the process of merging NS Hispeed and NS 
Reizigers in 2013. The trigger for this was the integrated 
franchise that will apply as of 1 January 2015 for transport on 
both the main rail network and the high-speed lines. This 
process has been brought forward because of the alternative 
offered for the HSL South. After a positive recommendation 
from the employee participation bodies, we will be implemen-
ting the integration of NS Hispeed and NS Reizigers in 2014.
 

We agreed an extension to the contract with the Arbo Unie 
(occupational health and safety service) in 2013. In addition, 
there are agreements with the health insurers about joint 
efforts to tackle obesity. The pilot centring on vitality coaches 
has been extended to seven production units. In addition, we 
have started periodic medical examinations on a trial basis in 
various business units. Supervisors and managers took 
training courses to help them identify impending sickness 
absence in good time. An investigation into the physical loads 
when using wheelchair access ramps led to 26 more light-
weight and less cumbersome ‘corner ramp’ variants being 
purchased.

Health and safety
The safety policy of NS focuses on continually reducing the 
number of accidents at work and the number of days’ 
sickness absence as a result of accidents.
The figures are tracked using the Lost Time Injury (LTI) score, 
which includes all accidents resulting in absences of more 
than 24 hours. In 2013, 183 operational incidents in the 
Netherlands resulted in sickness absence (241 in 2012). This 
is 0.25% of all sickness absence. The main causes were 
tripping, stumbling and collisions or near collisions. Aggres-
sion against NS staff was also an issue. The unions and NS 
have reached an agreement for this comprising a package of 
measures for tackling the problem. We also invested heavily 
in combating verbal and physical violence on public trans-
port, for instance with 650 well-trained Service & Safety staff, 
a Safety Centre and camera monitoring at stations and in 
trains. There has also been a survey of the education, training 
and coaching needed in order to improve resilience.
In the United Kingdom and Germany, there were 215 
incidents that led to sickness absence (245 in 2012). This is 
0.23% of all absence.
Per million hours worked, the physical accidents resulted in a 
Lost Time Injury Rate (LTIR) of 2.4 in the Netherlands, which 
is the same as in 2012. This means that the target figure of 
2.3 that had been imposed in 2012was not achieved. Inclu-
ding Abellio, the LTIR came to 4.3 in 2013, which is better 
than the target of 4.8 that was set for 2013 in 2012. After 
complaints from staff about trains shuddering and jerking as 
they went along, we held discussions with ProRail at the 
beginning of 2013 about improved ride behaviour. Together 
with ProRail and other carriers, we improved the working 
conditions at all the railway yards in the Netherlands.
Investigations of incidents by NedTrain led to initiatives for 
improvements in the working processes and further reducti-
ons in the number of accidents. NS Stations has optimised the 
reporting and registration system and connected it to the NS 
Concern Safety systems. A structured occupational health 
policy has also been set up.

Assistance in finding other work
Internal mobility and long-term deployment of staff are 
important themes for NS. During 2013, over 300 staff were 
helped to find other jobs either inside NS or elsewhere.
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Customers expect climate-friendly transport
Climate-friendly, pleasant transport ties in with what our 
customers and employees expect from us. We can help create 
a sustainable society by influencing our customers’ choices in 
terms of mobility. More than 10% of our customers take the 
train for environmental reasons. A quarter of our customers 
say that the train could be a more attractive option if NS were 
to put more emphasis on the sustainability of rail transport, 
and 5 to 10% of customers say they would choose the train 
more often then (MOA/TNS Nipo 2011 and Market response 
2013). 75% of our employees feel sustainability is an impor-
tant aspect of NS (Service Check 2012).

Our main priorities
For NS, sustainability means that we want to add economic, 
ecological and social value to our own organisation and 
society through our operations. A mobile society helps create 
a healthy, dynamic economy. Travelling by train is also better 
for the environment than many other forms of motorised 
transport. Moreover, it connects people and enables social 
contact. Our main priorities are:
1.  Sustainable mobility: occupancy rates, energy efficiency, 

CO2 emissions and waste within our own processes and the 
transport chain;

2.  Encounters and connections: facilitating meeting up, for 
both private and business purposes.

CO2 emissions make the train a climate-friendly 
mode of transport
The train’s energy consumption is relatively low. Trains emit 
75% less CO2 per passenger on average than cars. NS now 
includes the CO2 comparator in its journey planner and has 
released the CO2 app in order to show passengers their 
contribution to this environmental objective. These tools 
reveal the benefit to the environment if you take the train for 
that journey rather than the car.
But there is room for even more improvement. That is why 
NS is working on improving energy efficiency and reducing 
CO2 emissions (the calculations used in this chapter are 
explained at www.ns.nl/mvoberekeningen, partly in Dutch). 
We are doing this by increasing occupancy rates, reducing 
energy consumption and using sustainably produced energy.

Increasing off-peak occupancy rates
We want to improve our energy efficiency by increasing 
occupancy rates in off-peak hours. For NS Reizigers, the target 

is to achieve an increase of 6% in occupancy rates during 
off-peak hours within six years (from 26% in 2011 to 32% in 
2017). In 2013, NS Reizigers realised an occupancy rate of 
28.8% during off-peak hours, an increase of 0.4% compared 
with 2012.
Further improvements can be made by increasing sales of 
products for off-peak hours. One such example is the NS 
Group Return, which NS introduced in 2013 and which lets 
groups travel together during off-peak hours. By the end of 
2013, 233,000 passengers had already used it. 55% of these 
passengers said they normally prefer to travel by car. NS can 
improve occupancy rates in off-peak hours further still by 
tailoring the deployment of rolling stock even more to 
requirements (supply in line with demand).

Reducing energy consumption
NS distinguishes between two types of energy consumption: 
consumption of energy for facilities, which refers to energy 
use in offices, workshops and stations, and the consumption 
of energy for transport, which refers to all the energy 
consumed in running, lighting and heating the trains and 
buses. CO2 emissions by NS are largely determined by the 
transport process (90%) and only to a smaller extent by energy 
for facilities (10%).
Since 2011, we have been operating in the rail sector in the 
Netherlands in accordance with the Long-term Agreement on 
Energy Efficiency (MJA3), which the government has made 
with various sectors in order to achieve its target of an annual 
2% reduction in energy. This is confirmed in the SER energy 
agreement for sustainable growth, of which NS is one of the 
signatories. The objective for NS is to ensure annual improve-
ments in efficiency of at least 2% of the total energy consump-
tion (facilities and transport) between 2011 and 2016. For the 
energy consumed by trains in the Netherlands, NS has 
adopted the more ambitious objective of 5% per annum for 
the period from 2011 to 2016. This is more than required for 
MJA3, but it is a deliberate choice. In 2013, it was announced 
that the rail sector had been able to achieve the greatest 
reduction (3.3%) in 2012 of all the sectors covered by MJA3.

Energy consumption by trains in the Netherlands
In 2013, the NS Reizigers and Hispeed trains in the Netherlands 
used 1.23 TWh of electricity (1.28 TWh in 2012), which is 
about the same as the annual electricity consumption of all 
the households in the city of Amsterdam. We also consumed 
3.8 million litres of diesel (4.3 million litres in 2012). We are 

25% 100%

CO2 emissions per passenger in the Netherlands
75% less by train than by car
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achieving improvements in energy efficiency by maximising 
the use of modern trains with lower energy consumption, 
such as the new Sprinter and the upgraded Intercity, as well 
as by Energy-Saving Driving: accelerating fast and letting the 
train roll slowly to a stop. In 2013 we also introduced 
Energy-Efficient Setups for rolling stock at nearly all our 
setup locations. NS’s aim here is to park trains in a sustaina-
ble manner if they are not being used for a while, that is with 
the lights and heating switched off (an effect of around  
10 GWh in 2013). The above measures let us achieve an 
improvement of 4.7 percentage points in the Energy Efficiency 
Index in 2013 (3.2 percentage points in 2012); this is an 
improvement of 14.5% over three years.
The CO2 emissions per passenger-kilometre were 30.1 grams 
in 2013 (with emissions of approximately 512 kton per 
annum). That is 1.1 grams less in emissions than in 2012 
(31.2), which is an improvement of 3.5%.

Energy consumption by trains in the  
United Kingdom
The combined CO2 emissions of our rail franchises in the 
United Kingdom are 45 grams per passenger-kilometre 
compared with 47 grams per passenger-kilometre in 2012. 
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Using such measures as internal communication campaigns 
for staff and improvements to the environmental manage-
ment system, we have been able to achieve a reduction of 
around 4% in CO2 emissions compared with last year in the 
Northern and Abellio Greater Anglia franchises.

The three franchises do not have the same targets. Their 
targets are determined by their own ambitions, and the 
targets of the franchise holder, the national government and 
the sector association. However these bodies do not coordi-
nate their policies, which makes specifying and aiming for 
clear targets a challenge. In 2013, Abellio started up and 
participated in sector strategy groups in order to reach 
agreements on sustainability objectives throughout the 
transport chain. The ISO 50001 and ISO 14001 certificates 
were retained in 2013. In the past year, Merseyrail focused on 
the implementation of sustainable procurement with a code 
of conduct. Attention was also given to improving transport 
to and from the station by bicycle. The number of season 
ticket holders for the bicycle storage facilities rose by 20%. 
Bike & Go has been introduced at ten locations since August.

Energy consumption by buses
NS had bus franchises in both the Netherlands (Qbuzz in 
Groningen-Drenthe and South-East Friesland) and the United 
Kingdom (Abellio London and Surrey) in 2013. The combined 
CO2 emissions per bus-kilometre for the buses in the Nether-
lands were 0.87 kilograms in 2013. The combined CO2 
emissions per bus-kilometre for the buses in the United 
Kingdom in 2013 were 1.05 kilograms. Reductions in CO2 
emissions are achieved largely by reducing fuel consumption 
through the deployment of more energy-efficient vehicles. The 
London and Surrey buses are fitted with a monitoring system 
that measures the bus driver’s energy efficiency. These results 
are displayed in the workplace and the most efficient driver 
earns a small reward. This encourages the drivers to learn from 
one another. Qbuzz will also be adopting this idea.
In 2013, one of the London and Surrey bus depots acquired 
ISO 14001 certification. The other depots are preparing for 
certification in 2014. In the next few years we will also be 
focusing on increasing the number of hybrid vehicles in the 
fleet. In Groningen, Qbuzz will be replacing part of the 
existing fleet with cleaner Euro-VI vehicles in early 2014. 
Qbuzz was already using Euro-VI vehicles for all urban 
services in Utrecht by the end of 2013. These vehicles reduce 
emissions of nitrogen oxides and soot particles by 90%.

Reducing facility energy consumption
NS wants to reduce energy consumption at stations, in offices 
and workshops by 2% annually. We are achieving this in part 
by using thermal energy storage (TES) and by replacing less 
energy-efficient installations or lighting. The overall con-
sumption of energy for facilities in 2013 will only be known 
in the course of 2014. In 2012, we used 71 GWh of electri-
city, 7 million m3 gas and 38 TJ of heating for facilities.
In 2013, NS had five TES systems in use. Thanks to NS, 
various buildings in the station area are being heated and 
cooled in a sustainable manner.

+5 
Thermal Storage Systems

Results achieved for 
sustainability
•  NS was ranked sixth in the Transparency 

Benchmark, which gives information on 
how the largest Dutch companies report 
their CSR activities.

•  NS rose from 74th to 49th in Dossier 
Duurzaam, the annual monitor NS uses 
to assess its reputation for sustainability 
among consumers.
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The three main waste processing companies working for NS 
have been supplying information about the NS waste in the 
same format since mid-2013. This gives a better picture of the 
waste streams and categories per location. In addition, the 
waste processing companies provide information on how 
they process the waste and NS is better able to fulfil its role  
in the supply chain. We receive a comprehensive report  
every month.
In 2013, we started segregated collection of different waste 
categories in the offices in Utrecht and the workshops in 
Haarlem, Watergraafsmeer, Leidschendam and Maastricht.  
NS has already reduced the volume of uncategorised waste in 
Utrecht to 40%. The workshops started doing this at the end 
of 2013 and the results still have to be collated. We will also 
be setting up segregated waste collection for the other offices 
and workshops in the Netherlands over the next few years.
NS encourages recycling in the maintenance of the trains. 
Because high-grade materials are used in trains, discarded 
parts also contain high-grade raw materials for suppliers’ 
production processes, such as wheels, axles and brake discs. 
However, there can be a dilemma as some high-grade raw 
materials are difficult to extract. For instance, electromagne-
tic brake blocks contain the rare element neodymium, but it 
oxidises quickly and therefore cannot be recycled. Another 
recurring dilemma is the commercial feasibility of the 
extraction.
Free newspapers make up more than half the waste in trains. 
There were two pilot projects last year aimed at the segrega-
ted collection of newspapers and other waste in trains. The 
pilots show that several tons of newspapers are discarded 
every day in trains. We are now looking with the cleaning 
company for an efficient way of collecting them.

Discharges from toilets
We are aiming to have eliminated discharges from toilets 
onto the tracks by 2030. By the end of 2013, 56.8% of our 
trains had closed toilet systems (51.8% in 2012). An improve-
ment of 7% was achieved in 2013, which means that we are 
therefore on schedule (4.3% in 2012). The newest Intercity 
trains and Sprinters have or are being fitted with closed toilet 
systems. Moreover, closed toilet systems are also being 
installed in existing train sets when they are upgraded.
 

NS and ProRail have jointly developed a sustainability scan for 
stations. Around 100 stations have now been analysed. These 
stations have an average score of 5.9 out of 10. NS and ProRail 
are in discussions to decide what score should be the target in 
improvements to the stations over the next few years.
In 2013, we obtained more insight into the energy consump-
tion per user (for example, per shop) through the information 
from the submetering. This insight will help us target areas 
for energy savings.
NedTrain started on the construction of technical centres in 
2013. These buildings satisfy the requirements of the 
BREEAM 4-star label.

Sustainable energy: making electricity greener
NS aims to make the electricity consumption of trains in the 
Netherlands greener. In 2014 we will be entering into a new 
long-term contract for the supply of electricity for all the 
electric trains in the Netherlands on behalf of the rail sector. 
NS uses about 1.2 TWh of electricity to run its trains. The 
request for tender includes requirements for this electricity 
to be made more environmentally friendly in a financially 
viable manner. From 2014, the electricity supplier will build 
additional sustainable sources in the course of the contractual 
period such as wind turbines or solar panels, so that NS will 
be able to offer its customers climate-neutral (clean) train 
journeys. NS is also investigating the option of using its land 
for the generation of sustainable energy. At present the focus 
is on wind power.
The Netherlands has set itself the target of increasing the 
share of renewable energy from 4% in 2013 to 14% in 2020 
and 16% in 2023 (source: SER energy agreement for sustaina-
ble growth; September 2013). NS will help achieve this 
governmental target through its policy.

Waste recycling
NS wants to reduce the waste in the raw material cycle in 
collaboration with suppliers. This will allow reuse of materi-
als in a closed cycle. We want to process all the waste that  
we produce at stations, on trains, at our sites and in our 
offices sustainably and turn it into raw materials. Our 
priorities are to increase the number of options for reuse and 
to reduce the waste streams. NS’s goal is to recycle 60% of the 
waste in the five years between 2012 and 2017 and to 
produce 17% less waste. In 2013, NS removed 18,500 tons of 
waste (18,500 tons in 2012), of which 30% was in separate 
streams (25% in 2012). We are extending the separate 
processing of different waste categories.
NS will also look into how we can create less waste when 
purchasing, with more possibilities for reuse (see also 
‘Sustainable procurement’).

Start of the tender for 
climate-neutral electricity

New energy contract 
for all trains in the 
Netherlands

Presented 
as separate 
streams

(2012: 25%)
30%

Waste production

(2012: 18,500 t)
18,500 t
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contractor’s processes, for example in the segregation of 
waste, but also in the purchase of building materials close 
to the site in order to reduce transportation.

Sustainability and the award of contracts
NS takes sustainability aspects into account when awarding 
contracts.
The contracts specify the improvements that suppliers and NS 
want to implement together. In 2013, for example, we 
achieved results in a reduction of the energy consumption in 
routing, signing and branding (signs above the access gates). 
By incorporating the Total Cost of Ownership in its calcula-
tions, NS made it attractive for tenderers to keep the energy 
consumption as low as possible. We continued to focus on the 
reduction of packaging and the reuse of raw materials in 2013.
We also consider whether sustainability aspects are relevant in 
closed tenders as well as in European tenders.

CSR in purchasing conditions
Our CSR requirements are expressed in the rules of procedure 
for the Executive Board and procurement governance and they 
are also embedded in the General Purchasing Conditions 
(www.nsprocurement.nl). One new clause was added in 2013 
(Clause 25) to these General Purchasing Conditions specifically 
relating to Governance and socially responsible business 
practices. NS has documented its responsibilities with regard 
to society and a number of goals, following the United Nations 
Global Compact in doing so.
A general requirement is that all suppliers should shoulder 
their share of corporate social responsibility in their business 
practices. This means they should subscribe to the principles 
encapsulated in relevant standards, as laid down in such 
documents as the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and 
the standards drawn up by such organisations as the ILO, OECD 
and ICC. For example, we set requirements for labour conditi-
ons for the production of uniforms (ILO requirements), we 
require safety certificates from our suppliers who deploy their 
employees in and around trains and platforms, and we require 
the use of environmentally friendly products for cleaning.
Exclusion criteria also apply to any subcontractors used by our 
suppliers. Audits are carried out to test whether suppliers 
comply with the requirements if the nature or size of the case 
gives reason to do so, or if we suspect there is a risk of non-
compliance. We only do this for procurement outside Europe 
or where there are increased risks for the sustainability 
aspects. In other cases, we go by the audits available in the 
market. This is possible because NS primarily buys its services 
in the Netherlands (more than 80%) which are also produced in 
the Netherlands, and purchases goods that are primarily 
manufactured in Western Europe (also more than 80%).  
If a supplier does not satisfy the requirements, we examine 
whether a joint plan of action can be drawn up with the 
supplier to get back on course.
NS subscribes to the code of conduct drawn up by NEVI, the 
Dutch association for purchasing management, which provides 
guidelines for acting ethically and for fair business practices 
(Guide to responsible procurement, NEVI 2012, see www.nevi.
nl). NS has drawn up a policy to prevent bribery and corrup-

Enabling encounters and connecting people
NS is at the heart of the community and is by and for everyo-
ne. Social contacts provide cohesion, enrich life and make it 
more pleasurable. We can create a more positive atmosphere 
and experience by letting people make contact and get 
talking to one another in the train and at stations.
Every day, more than one million people of different ethnici-
ties, social backgrounds and religious beliefs come into 
contact with one another in our trains and at our stations. 
The journey is the instrument, contact between people the 
result. NS facilitates encounters in the train and at stations. 
To make such encounters easier, NS organises the Social 
Carriage a few times a year. The Social Carriage was thought 
up by two students who were concerned by the decline in 
social contacts due to the increased use of smartphones, 
tablets etc. We set up a special train carriage in which 
passengers are given the opportunity to debate a topic of 
public interest. In 2013, the topics debated in the Social 
Carriage were ‘Dare to ask’, ‘The week of dialogue’ and 
‘Loneliness among the elderly’.
Another way of promoting encounters is by making it easier 
to work during journeys, for example with meeting rooms 
and workspaces at stations and facilities for working on the 
train (electricity sockets, Wi-Fi). In 2013, there were 
Seats2meet facilities at three stations, Regus | NS station2sta-
tion facilities at eleven stations and NS Hispeed Lounges with 
work and meeting facilities at three stations.

Sustainable procurement
NS spends over €1 billion a year on goods and services from 
third parties. We examine whether the sustainability themes 
(people, planet or profit) are relevant in every single one of 
our European tenders. In 2013, that turned out to be the case 
for half of them. All tenders (100%) in this category of 
European tenders had one or more relevant sustainability 
aspects included as a selection criterion. Examples:
•	 In the European tender for the new generation of Sprinter 

trains, sustainability was included in various aspects of the 
technical specification, such as the requirement that 95% of 
the materials should be recyclable.

•	  In the European tender for the daily cleaning and mainte-
nance, we set requirements for the tenderer concerning 
working conditions, such as pay, training and language. 
The tenderer must satisfy the Code Verantwoordelijk Marktge-
drag in de Schoonmaak en Glazenwasserbranche (responsible 
market conduct code in the cleaning and window-cleaning 
sector).

•	  In the tender for two technical centres for NedTrain, we 
use the CO2 performance ladder. Sustainability is also an 
aspect in the design of the building and in the setup of the 

€

P P P
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tion. As part of the implementation, all purchasers within  
NS are taking a training module on Ethics & Compliance, and 
attention is being paid to the importance of the proper 
observance of the policy.

Manifesto for Socially Responsible Procurement
NS is also one of the signatories of the Manifest Maatschappelijk 
Verantwoord Inkopen en Ondernemen (Manifesto for socially 
responsible procurement and business practices). Thirty-eight 
large companies have now joined us. We ask our suppliers to 
submit a statement about how they deal with corporate social 
responsibility. The methods they use, the priorities and the 
reporting on the results are the responsibility of the suppliers 
themselves. Given the scale of the requirements of NS for each 
supply chain, NS will join in the initiatives within the sector 
concerned in most cases. Sector-specific criteria are used in 
tenders. NS has more influence in some cases and can play a 
leading role. An example of a leading role taken by NS is its 
role as initiator of the Responsible Market Conduct Code in the 
cleaning and window-cleaning sector. An extension of this 
code to include other forms of outsourcing services is currently 
being prepared.

 

Low Car Diet: cooperation 
with other carriers
In October, a hundred senior executives 
accompanied by seven hundred 
employees took part in the Low Car 
Diet, an action in which they made little 
or no use of a car for a period of ten 
days. Low Car Diet is a collaborative 
venture involving NS and Urgenda, 
Connexxion, Arriva, GVB, Veolia, 
SnappCar, Greenwheels and Regus | NS 
station2station. In total, the participants 
avoided 143,600 car-kilometres; this 
was the equivalent of 20,000 kg of CO

2 

emissions.
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COST-CONSCIOUS
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Financial position and results from operating 
activities
Our financial position needs to be sound if we are to achieve 
all our ambitions. In addition, investments must produce 
sufficient returns to ensure the company’s continued exis-
tence. This is also in the public interest. The result from 
operating activities in 2013 was a loss of €64 million, 
compared with a profit of €354 million in 2012. Revenue fell 
by €32 million and expenses rose by €386 million in 2013 
compared with 2012.
In June, NS announced its decision to stop using the V250 
rolling stock. In 2013, a net impairment loss (downward 
valuation of assets) of €125 million was recognised for this. 
This loss is made up of the amounts already paid less the 
associated bank guarantees. Furthermore, we made an 
addition of €110 million to the provision for HSL South in 
2013. So a total of €235 million in charges was recognised  
in 2013. On the other hand, in 2013 we charged costs of  
€207 million to the provision formed for the loss-making 
operation of HSL South. The operating result in 2013 was 
lower than in 2012 mainly because of the impairment loss 
and the addition to the provision. Even without these items, 
the operating result would have fallen due to the increase in 
costs for passenger transport and the lower growth in 
domestic passenger numbers.

Total revenue
NS’s revenues were €4,606 million in 2013 as opposed to 
€4,638 million in 2012.
 
Revenue from passenger transport
Revenue from passenger transport increased by €59 million 
to €3,936 million. Transport on the domestic network  
as provided by NS Reizigers increased by €40 million to 
€2,015 million. The increase was mainly due to higher 
revenue from the sale of singles and returns. Revenue from 
domestic and international (cross-border) transport by NS 
Hispeed was less in 2013; this was because of the Benelux 
line being discontinued and the Amsterdam-Brussels Fyra 
connection being suspended. The revenue was €163 million 
in 2013 (€185 million in 2012). The revenue from passenger 
transport in other countries provided by Abellio was  
€1,596 million in 2013. This is €75 million more than in 
2012, primarily because the Abellio Greater Anglia franchise 
was in operation throughout 2013; this franchise started in 
February 2012.

Amounts in millions of euros

+354 

-64
20132012

Loss over 2013 
€43 million
Pro�t 2012 
€263 million

Operating result 2013

Loss in 2013

€

Specification of operating income 2013 2012

€ % € %

Revenue from passenger transport 3,936 85% 3,877 84%

Revenue from hub development and 
operation

708 15% 809 17%

Revenue from other activities 73 2% 58 1%

Intra-group eliminations -111 -2% -106 -2%

4,606 100% 4,638 100%

Passenger 
transport
85% 

Amounts in millions of euros
Revenues in 2013

4,606

Hub development 
and operation 15%
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Revenue from hub development and operation
Revenue from hub development and operation fell by  
€101 million to €708 million. This decrease is largely the 
consequence of the sale of the Stadskantoor municipal offices 
in Utrecht in 2012.

Other activities
The ‘other activities’ include supporting business units in 
addition to the holding company management and staff.

Operating costs
NS’s operating expenses rose from €4,284 million in 2012 to 
€4,670 million in 2013, largely because of the downward 
revaluation of the V250 rolling stock. Furthermore, a net 
amount of €97 million was withdrawn in 2013 from the 
provision made previously for the operation of HSL South.  
In 2012 a net amount of €12 million was transferred to the 
provision.
Wages, salaries and social security charges rose by 5% from 
€1,390 million in 2012 to €1,456 million in 2013. In 2013,  
€60 million was paid in pension contributions for staff 
covered by NS’s own and other collective labour agreements 
(€44 million in 2012). Two thirds of the pension contribution 
remitted for staff covered by the NS collective labour agree-
ment is borne by the company and one third by the employees.
The depreciation, amortisation and impairment costs have 
risen compared with 2012. This is primarily due to the 
downward revaluation of the V250 rolling stock.
The costs for the use of raw materials and consumables, 
stocks and energy as well as the costs of subcontracted work 
have decreased when compared with 2012. This is largely 
caused by lower levels of activity in the hub development and 
operation segment. The other operating expenses have risen 
due to additions to provisions.

Rail infrastructure access charges
The overall access charges for the rail infrastructure (infra-
structure levy) increased by €87 million to €638 million  
(€551 million in 2012). The access charges for the rail 
infrastructure in the Netherlands rose from €314 million  
to €358 million, due to an increase in the rates and the  

Breakdown of operating expenses 2013 2012

€ % € %

Wages, salaries and social security charges 1,456 31% 1,390 32%

Staff hired in 99 2% 120 3%

Other personnel expenses 76 2% 96 2%

Depreciation and exceptional reductions  
in value

626 13% 364 9%

Raw materials, consumables, stocks  
and energy

549 12% 565 13%

Subcontracted work and other external costs 515 11% 558 13%

Infrastructure levy 638 14% 551 13%

Other operating expenses 711 15% 640 15%

Total operating expenses 4,670 100% 4,284 100%

Amounts in millions of euros
Investments by NS

Investments were made in 
particular in upgrades to the 
Intercity rolling stock

430
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explains the overall cash flow from investment activities of 
€305 million (€367 million in 2012).
The dividend payment of €92 million (€74 million in 2012) 
has been included as a cash flow from financing activities. 
The above flows resulted in a negative cash flow of  
€26 million (in 2012 there was a positive cash flow of  
€413 million). The working capital rose by €192 million  
(a fall of €392 million in 2012).

Equity
At the end of the year under review, equity was €3,044 million 
(€3,168 million in 2012). Last year, a dividend of €92 million 
was paid to the government (as the shareholder) on the profit 
for 2012. The loss of €43 million for the period under review 
was recognised in the equity. Solvency, at 47%, was down on 
last year (51% in 2012).

key financial figures for 2012 and 2011 2013 2012

Equity

Capital base/total assets 47% 51%

Current assets/current liabilities 1.1 1.0

Working capital1 -976 -1,168

Total assets      6,487      6,253 

Profitability   

Result from operating activities/revenue 
(ROS)

-1.4% 7.6%

Result from operating activities/average 
invested capital (ROI)2

-1.4% 8.0%

Profit for the period/average equity (ROE) -1.4% 8.6%

1  Working capital: inventories plus current receivables minus 
current liabilities.

2  Invested capital: total assets less non-interest-bearing 
current liabilities.

TOP Programme
In 2011, NS had a benchmark study carried out to evaluate 
the quality and costs of the supporting services at NS (Fin-
ance, IT, HR and Purchasing). It showed that there is potential 
for improvement in these departments by standardising 
policy and working methods, looking for economies of scale, 
and utilising synergy. The TOP Programme started in 2013 
and will run for five years (2013-2017). It is intended to yield 
savings of approximately €100 million per year from 2017 
onwards, partly from savings on both hired-in and internal 
staff, and partly from savings on purchasing.

NedTrain external market
NedTrain has made various bids for the maintenance, 
servicing and overhaul of trains. In October, NSB (the 
Norwegian rail company) announced that it would be 
awarding NedTrain the contract for the overhaul of its 
Intercity carriages.
 
 

access charge for the high-speed line.
The access charges in Britain totalled €259 million  
(€217 million in 2012) and the charges for the German rail 
infrastructure were €21 million (€20 million in 2012).

Net finance income
The net finance income was a negative amount of €26 million 
(negative amount of €25 million in 2012).

Tax
The effective tax rate for the result before corporate income 
tax was 51.7%, compared with 20.3% in 2012. Corporate 
income tax of €46 million was liable for 2013 (€67 million in 
2012). The corporate income tax was calculated on the basis 
of the applicable tax rates, taking the tax rules into account. 
The tax rules include participation exemption, tax compensa-
tion of losses and the notional addition for costs that are only 
deductible to a limited extent.

Loss for the period and appropriation of the loss
There was a loss of €43 million in 2013. A profit of €263 
million was achieved in 2012. It is proposed that the loss for 
the reporting period of €43 million should be charged to the 
reserves.

Investments
NS invested €430 million in 2013 (€493 million in 2012), 
mainly on upgrades to the Intercity rolling stock. NS Stations 
invested in property projects in Rotterdam, Breda, Utrecht, 
Amsterdam and elsewhere, as well as in national and interna-
tional retail formats. NedTrain also made investments in 
workshops and systems. A priority for the maintenance 
company in 2013 was the implementation of Maximo SAP. 
This meant that we were able to replace ageing systems so 
that from 2013 staff have modern resources, including iPads 
for mechanics, to support the work processes. NedTrain has 
therefore laid the foundations that will let it further improve 
its work processes and enable the effective, efficient deploy-
ment of rolling stock. We have also set up separate rolling 
stock teams for each train series. Considerable demands were 
made on our staff during the implementation of Maximo but 
it was a success thanks to the right prioritisation, and 
additional withdrawals of rolling stock from the train service 
were kept low. At the end of 2013, NS had €1,150 million in 
cash and cash equivalents and financial investments. This is 
partly intended for the financing of future investments in 
trains and stations.

Financing
The net cash flow from operating activities was €429 million 
(€901 million in 2012). Investments required a net outgoing 
cash flow of €340 million (€478 million in 2012). The transfer 
from deposits to cash came to €47 million in 2012  
(€130 million in 2012). This transfer has been classified as 
part of the cash flow from investment activities, which partly 
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Six strategic themes.
Our strategy describes how we plan to achieve our ambition. 
We have identified six strategic themes. Three of these themes 
shape our ambitions: ‘The customer is king’,‘We think from 
door to door’ and ‘We work throughout Europe’.  
The other three themes are the success factors that let us 
achieve results in these areas: ‘We can make the difference 
together’, ‘We look after our environment’ and ‘We are 
cost-conscious’.

The customer is king
We are nothing without our customers. Their satisfaction 
determines our success. We look to respond to their questions 
and preferences hospitably and proactively. It is crucially 
important that NS knows its customers well in order to be able 
to respond to their wishes. 
We make sure our services offer a positive overall experience. 
We aim to do a good job and build up a reputation that reflects 
this. Our goal is for 80% of our passengers to give us  
a score of 7 out of 10 or higher.

Our view of the future
There is much more diversity in society. Individuals’ wishes 
and the public interest are pulling in different directions more 
than ever before. Ecological and social objectives are just as 
critical for companies as financial ones. The ageing population 
profile means that society is in less of a hurry. Individuals’ 
needs and requirements demand freedom of movement for 
meeting others, for working and for recreation. Ease, comfort 
and freedom of choice are key to this. Access to information, 
anywhere and at any time, is crucial.
People in this society want to travel around effortlessly 
without having to think. Travelling is fast, safe, convenient 
and possible at any time. NS wants to help achieve this and 
ensure the sustainable accessibility of destinations. To achieve 
this, NS extends its scope beyond the train to provide combina-
tions of private and public transport with smooth connections 
between the train, car, bus, tram, metro and bicycle. NS aims 
to evolve into a service provider that makes seamless door-to-
door journeys possible for its customers by organising journeys 
from departure to destination that are comfortable, safe, 
accessible, sustainable and efficient, and by giving customers 
the option of ‘smart’ travel based on the latest information.

Our mission
The mission of NS is to keep transporting more passengers 
safely, punctually and comfortably via attractive stations.

Our ambition
It is our aim to be a customer-driven, national and European 
multimodal service provider.
 

OUR STRATEGY
People want to be able to move about freely as this is part and parcel of our  

society and a precondition for a growing economy. NS transports people to where 

they need to be, enables them to meet each other and contributes to the progress 

of society. NS has been doing this for over 175 years and aims to continue making 

this contribution in future.

Refinement of the strategy
At the end of 2013, we started work on refining our 
strategy. The outcomes of this process will be embedded 
in our organisation in 2014. On page 55 you will find a 
selection of the most significant results we have achieved 
over the past five years with our current strategy.
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We think from door to door
The train is only part of the customer’s journey, which is 
why we also want to make the journey to and from the 
station easy and comfortable. Our stations should be 
pleasant places where passengers can spend their time 
usefully thanks to the right balance between travelling and 
staying, shopping and services.

To achieve this, we are collaborating with local partners to 
ensure sufficient parking spaces for bicycles and cars. 
Together with other carriers, we are making changeovers to 
the tram, bus and metro and international connections 
more convenient with coordinated timetables and with a 
single means of payment for Dutch public transport: the 
OV-chipkaart public transport smartcard. We give our 
customers up-to-date journey information, at home and en 
route, and offer additional travel options such as the 
OV-fiets and NS Zonetaxi. Our aim is to encourage even 
more people to use public transport.

We work throughout Europe
We can learn from the rest of Europe and strengthen our 
position in the Netherlands by working and doing business 
in other countries. The public transport market in Europe is 
being deregulated. Legislation is an important driver of 
deregulation. There are now a number of large pan-Euro-
pean multimodal public transport players. NS has decided to 
exploit these opportunities by playing an active part in 
Europe itself and using that experience to enrich the 
services it provides in the Netherlands. We are doing this by 

Werk

20132012201120102009

5 YEARS OF NS STRATEGY

Abellio Greater 
Anglia franchise 

in Britain

Fyra
service 

withdrawn

NedRailways 
becomes

Start of Thalys
Amsterdam

- Paris
on HSL South

Sprinter 
Light Train 
introduced

      € 873 million

Public transport 
smartcard 
introduced

Station2station 
workplaces 

opened

11x

New season 
tickets

+ 60.000
season ticket 

holders

More than 
50% 

passengers use 
public transport 

smartcards
shops 

opened in  NL

55
Partnership

with 

Start of
TOP 

programme

Minority share
 Acquisition of  
 49% of sharesOCCR

opened

Sale of 
Construction and 

Infrastructure 
segment

bidding for franchises in the deregulated public transport 
and station retail markets. Our aim is to generate  
profit-making turnover in the United Kingdom, Germany, 
Scandinavia, France and Belgium.

We can make the difference together
Our staff with their professional skills are what make NS. 
Each of us can make a difference. Together, we shape NS 
with our hospitality to our passengers and our proactive 
attitude. Demographic trends are leading to a smaller labour 
force. NS is taking mitigating measures in its HR policy with 
targeted recruitment, in-house training, increasing conside-
ration for the commitment of its staff, diversity, retention of 
professional skills and the development of talent. We help 
our customers get ahead by collaborating with other parties 
in the rail sector. We aim to be one of the top ten employers 
in the Dutch labour market.

We look after our environment
We have made sustainable travel our business. Everybody 
benefits from responsible treatment of our energy consump-
tion, our environment and each other. We are aware of our 
social and ecological responsibility and act accordingly. We 
are working on initiatives to limit our CO2 emissions per 
passenger. The worldwide growth in production and 
consumption is leading to pressure on scarce raw materials 
and on our climate. That is why we use our raw materials in 
a smart, responsible manner and why we look for sustaina-
ble solutions for our waste. We aim to be one of the top ten 
most sustainable companies in the Netherlands.
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It is important for NS to respond 
appropriately to developments and 
events that could affect our customers 
and operations. There are a number of 
developments and trends in our 
domain that constitute a challenge for 
NS. The persistent financial crisis in 
the Eurozone led to unpredictable 
economic and political conditions in 
2013. In the transport market, the 
European Commission is continuing 
to promote far-reaching competition 
with its proposals for the Fourth 
European Railway Package, by 
opening up national markets and 
through interoperability in the  
European rail network. The European 
Parliament and the Council of the 
European Union still need to take a 
decision on this, however. Continuous 
urbanisation is leading to increasing 
demand for mobility in the Randstad 
conurbation, whereas a reduction in 
demand is expected in regions in 
decline. It is important for passengers 
that there is proper coordination of 
the connections between different 
modes of public transport.
That requires close collaboration 
between carriers. New technology is 
an integral part of daily life and means 
consumers are increasingly well 
informed. Social media help compa-
nies and consumers exchange 
information.

Innovative technology is also leading 
to shifts in working patterns and as a 
result in mobility requirements: 
people are changing when and where 
they work. Public transport companies 
and the parties granting franchises will 
need to respond appropriately to the 
changes in the demand for public 
transport.
The explosive global growth in 
production and consumption is 
putting increasing pressure on natural 
resources and the climate. The 
demand for renewable energy is taking 
off. Consumers want to use their 
choice of transport to make an impact 
on their environment. Other than 
cycling and walking, the train is the 
most energy-efficient form of transport.
Finally, our SWOT analysis shows 
there is an important opportunity for 
NS: there is a demand among passen-
gers for door-to-door transport 
solutions. NS is taking advantage of 
this with various developments in the 
transport chain. We are doing this 
either on our own (OV-fiets, Qbuzz) 
or jointly with other carriers or service 
providers. NS is setting the trend 
internationally in this regard. It is a 
challenge for NS to achieve our 
punctuality targets every day on the 
busy, complex Dutch rail network, and 
the reality of day-to-day events 
means we do not always manage this.

Responding to 
developments

We are cost-conscious
Passengers want value for money. An awareness of profitabi-
lity in our work will ensure that NS has a future. We provide 
a public service, and do so on a commercial basis. We 
cannot control all the relevant factors. Therefore, if we are 
to safeguard our return on investment, it is important that 
we control our costs and increase our productivity. To keep 
improving in this respect, we are focusing on portfolio and 
project management and also continuing to perfect and 
increase the professionalism of our supporting services and 
processes throughout NS. We aim to achieve a return of 10% 
on our investments in order to remain financially healthy.
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ANALYSIS OF OUR IMPACT ON THE  

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIETY

For a sustainable strategy, we aim to create the maximum possible stakeholder 

value by increasing our positive impact and reducing our negative impact in the 

social (people), ecological (planet) and economic (profit) domains. To get a  

better understanding of how NS can achieve this, we made a start this year on 

quantifying our value to society at large.

The material relevance analysis (Chapter 2) shows the themes 
where our stakeholders see us as having value or making a 
contribution. By providing information about our impact on 
the materially relevant themes, we can enter into a dialogue 
with our stakeholders about those themes and target our 
efforts to increase our positive impact and decrease our 
negative impact.

Scope
We have quantified our impact in part on the basis of 
external studies, and the findings have been verified by an 
external organisation (see www.ns.nl/mvoberekeningen, in 
Dutch). NS is adopting a growth model. We aim to extend the 
scope in the next few years and include as many materially 
relevant indicators as possible in the calculation of our value 
to society. This year, we started by quantifying our impact on 

Overview of the scope

Impact of NS operations 
in the Netherlands 

The selected indicators are in line with the 
material relevance analysis.

Environment CO2 emissions and other forms of air 
pollution, waste, water consumption, 

land use and noise

Social Punctuality, personal safety, employment, 
professionalism (training), sickness absence, 

diversity and health and safety

Inexpensive Salaries, investments, purchasing, dividend 
payments and tax
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the environment. The indicators for our social and economic 
impact will also be included in the calculation in the future 
but are described qualitatively this year.
 

Impact on the environment
Based on our impact analysis, we have calculated that the 
biggest contribution to our negative impact comes from CO2 
emissions (about 80%), related to the operation of our trains. 
This impact has been calculated by multiplying our indirect 
absolute CO2 emissions by the social costs of CO2 using the 
figures of the US Environmental Protection Agency. The 
remaining portion of our negative environmental impact 
(about 20%) consists of other forms of air pollution (NOx, SO2 
and particulate matter, about 5%), land use (about 7%), noise 
(about 7%), waste and water.

At NS, we are aiming  reduce our negative impact by beco-
ming climate neutral (0g CO2 and zero air pollution per 
passenger-kilometre). We want to do this by reducing our 
energy consumption per passenger-kilometre as much as 
possible (by 5% per year up to 2016) and by using energy for 
our operations that has been generated in a sustainable 
manner. We also want our trains to run as quietly as possible. 
Furthermore, we want to reduce our waste as much as 
possible and convert it into raw materials, not just because of 
the environmental impact but also because this reduces the 
visible waste at stations and in the trains for our customers 
(see the section ‘We look after our environment’). If we 
achieve our ambitions, what will remain is the environmental 
impact of land use and water. We are investigating the 
consequences and risks of our ambitions regarding the 
environmental impact so that we can arrive at well-founded 
decisions. The value of our negative impact at present is 
around €59 million. However, travelling by train has a 
relatively low negative impact on the environment in 
comparison with journeys using modes of transport such as 
the car. NS can reduce the relative negative environmental 
impact for society as a whole by persuading ‘discriminating 
passengers’ to opt for the train rather than the car. A ‘discri-
minating passenger’ is one who is willing and able to make a 
choice between the car and the train for their journey. We 
calculate the relative positive impact by multiplying the 
number of passenger-kilometres travelled by ‘discriminating 
passengers’ in 2013 by the difference between the direct 
environmental impact of (domestic) train-kilometres and that 
of car-kilometres. Train-kilometres have a much lower 
environmental impact than car-kilometres due to lower CO2 
emissions (75% less) and particulate emissions. Our calculati-
ons show that our relative positive impact is approximately 
€60 million.

Our relative positive impact depends on the number of NS 
train passenger-kilometres, the proportion of ‘discriminating 
passengers’ and the difference between train-kilometres and 
car-kilometres in their environmental impact. NS is continu-
ally working to improve our services in order to encourage 
passenger to use the train more often and therefore to 
increase our positive impact.
We aim to achieve this goal together with our staff and other 
stakeholders such as our suppliers.
We want to encourage them to develop sustainable innovati-
ons in partnership with NS in order to further improve our 
services.
In the next few years we also want to include Abellio UK in 
this analysis of the negative and relative positive impacts.
Abellio UK accounts for more than 90% of our foreign 
operations. An initial estimate based on the most significant 
environmental effect (i.e. CO2) suggests that our negative 
environmental impact in other countries is about €25 million.

Social impact
Our services have both a positive and a negative social impact 
on society. We want to quantify that impact in the years to 
come. This year, we will give a brief description of both the 
positive indicators and the negative indicators, and explain 
what kind of impact the indicators have on society. NS has a 
social impact on society because NS has so many employees. 
Sickness among employees, industrial accidents, and the 
discrimination or intimidation of employees have a negative 
impact. These aspects affect the welfare of our employees and 
result in health costs for society. We seek to reduce these 
effects by means of vitality programmes, complaints commit-
tees and confidential counsellors. In addition, agreements 
have been made about curbing aggression and measures 
taken to improve health and safety.
NS has a positive impact on society through the development 
of its employees in the form of knowledge, skills and compe-
tences and because it fosters a diverse and inclusive organisa-
tion in which everyone feels welcome. The benefits to society 
lie in the development of employment, the increase in the 
economic value of the potential labour and contributions to 
emancipation, training and the labour participation of 
women in the Netherlands. Initiatives designed to increase 
this positive impact are detailed in the section ‘We can make 
the difference together’. They include internal training for NS 
employees. NS offers young technical students studying for 
senior secondary vocational qualifications the possibility of 
being trained and a job at NS. The benefits this has for society 
lie in the improved fit between education and the labour 
market in the technology sector and a reduction in the 
shortage of technical staff.

CO2

+ -
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NS also has a social impact on society through its many 
customers (1.2 million journeys a day). Their encounters 
during a journey or at the station have a positive value. 
However, there is a negative effect if our operational  
performance does not live up to expectations or what was 
promised. Trains that do not run on time (punctuality) and 
customers who feel unsafe can also be seen as a negative 
social impact. The measures NS is taking to influence that 
impact are described in the section ‘The customer is king’.

Economic impact
NS has an economic impact on society through its own expen-
diture, for example on salaries, investments, purchases and 
dividend payments and taxation (see table). The benefits to 
society from this expenditure lie in a contribution to the 
economy by creating economic activity and consequently 
jobs, for instance among our suppliers and their suppliers.  
In addition, the salaries paid to our staff contribute to 
expenditure on goods and services in the Netherlands.  
People are also able to undertake economic activities in 
different places thanks to our mobility services.
We have described the measures NS is taking to reduce its 
costs in the section ‘We are cost-conscious’.

Corporate 
income tax

Income tax Turnover tax 
(VAT)

Netherlands -16 -370 2

Germany -   -3 5

Ireland 0 -1 0

UK -4 -106 119

Total -20 -480 126

- = cash out     + = cash in     In millions of euros

External environment

INPUT OUTCOME

Financial
The sole shareholder of NS is the Dutch State. 
Equity position, capital/loan commitments 
and revenue are described in the �nancial 
statements.

Produced
NS spends about €1 billion a year on goods 
and services from third parties, more than 
half of which is for trains (parts), building and 
infrastructure, IT and energy. NS primarily 
buys its services in the Netherlands (more 
than 80%) which are also produced in the 
Netherlands, and purchases goods that are 
primarily manufactured in Western Europe 
(also more than 80%).

Intellectual
Knowledge and training (universities, 
training programmes) to guarantee the 
innovative and unique aspects of our 
business processes (such as logistics) 
for the company. This lets us 
safeguard our innovative capability 
and get the maximum bene�t from 
our unique characteristics.

Human capital
32,000 employees and suppliers’ 
employees.

Social aspects 
and relationships
We consult regularly with our stakeholders 
to bolster their involvement.

Natural
Electricity 1.4 TWh, raw materials, 
land ownership (2000 hectares); 
see ns.nl/mvoberekeningen.

Financial
Economic impact of investments, 

dividend, tax, salaries based on 
additional jobs for suppliers. Econo-
mic impact through the provision of 

reliable (punctual) transport.

Produced
1.2 million train journeys a day (about 

10% of the passenger-kilometres in the 
Netherlands). Accessibility, purposeful 

and pleasant use of time during journey 
and at stations.

Intellectual
Better educated employees and 

innovations that help our 
door-to-door strategy and strategic 
partnerships such as that with HTM.

Human capital
Healthy, safe employees. Greater 

emancipation and labour participation 
of women and people who are 

isolated from the labour market.

Social aspects 
and relationships

Encounters and connections, a safe form 
of mobility. Pleasant journeys together.

Natural
A clean form of mobility.

Opportunities 
and risks

Core 
activities 

Company pro�le

Performance
Report on the activities

Future 
prospects

Output
 “Connecting 

our materially relevant 
themes to our KPIs 

and strategy”

Strategy 
and instruments

Mission & Vision

Governance

VALUE CREATION MODEL
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control can offer an absolute guarantee that we will achieve 
our business objectives, avoid losses and fraud or prevent any 
violation of legislation and regulations. For instance, NS is 
particularly vulnerable to the weather and forces of nature, 
as was demonstrated in the storm of 28 October 2013 with 
the associated damage to trains and stations. We cannot 
prevent this, but we can ensure that the impact is kept to  
a minimum.
The Executive Board reports to the Supervisory Board and 
gives an account of the system of risk management and 
internal control after discussing this with the Supervisory 
Board’s Audit Committee.
In view of the above, we feel that these systems of risk 
management and internal control concerning the financial 
reporting risks in the financial year functioned satisfactorily 
and give a reasonable degree of certainty that the financial 
reports do not contain any material misstatements.

The Executive Board states that as far as it is aware
•	  the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

assets, liabilities, financial position and profits of NS and 
the companies included in the consolidation as a whole;

•	  the annual report gives a true and fair view of the situation 
on the balance sheet date and the course of business during 
the financial year;

•	  the annual report contains a description of the principal 
risks facing NS.

The Executive Board is responsible for determining what risks 
are acceptable (what is termed the risk acceptance). In making 
these decisions, we consider the relationship between a 
reliable, safe service for customers, visitors and staff on the 
one hand and, on the other, the consequences for the financial 
position of NS. The various business units’ reports on these 
risks to the Executive Board and management, and discussing 
the risks with the NS Executive Board and the Group Council is 
an integral part of the planning and control cycle.

System of risk management and internal control
The Executive Board is responsible for setting up and testing 
the performance of systems for risk management and 
internal control. The purpose of these systems is to identify 
significant risks and to identify and ensure the desired degree 
of control.
The system of risk management and internal control is geared 
to giving the Executive Board and management information on 
the status and development of the management of significant 
risks for NS. Risk management helps the Executive Board 
achieve its business objectives. The aim is to minimise the risk 
of making errors, taking the wrong decisions and being taken 
by surprise by unforeseen circumstances. It is not possible to 
guarantee the complete elimination of a risk. Neither can the 
possibility be excluded of NS being exposed to risks that are 
not yet known or that are not (yet) considered significant.
Furthermore, no system of risk management and internal 

MANAGING 
RISKS
NS performs risk analyses annually. These tell us what our key risks are.  

We subdivide these risks into strategic, operational, financial, reporting and  

compliance risks. The Executive Board actively monitors these risks and  

determines how to improve their management.
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•	  Continuity of franchises that have consequences for the 
confidence of key stakeholders in NS.

NS derives its right to exist from the trust placed in us by our 
stakeholders – passengers, other carriers, governmental 
authorities, suppliers, staff and so on. Incidents potentially 
have a negative impact on our company and our reputation: 
our ability to obtain new franchises could be adversely 
affected, it could result in the withdrawal of our current 
licences to operate and it could restrict our access to the 
capital market.
In 2012, the government published the policy plan to award 
the franchise for the Dutch main rail network up to 2025 to 
NS. The franchise includes transport on the high-speed line. 
In view of the withdrawal of the V250 train sets, NS came up 
with a proposal in October 2013 for a commensurate alterna-
tive. The Lower House voted in favour of the alternative being 
offered by a large majority. The formal settlement and award 
of the new franchise for the main rail network/HSL for 
2015-2024 by the Ministry of Infrastructure is expected in the 
summer of 2014. Fulfilling all the franchise agreements on 
time and satisfactorily is a considerable challenge.

Principal risk factors
The Executive Board has identified strategic, operational, 
financial, reporting and compliance risks that could affect the 
achievement of the NS’s objectives.

The aim of the risk policy regarding the financial risks is to 
identify and analyse the risks facing NS, determine appropri-
ate risk limits and controls and monitor compliance with the 
limits. The policy and systems for financial risk management 
are evaluated regularly and adjusted where necessary to take 
account of changes in market conditions and the activities of 
NS. The risk policy pursued for controlling financial risks 
(including market risks, credit risks and liquidity risks) is 
described in detail in the section entitled Financial Risk 
Management (page 119).
The financial consequences of the legal claims and disputes 
known to us have been recognised in the financial statements 
in accordance with the applicable reporting rules. We have 
defined indicators that let us track the development in the 
above risk factors over time. On that subject, see the KPIs on 
page 19.

Strategic risks
Strategic risks are those risks that relate to our operations  
in the longer term, for instance risks that affect continuity  
or concern changes in the market, and financing risks.  
We identified the following strategic risks for 2013.

Impact Likelihood

Strategic risks

Continuity of franchise(s)

Current risk pro�leSigni�cant risks

H L

European strategy H M

Long-term Rail Agenda H M

NS’s �nancial position H H

Operational risks

Safety H M  L

Journey information H M

IT continuity H M

Financial risks

Resolution of Fyra H M

Reporting risks

Provision of incorrect information L L

Compliance risks

Non-compliance with legislation and regulations M L

High Medium LowH M L
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respect to our best estimates for a range of different 
scenarios.
Abellio has two fully-fledged bid teams for bids for European 
franchises, with support from local consultants. When 
assessing these bids, NS considers not just the financial 
results but also the potential benefits to passengers in the 
Netherlands. For example, we gain experience in reducing 
costs, creating customer-oriented solutions and punctuality 
from operating in a competitive, commercial environment. 
On page 35 in the annual report, we give some examples  
of tools we use that have been implemented in the  
Netherlands.

•	  NS operates in a highly regulated market that is due to 
change radically in the next few years (Long-term Rail 
Agenda).

The State Secretary for Infrastructure and the Environment 
aims to inform the Lower House in the course of 2014 about 
how the objectives and ambitions for the rail sector will be 
put into practice in the period up to 2028 (Long-term Rail 
Agenda). The Ministry’s goal is to improve the quality of rail 
transport to such an extent that even more passengers and 
freight companies choose to use the train. This raises the 
issue of how to organise and structure this increase. The 
Long-term Rail Agenda is also affected by the European 
Commission’s proposal to open up national rail markets 
from 2019 (the EU’s Fourth Railway Package). It is currently 
unclear how the EU’s proposal will be incorporated in the 
Long-term Rail Agenda. The Cabinet has indicated that it 
does not as yet accept the European Commission’s view of 
the advantages. Another argument that has considerable 
weight in the Cabinet’s position is the lack of a level playing 
field in Europe. The choices the government makes will 
have an impact on the extent to which NS is able to realise 
its strategy. In addition, NS’s ability to gain experience in 
competitive markets in other countries will affect its ability 
to operate successfully in a competitive Dutch market.

Measure:
In this dialogue with the Ministries of Infrastructure and  
the Environment and Finance, we seek to develop broad 
acceptance of the NS strategy by sharing our views on public 
transport in the Netherlands and Europe and obtaining 
support for NS operations outside the Netherlands. This 
includes the role of stations. Stations are crucial as public 
transport hubs in the door-to-door strategy and are an 
essential element in the effort to get more people to opt for 
public transport. In the past period, NS and ProRail have 
worked together on the ‘Railway Master Plan’ project. 
The aim is to jointly make further improvements to railway 
performance from the point of view of passengers and 
shipping companies. Some of the aspects covered were 
controlling and making adjustments to train traffic, collabo-
ration at stations and operational cooperation between the 
rail parties.

Measure:
NS holds regular meetings with the Ministry of Infrastruc-
ture and the Environment, the national public transport 
users’ forum LOCOV and other stakeholders. In these 
meetings, the parties inform each other of the possible 
consequences of planned choices. NS is undertaking various 
activities in order to fulfil the franchise requirements for 
the period 2015-2025. Some examples are the integration of 
the business units NS Reizigers and NS Hispeed, the develop-
ment of an integrated timetable, adapting the current 
rolling stock and purchasing new trains for the high-speed 
line. By tackling these activities in good time and regularly 
consulting with its stakeholder, NS ensures it remains well 
informed about the preferences and expectations. This also 
has a positive impact on stakeholder’s trust in NS. We 
explicitly take account of the factor ‘reputation’ in our 
decision-making processes and implementation, within 
certain financial limits, to enable integrated management 
based on a balance between performance, expectations and 
customer experience.

•	 Further deregulation of the European rail market offers 
NS opportunities for using experience acquired abroad to 
improve services in the Netherlands. However, deregula-
tion is also leading to increasing competition in the 
Netherlands, which may put pressure on financial results.

NS operates in selected countries in the European market 
for train and bus franchises and the operation of stations. If 
NS is to achieve its European strategy, it is important that 
these operations are on a sufficient scale and that they 
generate operational profits. Furthermore, NS will constant-
ly point out the benefits of its European activities to its 
stakeholders so that they remain aware of the advantages of 
its operations abroad.
In the United Kingdom, the Department of Transport has 
decided to extend the franchise period for our current 
Northern Rail and Abellio Greater Anglia franchises. The 
Department of Transport in the United Kingdom also decided 
to resume the tender process for a number of rail franchises 
in 2013. Both decisions have a positive impact on our ability 
to realise our European strategy. In Germany, NS won three 
train franchises with terms of twelve to fifteen years.

Measure:
All the franchises that may be put out to tender in the 
European market in the next few years are identified and 
prioritised based on the NS strategy and taking into account 
the boundary conditions the shareholder has set for NS. A 
franchise must make a positive contribution to the financial 
results of NS and must have a relatively low risk profile. 
When implementing our foreign strategy, we make sure 
Dutch interests are safeguarded as specified in the Cabinet’s 
policy on participating interests. We have implemented a 
quantitative risk model for franchise bids. This model 
reveals the possible positive and negative deviations with 
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past showed that improvements can be made. Despite the 
current measures to reduce the number of signals passed at 
danger (SPADs), there is still a risk of an accident, albeit 
small. It is also important for the continuity van our services 
that we offer our staff a safe working environment.

Measure:
Safety occupies a prominent place in our business operati-
ons. We collaborate closely with other parties such as 
ProRail and the Human Environment and Transport Inspec-
torate.
To improve rail safety, NS is working with ProRail and other 
carriers on an improvement programme aimed at further 
reducing the number of SPADs on the track. The Ministry 
for Infrastructure and the Environment is also involved in 
this programme. In 2013, an ERTMS trial started on the 
Utrecht-Amsterdam route. This European Rail Traffic 
Management System is expected to improve safety on the 
track. Furthermore, there were tests in 2013 of the ORBIT 
and Routelint systems, which give the driver information 
about the signals for instance. In addition to the aforementi-
oned systems, NS is also making modifications to the train 
interior that should reduce the severity of injuries in the 
event of a collision. Some examples are the installation of 
different tables and the removal of reading lights. We are 
currently investigating whether additional measures could 
be implemented.
In 2013, the existing rail safety management systems were 
tightened up so that we could demonstrate more explicitly 
that our processes have been set up to be safe and that we 
respond satisfactorily to risks and incidents. For instance, 
every business unit performs a risk analysis and determines 
whether additional measures are required. In October 2013, 
the Human Environment and Transport Inspectorate, the 
supervisory authority, carried out audits of both NS Reizi-
gers and NS Hispeed. The inspectorate’s audit assessment 
was positive, so that the two companies were able to renew 
their safety certification.
Safety is a matter for every employee at NS. Developments 
in the number of health and safety incidents and the 
preventive and control measures to be taken are discussed 
with the Works Council and trade unions in the regular 
meetings.

•	  The late or incorrect provision of journey information 
during disruptions.

There is an increased need for information if trains fail to 
run because of a major disruption. At the same time, 
providing information that is timely, correct and compre-
hensive becomes incredibly difficult in such a situation.

Measure:
Process improvements were realised in 2013, including the 
transfer of the ProRail activities to NS and more robust 
information systems. As a result we are now better able to 

One of the results of this collaborative project is the 
translation of the Long-term Rail Agenda (LTSA) into 
operational actions, as requested by the Ministry. An initial 
draft version was submitted to the Ministry in December.
In the Netherlands, NS and ProRail are working together to 
improve coordination and control at stations so that they 
can offer passengers more. Because of their complementary 
skill sets, NS and ProRail are able to translate customer 
wishes into actual services and products. They also aim to 
use government budgets in a responsible and transparent 
manner when investing in major infrastructure projects, 
including stations. At the European level, NS works with 
various EU institutions and organisations to build more 
support for the NS strategy.

•	  Lack of financing options, and consequently insufficient 
resources to be able to continue investing.

We aim for a return of 10% on the invested capital so that 
we can achieve our strategic objectives. This result will 
allow NS to continue making investments and retain access 
to the capital market if there is a temporary need for funds. 
Based on the expectations for the coming business-plan 
period, 2014-2017, we will not be able to fully achieve the 
result we want without taking additional measures.

Measure:
In 2013, a start was made on implementing the options for 
making savings that were identified in 2012, for instance in 
the supporting services such as Finance, IT, HR en 
Purchasing. NS is also continually looking to improve the 
efficiency of its core processes. NS expects to be able to 
improve its financial result, in part thanks to these measu-
res. We also expect to be able to maintain our S&P rating of 
at least A in the coming years, which will let us continue to 
have good access to the capital market.

Operating risks
Operating risks are all risks that relate to our processes, 
people and systems, for instance risks that concern safety or 
disruptions. It is becoming increasingly clear that the limits 
of the track capacity have been reached in terms of a fully 
workable timetable. We identified three operating risks for 
2013.

•	  A safety incident that leads to casualties. These casual-
ties can be passengers or employees.

We define a safety incident as an incident that results in one 
or more casualties. Such an incident can be caused by the 
failure of systems or by errors on the part of other employ-
ees, for instance, railway managers or contractors or 
through the aggressive behaviour of passengers towards  
NS staff.
Although the train is already one of the safest means of 
transport, one or two incidents and accidents in the recent 
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confident that the situation could be resolved. Therefore NS 
decided to abandon the introduction of the V250.
That is why we have cancelled the contract with Ansaldo-
Breda and are taking legal steps to reclaim the losses. NS 
does not expect the outcome of these legal proceedings to 
lead to additional losses, in part because NS has a parent 
guarantee from AnsaldoBreda’s parent company. Ansaldo-
Breda has also filed a claim against NS, which is currently 
the subject of legal proceedings.

Measure:
NS is taking advice from reputable specialists at all stages in 
the proceedings in order to minimise the financial conse-
quences for NS.

Reporting risks
Reporting on time and correctly, providing information and 
presenting financial data: the information we publicise must 
be reliable and of good quality. We term the risk that this 
goes wrong a reporting risk.

•	  Giving stakeholders unreliable information.

This is the risk of the financial and non-financial informa-
tion in monthly and quarterly reports and annual reports 
being incomplete, incorrect or not available in good time. 
The non-financial information includes the information 
relating to sustainability. This risk arises when employees or 
systems fail or when processes give insufficient safeguards 
for the quality of the information.

Measure:
We carry out tests on the systems used in the provision of 
information in order to manage the reliability of the 
information provision. Our auditor also audits the financial 
statements every year and performs specific audit activities 
to check the provision of non-financial information. This is 
to check the verifiable and reliable production of selected 
key performance indicators, some of which are reported in 
the annual report.

Compliance risks
Compliance refers to compliance with all legislation and 
regulations.

•	  The risk of a violation of legislation and regulations, 
including the risk of a breach of integrity.

NS operates in a highly regulated environment. In addition 
to the standard legislation and regulations with which all 
organisations have to comply, NS also has to observe 
sector-specific regulations concerning the organisation of 
the market in which it operates because of its public 
function. These regulations are rail safety stipulations, 
environmental legislation and regulations, GRI guidelines, 
and competition legislation. NS is subject to external 
supervision in many of these areas.

advise customers on what to do during a disruption compa-
red with 2012. In 2013, it was clear that customers apprecia-
ted the improvements that had been made. In the case of 
planned changes to the timetable (such as possible modifica-
tions during extreme weather conditions), customers are 
informed one day in advance so that they have the choice of 
taking appropriate action. In the years ahead, we will be 
improving the process of managing and adjusting the train 
services in collaboration with ProRail. An important 
objective here is to increase the speed and reliability of 
adjustments to the service so that passengers know what 
they can expect at an earlier stage and can trust the infor-
mation they receive during disruptions.

•	  Our operations are highly dependent on IT systems. Our 
future performance depends on the successful develop-
ment and implementation of new technologies.

Many of our business processes depend on the availability of 
IT systems for their functioning. Technology and innovation 
are essential for NS. If we do not develop the right technical 
systems or do not implement them (or fail to do so effecti-
vely), this can have a negative impact on our services. We 
operate in an environment in which advanced technologies 
are needed. While these technologies are considered safe for 
the railways based on the current state of knowledge, there 
is always the possibility of unknown or unforeseeable effects 
that could damage our reputation and licence to operate.

Measure:
Our IT systems are increasingly concentrated in terms of 
geography, the number of systems and the main vendors of  
IT services. Like many other multinationals, NS has been the 
target of attempts to obtain unauthorised access to our 
systems via the Internet. NS is investigating these security 
systems in order to prevent a repetition. Disruptions to 
critical IT services or breaches of information security could 
have adverse consequences for NS. At the end of 2013, 
measures were taken to safeguard the continuity in the 
event of a disaster in a data centre for the most business-
critical systems.

Financing risks
Financing risks are the risks that relate to the financial 
results, for example risks resulting from legal disputes.  
We identified one financial risk for 2013.

•	  Uncertainty concerning the settlement of the contract 
with AnsaldoBreda for the V250 rolling stock.

NS created a task force to carry out an investigation into the 
technical suitability of the V250 and decide how to imple-
ment the franchise agreements. Based on this detailed investi-
gation, NS reached the conclusion that continuing with the 
V250 is neither justifiable nor desirable for passengers. The 
technical condition of the V250 trains and the lack of any 
clarity about solutions for the problems did not make us 
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Measure:
NS seeks to minimise the risk of violation of legislation and 
regulations through good risk management. The risk of 
violating internal rules of conduct is managed by having a 
code of conduct documenting internal standards for con-
duct. Suspicions of malpractice or inappropriate behaviour 
can be reported to one of a number of confidential counsel-
lors or Ethics & Compliance Officers, whether by the 
employee concerned or the manager who discovers the 
violation in question.
NS also aims for a good relationship with its regulatory 
authorities, such as the Authority for Consumers & Markets 
(ACM) and the Dutch Data Protection Authority (CBP).  
It discusses the interpretation and application of legislation 
and regulations, for example, with these regulatory  
authorities.
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NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen is a public limited company under Dutch law with its 

registered offices in Utrecht. The governance of NS, a state-owned participation,  

is based on the modified two-tier company regime.

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE

Executive Board
The Executive Board is responsible for managing the busi-
ness. It establishes the vision for the company and the 
resulting mission, strategy and objectives. The Executive 
Board is responsible for the company’s results and the 
realisation of its objectives. The NS strategy is implemented 
by the business units and subsidiaries.
Executive Board members are appointed by the General 
Meeting, on the recommendation of the Supervisory Board. 
Members of the Executive Board can be suspended or 
dismissed by the General Meeting. In 2013 the Executive 
Board consisted of three members:  A. Meerstadt, Chairman 
and CEO up to 1 October 2013, E.M. Robbe, Financial 
Director, and M.W.L. van Vroonhoven, Director. T.H. Huges 
joined the Executive Board as Chairman and CEO on  
1 October 2013. Both the Executive Board as a whole and 
each individual Executive Board member are authorised to 
represent the company. The Executive Board’s responsibili-
ties, tasks and procedures are laid down in the articles of 
association of NS and in the rules of procedure of the  
Executive Board. The Executive Board performs its tasks in 
the company’s interests and provides the Supervisory Board 
promptly with the information and resources it requires in 
order to do its work properly. In the event of a conflict of 
interest between the company and a member of the Execu-
tive Board, NS is represented by a member of the Executive 
Board or the Supervisory Board designated for this purpose  
by the Supervisory Board. The General Meeting also has the 
power to designate one or more persons for this purpose.
The members of the Executive Board are appointed for four 
years, after which they may be reappointed. The right to 
compensation on dismissal is subject to a maximum of one 
year’s basic salary in employment contracts drawn up since 
the introduction of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code. 
The existing agreements with the members of the Executive 
Board remain in force.
The Executive Board’s Secretary ensures that the proper 
procedures are followed and that the actions taken are 
consistent with the laws and regulations governing the  
Executive Board’s obligations.

NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen
NS has a two-tier management structure. The company is 
managed by the Executive Board and supervised by the 
Supervisory Board. The Executive and Supervisory Boards 
operate independently of each other. Both bodies report on 
the execution of their tasks to the General Meeting of 
Shareholders (the ‘General Meeting’). NV Nederlandse 
Spoorwegen is the holding company of NS Groep NV.

Shareholding
The sole shareholder of NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen is the 
Dutch State. The role of the shareholder is performed by the 
Ministry of Finance. The General Meeting is held annually, 
within six months of the close of the financial year. The 
matters discussed by the General Meeting include the annual 
report. The General Meeting also adopts the financial 
statements and declares the dividend, discharges the mem-
bers of the Executive Board from liability for their manage-
ment, discharges the members of the Supervisory Board from 
liability for their supervision and appoints the auditor. Other 
general meetings can be held as often as is desired by the 
Executive Board, the Supervisory Board and the shareholder. 
Resolutions can also be adopted outside meetings.

Corporate Governance Code
Although not a listed company, NS voluntarily applies the 
Dutch Corporate Governance Code (the ‘Code’). At NS, the 
Code is embedded in the rules of procedure for the Executive 
and Supervisory Boards, the Audit Committee, the Remunera-
tion Committee and the Selection and Appointments Com-
mittee, as well as in a code of conduct and in a procedure for 
‘whistle-blowers’. Not all stipulations in the Code apply to NS, 
as NS is not a listed company and does not have a one-tier 
board.
 

1  The following best-practice stipulations are not applicable: II.2.4, II.2.5, II.2.6, 

II.2.7, III.7.1, III.7.2, IV.1.1, IV.1.2, IV.1.7, IV.2.1, IV.2.2, IV.2.3, IV.2.4, IV.2.5, IV.2.6, IV.2.7, 

IV.2.8, IV.3.1, IV.3.2, IV.3.3, IV.3.4, IV.3.11, IV.3.12, IV.3.13, IV.4.1, IV.4.2, IV.4.3.
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Selection and Appointments Committee
The Selection and Appointments Committee decides on the 
selection criteria and appointment procedures for the 
appointment of members of the Supervisory and Executive 
Boards, This committee has three members and is chaired by 
Mr C.J. van den Driest. The Selection and Appointments 
Committee is charged with periodically reviewing the size 
and composition of the Supervisory Board and submitting a 
proposal to the Supervisory Board for a profile for its makeup. 
It also prepares a report for the Supervisory Board on its own 
performance and makes recommendations for the appoint-
ment and reappointment of members of the Supervisory 
Board. The subjects discussed by the committees include the 
remuneration policy, the targets, the annual calendar, the 
evaluation of the Supervisory Board, and future vacancies 
within the Supervisory Board and in key positions in the 
company.

External auditor
The external auditor is appointed by the General Meeting. 
The external auditor reports on the audited has performed to 
the Supervisory Board and the Executive Board, and presents 
the results of its audit in an audit opinion concerning the 
truth and fairness of the financial statements.
The Audit Committee, acting on the Supervisory Board’s 
behalf, is directly responsible for overseeing the work of the 
external auditor. At least once a year, the Audit Committee 
prepares a joint report together with the Executive Board for 
the Supervisory Board regarding developments concerning 
the external auditor, and in particular the latter’s indepen-
dence. Once every four years (most recently on 3 February 
2010), the Audit Committee and Executive Board also jointly 
carry out a thorough appraisal of the performance of the 
external auditor. The findings of this review are presented to 
the General Meeting and the Supervisory Board. The external 
auditor attends those meetings of the Supervisory Board at 
which its report on the audit of the financial statements is 
discussed and which deal with the adoption of the financial 
statements. The external auditor also attends the meeting of 
the Supervisory Board held to discuss the six-monthly figures.

Corporate audit
The Executive Board is responsible for the work of the 
internal auditors. The results of their work are discussed with 
the Audit Committee. The Executive Board ensures that the 
Audit committee and the external auditor are involved in 
drawing up the internal auditors’ plan of work.

Organising sustainability
The progress and further development of our sustainability 
results are safeguarded through a formal organisation that 
consists of a Council for Sustainable Business Practices, a 
Working Group for Sustainable Business Practices, a Commu-
nications Working Group and a number of temporary task 
groups. This organisation is supported by a Sustainable 
Business Practices Programme department, which was set up 
in 2010 (three FTEs with a budget of €250,000). The Council, 

Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board has the task of supervising the 
Executive Board’s policies and the general management of 
the company and its affiliated enterprises. The Supervisory 
Board also provides the Executive Board with advice. The 
Supervisory Board performs its tasks in the interests of the 
company and its affiliated enterprises. The Supervisory 
Board’s responsibilities, tasks and procedures are laid down 
in the articles of association of NS and in the rules of proce-
dure of the Supervisory Board and its committees. The 
Supervisory Board broadly subscribes to and applies the best 
practices and principles in Chapter III of the Dutch Corporate 
Governance Code.
Supervisory Board members are appointed by the General 
Meeting, on the recommendation of the Supervisory Board 
and with due observance of a job profile.
The Central Works Council is consulted on the intended 
appointments. The profile for the Supervisory Board is 
defined by the Supervisory Board. It may be found on the 
company website (www.ns.nl).
The composition of the Supervisory Board takes into account 
the nature of the company, its shareholder, its operations and 
the desired expertise and background of the Supervisory 
Board members. The retirement schedule for the Supervisory 
Board has been set up in accordance with the principles of 
the Code and has been designed to avoid too many Supervi-
sory Board members retiring at once. In view of the extent, 
diversity and complexity of the matters it has to handle, the 
Supervisory Board has set up three committees: the Audit 
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Selection 
and Appointments Committee. These committees facilitate 
effective decision-making by the Supervisory Board.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee performs its duties in accordance with 
the rules of procedure as approved by the Supervisory Board, 
in accordance with the provisions of the Code. The Audit 
Committee has three members and is chaired by Dr F.J.G.M. 
Cremers. The Audit Committee is responsible for advising the 
Supervisory Board on and scrutinising the annual financial 
statements, the financing and financing-related strategies, 
fiscal planning and the performance of the risk management 
and control system.
The entire Supervisory Board is responsible for supervision  
of the application of information and communications 
technology.

Combined Remuneration Committee and Selec-
tion and Appointments Committee
Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee draws up a remuneration 
report and submits it for approval to the Supervisory Board. 
The Remuneration Committee has three members and is 
chaired by Ms T.M. Lodder. The Remuneration Committee 
makes recommendations for the remuneration of individual 
members of the Executive Board that is in line with the 
remuneration policy approved by the General Meeting.
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which includes the directors of the business units and is 
chaired by the Chairman of the Board of NedTrain (a member 
of the Group Council), has the task of preparing decisions and 
policies. Proposed decisions and policies, such as the identifi-
cation of the relevant stakeholders and the material relevance 
matrix, are submitted to the NS Group Council for approval. 
There are also representatives of the NS business units in the 
Working Group for Sustainable Business Practices and the 
Communications Working Group. In accordance with the 
Corporate Governance Code, the Executive Board is responsi-
ble for the aspects of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) 
that are relevant to NS. The Executive Board reports on this to 
the Supervisory Board and the General Meeting. Sustainabi-
lity has been part of the regular planning and control cycle at 
NS since 2010. Since 2012, NS has made use of a CSR 
reporting manual that specifies how sustainability informa-
tion should be validated and reported in the monthly, 
quarterly and annual reports.
In 2013 a target was formulated for the variable remunera-
tion of the NS senior management (including the Executive 
Board). The breakdown for this was as follows: 25% finance, 
25% customers & process, 25% NS Group priorities (including 
the decision to focus on sustainability) and 25% own com-
pany’s priorities. Furthermore, in 2013 the Executive Board 
decided to incorporate a mandatory sustainability target (with 
a weight of 12.5%) in the variable remuneration for 2014 for 
the NS senior management.
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This should lead to better financial and operational perfor-
mance in the years ahead, more satisfied passengers and  
a much better reputation for our company. Our ultimate goal  
is that the Netherlands should embrace NS.

Developments in 2014
We are expecting only very limited growth in passenger 
numbers in 2014, given the uncertain economic situation. 
The award of the main rail network concession to NS gives  
NS a basis for continuing to invest in its staff and further 
modernisation of trains, buses and stations. Putting in place 
a good, stable, fast connection with Belgium is a top priority 
for passengers and NS. We also expect the Ministry of 
Education, Culture and Science to make the plans clear in 
2014 concerning the future of the public transport student 
pass. The Cabinet’s intention is to economise on the pass. 
External research shows that more than 80% of the journeys 
students make using the pass are related to their study. 
Therefore its continued existence is not just in the interests 
of carriers and students, but also important in enabling 
cooperation and specialisation in higher education.  
Moreover, if today’s students are offered an attractive 
service, this will encourage them to continue to choose  
the train in the future.
We are expecting further positive developments in our 
foreign operations, whereby the focus will be on Germany 
and the United Kingdom. An improvement in the operating 
result is essential in order to enable further new investments 
in future, and so NS is continuing to keep a close eye  
on operating costs. In the longer term, we are expecting  
the demand for our services to increase as the economy 
recovers. That will lead to an improvement in the return  
on investment.

NS is working on refining its strategy. This process was still 
ongoing when this report was published but we are able to give 
a preview here. NS makes an important contribution to society 
and mobility in the Netherlands. In its recalibrated strategy, NS 
will be focusing on the Netherlands in the next few years and 
further improving operational performance on the Dutch rail - 
ways. In doing so, we will be putting passengers first, second 
and third and we will need to do a little bit better every day:
•	 We aim to give passengers excellent service; we are a 

service-providing transport company. We are no longer 
satisfied with a score of ‘average’ from our passengers.

•	 We aim to give passengers a seamless door-to-door journey. 
We realise that we need to collaborate closely with partners 
in the public transport sector to achieve this. We will be 
working more intensively with other parties to optimise the 
door-to-door journey.

•	 Passengers deserve to get the best performance we can 
deliver for the lowest possible price. We have operations in 
competitive markets in Europe so that we can draw lessons 
and prepare for the possible further deregulation in the 
Netherlands and Europe. This will let us bolster our perfor-
mance and position in the Netherlands.

Our staff are a crucial factor in achieving the desired perfor-
mance for our passengers. In everything they do, we expect 
them to:
1.  see things from the perspective of the passenger. The 

emphasis is on simplicity and convenience for passengers.
2.  have an open attitude in their dealings with all their 

colleagues and stakeholders. It is important to have unity 
within the sector and within NS.

3.  improve a little bit every day. Take ownership of what can 
be improved.

OUTLOOK FOR 2014
Our passengers will be our priority in the years ahead. 

In this section, we take a look at 2014 and beyond.
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Working on delivering a good service
NS will be undertaking a number of specific developments in 
2014 in our endeavour to give our passengers the best 
possible service. In order to make travelling by train easier, 
safer and fairer, we will increasingly be using the access gates 
at stations in 2014 and the paper ticket will be replaced 
entirely by the public transport smart card. Passengers will 
receive proper assistance from NS and its customer service 
staff when these changes are made.
In December 2013, we started using more rolling stock on a 
number of routes in order to minimise the likelihood of our 
passengers having to travel in overcrowded trains. We will 
continue to monitor this in 2014. We will also be doing this 
for the journeys to Schiphol when ProRail is carrying out 
work on the track at night. Train transport is not possible 
then for safety reasons and so NS puts on buses instead.
Next year, we will be working further with ProRail on 
translating the Long-term Rail Agenda into actions.
There will be a follow-up to Fyra in 2014 with the legal 
settlement of the situation with AnsaldoBreda and the start  
of the parliamentary inquiry by the Lower House.
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non-financial annual reports. The guidelines themselves can 
be found on www.globalreporting.org. The sustainability 
information in the 2013 annual report is presented by NS in 
accordance with the GRI guidelines at level A+ (third party 
checked) and internal reporting criteria.
 

We plan to set up the report of the year 2014 in line with the 
requirements of the fourth generation of GRI guidelines: G4. 
In order to add value to our report of 2013, we have asked 

SCOPE
& REPORTING CRITERIA

Integrated report
In the NS 2013 annual report, the performance of NS, the 
social aspects of that performance and the financial results 
are presented as an integrated whole. This choice has been 
made deliberately. NS is a company with a social function. 
Passenger transport by train and the commercial operation of 
stations and their surroundings are intrinsically important to 
society. Other social aspects, such as care for the natural and 
social environment, are thus also an integral component  
of the business operations of NS. There were no changes in 
2013 in the policy and objectives.
 
Reporting criteria
NS reports in accordance with the guidelines of version 3.1 of 
the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). The GRI guidelines are 
the most widely accepted guidelines worldwide for preparing 

Strategic theme Subjects
The customer is king

Customer satisfaction ✓ ✓ n/a ✓ ✓  ✓

Safety (including personal safety) ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Number of signals passed at danger ✓ ✓ ✓ n/a ✓

Lost time injury rate ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Punctuality/reliability ✓ n/a n/a ✓

We are cost-conscious

Financial statements ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

From door to door

Journey information ✓ ✓ n/a n/a

We look after our environment

Energy efficiency and CO2 reduction ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Occupancy rates ✓ ✓ n/a n/a

Waste reduction and recycling ✓ ✓ *) ✓ ✓

Quieter transport ✓ ✓ n/a n/a

We can make the difference together

Number of employees ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

An attractive employer: position in the list of best 
employers

✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Caring employer: % sickness absence ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

Diversity, inclusivenes ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓
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KPMG to ascertain and confirm that the information presented 
in the report is correct. This is an improvement on last year, 
when we only asked KPMG to do this for the section on 
sustainability. Their assurance report can be found on page 
135. Our ambition is to increase the level of assurance for 
selected KPIs. The selection of the indicators is based on the 
GRI method, the discussions with our interested parties and 
the material relevance matrix derived from them. The 
information we report is based wherever possible on measure-
ments and calculations (for example, electricity consumption). 
Other data is taken from central administrative systems (for 
example, HR data) or based on information provided by third 
parties (for example, waste). If there have been changes in the 
definitions, measurement methods or the inherent limits in 
the data or if extrapolations or estimates have been used, this 
is specified in the report or the reporting criteria. The criteria 
can be found in www.ns.nl/mvoberekeningen (mainly in 
Dutch). Sustainability has been part of the regular planning 
and control cycle since 2010. This means that the data is 
reported in the monthly reports. The processes for collecting 
and validating the data are described in the CSR Handbook. 
The internal validation procedures are performed by our 
auditors. They examine deviations in the data with respect to 
previous reports, consider the plausibility of the data in the 
reports and request supporting evidence where necessary.
The financial reporting criteria are included in the notes to 
the consolidated financial statements on page 80.

Scope
The scope of the report has been determined on the basis of 
the analysis of material relevance on page 17. This means 

that we are reporting on the materially relevant topics and 
draw on the insights given by this analysis when making 
choices about the amount of detail and limits of our reporting 
on these topics. The material relevance matrix shows both 
the theme’s importance to stakeholders and the impact or 
influence NS has. Themes where NS has little impact are not 
included in the report. This is illustrated in the table on the 
previous page.
The report covers the 2013 financial year, which ran from  
1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013. This report covers all 
the activities of NS in the Netherlands, the United Kingdom 
and Germany, including the subsidiaries in which it holds a 
stake of 50% or more. We report on the transport chain as a 
whole where procurement is concerned or where our process 
of value creation gives reason to do so. The choices we have 
made in this regard are specified on page 57 (process of value 
creation). Where information covering the whole transport 
chain is reported, this is explicitly stated. Reports do not in 
principle cover subcontractors or suppliers. In those parts of 
the report where this does occur, this is explained. Disposals 
are eliminated retrospectively from the information for the 
financial year in question. Acquisitions are included in the 
data no later than two years after the calendar year of the 
acquisition, as long as the data meets the NS reporting 
criteria.
We are keen to learn from the feedback on our report.  
If you have any questions or remarks about our report,  
we will be more than happy for you to share them with us 
via nsg.jaarverslag@ns.nl. The table containing the GRI 
indicators can be found on www.ns.nl/jaarverslag2013/
duurzaamheid.
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CONSOLIdATEd 2013 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Consolidated balance sheet NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen 

Before appropriation of result

(in millions of euros)
31 December 

2013
31 December 

2012*

Assets

1 Property, plant and equipment  3,127  3,405 

2 Investment property  320  314 

3 Intangible assets  137  117 

4 Investments in equity accounted investees  14  14 

5 Other financial assets, including investments  206  176 

6 tax assets  387  346 

Total non-current assets  4,191  4,372 

7 Inventories  114  134 

5 Other investments  231  279 

8 Trade and other receivables  1,002  509 

6 Income tax receivable  30  11 

9 Cash and cash equivalents  919  948 

Total current assets  2,296  1,881

Total assets 6,487  6,253 

Equity and Liabilities

10 Share capital  1,012  1,012 

10 Reserves  2,075  1,893

Unapproprated result  -43  263

Total group equity  3,044  3,168

Minority interest  -   - 

Total equity  3,044  3,168

11 Deferred credits  122  134 

12 Loans and borrowings, including derivatives 731  577 

13 Employee benefits  37  35 

14 Provisions  182  277 

15 Accruals  34  39 

6 Deferred tax liabilities  158  153 

Total non-current liabilities  1,264  1,215 

12 Loans and borrowings, including derivatives  57  48 

6 Corporate tax payable  12  12 

16 Trade and other payables 1,181  1,248

17 Deferred income  733  387 

14 Provisions  196  175 

Total current liabilities 2,179 1,870 2,179  1,870

Total liabilities 3,443 3,085 3,443  3,085

Total equity and liabilities 6,487  6,253

*  The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting policies applied (see 
pages 80 and 81).
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Consolidated income statement for 2013
NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012*

19 Revenue  4,606  4,638

20 Personnel expenses  1,662  1,606

21 Depreciation, amortisation and impairment  626  364 

22 Use of raw materials, consumables and inventories  549  565 

23 Costs of subcontracted work and other external costs  515  558 

24 Infrastructure fees  638  551 

25 Other operating expenses  680  640 

Total operating expenses  4,670  4,284

Result from operating activities  -64  354

Finance income  11  15 

Finance expenses  -37  -40 

26 Net finance result  -26  -25

Share in result of equity accounted investees  1 1

Result before income tax  -89 330

27 Income tax expense  46  -67

Result for the period  -43  263

Attributable to:

Equity holder of the Company   -43  263

Minority interest - -

Result for the period   -43  263 

 *  The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting policies applied 
(see pages 80 and 81).
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 2013
NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012*

Realised results

Result for the period  -43  263 

other comprehesive income items that are or may be  
classified to profit and loss

Currency translation differences on foreign activities -1  2 

Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges  11  -11 

Net change in fair value of available-for-sale

financial assets - 1

Income tax on other comprehesive income items that are or

may be classified to profit and loss -3 2

Total 7 -6

other comprehensive income items that never be reclassified 
to profit and loss

Actuarial result for defined benefit plans 3 5

Income tax on other comprehensive income items that never 

be reclassified to profit and loss -1 -1

Total 2 4

other comprehensive income recognised in equity 9 -2

Total comprehensive income over the period -34 261

Attributable to:

Company shareholder -34 261

Minority interest - -

Total comprehensive income over the period -34 261

 *  The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting policies applied  
(see pages 80 and 81).
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Consolidated cash flow statement for 2013 
NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012*

Profit for the period  -43  263

Adjustments for:

1-3 Depreciation 351  351 

Impairment losses 285 17

Results on sale of investments 17 11

Net finance result 26  24 

Results on investments in equity accounted investees -1 -1

Change in deferred credits -12  -37 

Income tax expenses -46  67 

577  695

Changes in inventories 10  -7

Changes in trade and other receivables -493  218 

Changes in provisions -75  56 

Change in other non-current liabilities 172  -131 

Change in current liabilities excluding credit institutions 280  89 

471 920

Interest paid -22 -13

27 Income tax paid -20  -6 

Net cash from operating activities 429 901
  

Interest received 12 15

Dividends received and recognised using the equity method 1 1

Disposal of discontinued operation, net of cash -11  9 

1,3
Acquisition of intangible assets and property,  

plant and equipment
-319  -465 

 2 Acquisition of investment properties -21  -13 

Income from other investments 519  1,105 

Payments of other investement -472  -975 

Acquisition of non-current financial assets, 

including investments
-44  -118 

Disposal of non-current financial assets, 

including investments
10  45

Disposal of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment 

and investment properties 20  29 

Net cash flow from investing activities  -305  -367

Net cash flow from operating and investing activities  124  534 

Other changes in deferred credits 15  -   

Repayments of liabilities -73  -404 

Non-current liabilities taken out -  357 

10 Dividends paid -92  -74 

Net cash from financing activities -150  -121 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents -26  413 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January  948  534 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  -3  1 

9 Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 919 948

 *  The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting policies applied  
(see pages 80 and 81).
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity of NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen

(in millions of euros)
Share

capital

Foreign

currency

translation 

reserve

Hedging 

reserve

 Fair 

 value 

 reserve 

 Actuarial 

 reserve

Retained 

 earnings  Total

Minority

interest  Total Equity

Balance as at 1 January 2012  1,012  1  -28  -1 7 1,986 2,977 - 2,977

Impact of changes in accounting 

policies
 4  4  4

Revised balance as at 1 January 2012  1,012  1  -28  -1 7 1,990 2,981 - 2,981

Comprehensive income
Profit for the period 263 263 - 263

Other comprehensive income 1 -8 1 4 - -2 - -2

Total comprehensive income 1 -8 1 4 263 261 - 261

Transactions with owners, directly 
recognised in equity

Dividend paid to share holder -74 -74 - -74

Revised balance as at 
31 December 2012 1,012 2 -36 - 11 2,179 3,168 - 3,168
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity of NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen

(in millions of euros)
Share

capital

Foreign

currency

translation 

reserve

Hedging 

reserve

 Fair 

 value 

 reserve 

 Actuarial 

 reserve

Retained 

 earnings  Total

Minority

interest  Total Equity

Revised balance as at 1 January 2013  1,012 2 -36 - 11 2,179 3,168 - 3,168

Comprehensive income
Profit for the period -43 -43 - -43

Other comprehensive income -1 8 - 2 - 9 - 9

Total comprehensive income -1 8 - 2 -43 -34 - -34

Transactions with owners, directly 
recognised in equity

Dividend paid to share holder -92 -92 - -92

Other 2 2 - 2

Balance as at 31 December 2013 1,012 1 -28 - 13 2,046 3,044 - 3,044
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General information
NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen has its registered seat in Utrecht 
in the Netherlands. The company’s consolidated financial 
statements for the 2013 financial year include the company 
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to as the ‘Group’) 
and the Group’s share in associates and companies that it 
controls jointly with third parties. NV Nederlandse Spoorwe-
gen is the holding company of NS Groep NV which, in turn, 
is the holding company of the operating companies that carry 
out the Group’s different operating activities. The figures in 
the consolidated financial statements of NS Groep NV are the 
same as those of NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen. The operating 
companies of NS Groep NV are listed on page 129.
The Group’s activities mainly consist of the transportation of 
passengers and the management and development of 
property and stations. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) and its interpretations authorised by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and endorsed by the 
European Union.

The Executive Board prepared the financial statements on 12 
February 2014. In its preliminary advice to the General 
Meeting of Shareholders, the Supervisory Board recommen-
ded that the financial statements be adopted without change. 
The Executive Board and Supervisory Board granted permis-
sion on 12 February 2014 to publish the financial statements. 
The adoption of these financial statements will be on the 
agenda for the General Meeting of Shareholders scheduled for 
4 March 2014.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies for consolidation, valua-
tion of assets and liabilities and determination of the Group’s 
result are set out below.

Except for the changes in accounting policies as described 
below, the Group has consistently applied the following 
accounting policies to all periods presented in these consoli-
dated financial statements.

Pursuant to Section 402, Part 9, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code, the company financial statements of NV Nederlandse 
Spoorwegen have been issued with a condensed income 
statement.

The financial statements are presented in euros (the functio-
nal currency), rounded to the nearest million. Unless speci-
fied otherwise, the financial statements were prepared using 
historical costs. The figures for the previous year have been 
adjusted on some points for comparative purposes.

Notes to the 
coNsolidated 
fiNaNcial 
statemeNts 
for 2013
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The Group has adopted the following new standards and 
amendments to standards, including any consequential 
amendments to other standards, with a date of initial 
application of 1 January 2013.

• IAS 19 Employee Benefits
• IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements

In addition, the Group changed the accounting policy with 
respect to the exchange parts in 2013. The comparative 
figures for 2012 have been adjusted.

IAS 19 Paid leaves
Because of the revised IAS 19 directive, the valuation basis of 
the reservation for paid leaves has been changed. The 
reservation is calculated as long-term rather than short-term, 
taken into account a discount rate and expected salary 
developments. The reservation has been presented as short 
term. This change of accounting policy has led to a higher 
valuation of the reservation for paid leave per 1 January 2013 
of the Group of €1 million (per 1 January 2012: nil). The 
comparative figures have been adjusted whereby the result 
2012 has been reduced with €1 million.

IAS 19 Employee Benefits
Because of the revised IAS 19, the Group has changed its 
accounting policy with respect to the basis for determining 
the income or expense related to its post-employment defined 
benefits plans.

The net interest expense (-income) as part of the pension 
expense are determined by applying the discount rate on the 
net defined liability (net asset). Previously, the Group has 
determined the interest expense based on the discount rate 
on the obligations and the interest income based on the 
expected rate of return on plan assets over the long term.

The 2012 result has been reduced because of the change in 
accounting policy with €3 million and the other comprehen-
sive income increased with €3 million. Total shareholders’ 
equity at the beginning and year-end 2012 is therefore 
unchanged.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
IFRS 13 establishes a single framework for measuring fair 
value and making disclosures about fair value measurements, 
when such measurements are required or permitted by other 
IFRSs. 

In accordance with the transitional provisions of IFRS 13, the 
Group has applied the new fair value measurement guidance 
prospectively, and has not provided any comparative informa-
tion for new disclosures. Notwithstanding the above, the 

application of IFRS 13 has led to a positive valuation adjust-
ment of the derivatives with €0.1 million positive.

change in accounting policies of change parts
The Group changed in 2013 its accounting policy with respect 
to the exchange parts. The exchange parts that were classi-
fied as property, plant and equipment up to 2012 are inclu-
ded in inventory as of January 1, 2013, including application 
of its accounting policies. This method of accounting is more 
in line what is common use in the market. The property, 
plant and equipment (spare parts) at year-end 2012 decreased 
by €51 million and inventories increased by €61 million. The 
above effects have led to an increase in the equity of €7 
million per 1 January 2013 (impact per 1 January 2012: €4 
million). The comparative figures over 2012 have been 
recalculated based on the new accounting principles. This has 
led to an increase in profit for 2012 with €3 million.

Presentation of items other comprehensive income (IAS 1)
Because of the amendments to IAS 1, the Group has modified 
the presentation of items of other comprehensive income in 
its condensed consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, to present separately items 
that would be reclassified to profit or loss in the future from 
those that would never be. Comparative information has also 
been re-presented accordingly. The adoption of the amend-
ment to IAS 1 has no impact on the recognised assets, 
liabilities and comprehensive income of the Group.

assumptions and estimates
The preparation of the financial statements require that 
management make certain estimates and assumptions that 
impact on the application of accounting principles and the 
reported value of assets and liabilities and income and 
expenses. The estimates and the corresponding assumptions 
are based on experience and various other factors that can be 
considered reasonable given the circumstances. The actual 
outcomes may differ from these estimates. 
The estimates and the underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on a regular basis. Revised estimates are recognised in the 
period in which the estimate is revised, or in future periods if 
the revision relates to a future period.
The main estimates and assumptions relate to revenue 
recognition on projects, pension liabilities, other employee 
benefits, provisions, provisions for the impairment of 
accounts receivable, downward value adjustments of invento-
ries to the net realisable value, the impairment of property, 
plant and equipment, and provisions for onerous contracts.
Please refer to the principles and notes 1, 7, 8, 13 and 14 
respectively. 
The reporting standards explained below have been applied 
consistently to the periods presented in these consolidated 
financial statements.
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commitments entered into. The identifiable assets and 
(conditional) liabilities acquired are initially recognised at 
their fair value on the acquisition date. The difference 
between the cost of the acquisition and the company’s share 
in the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities is 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements as 
goodwill in the intangible assets (for subsidiaries and joint 
ventures) or as part of the value of the associate. The costs 
associated with an acquisition are recognised directly in the 
income statement.

Loss of control
In the event of a loss of control, the subsidiary’s assets and 
liabilities, any minority interests and other equity compo-
nents associated with the subsidiary are no longer recognised 
in the balance sheet. Any surplus or shortfall following the 
loss of control is charged to the income statement. If the 
Group maintains an interest in the former subsidiary, that 
interest is recognised at the fair value on the date on which 
the Group ceased to exercise control. After the initial recogni-
tion, the interest is recognised as an investment incorporated 
using the equity method or as a financial asset available for 
sale, depending on the degree of influences that is still 
exercised.

Elimination of transactions upon consolidation
Intra-group balances and income and expenses from transac-
tions between Group companies are eliminated when the 
financial statements are prepared.

Unrealised gains from transactions with investments accoun-
ted for using the equity method are eliminated in proportion 
to the Group’s share in the investment. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to 
the extent that there is no indication of impairment.

Any positions and results attributable to third-party interests 
are carried separately on the balance sheet and in the income 
statement.

foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
respective functional currencies of Group entities at the 
exchange rate applying on the transaction date. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are 
translated to the functional currency as at Balance sheet date. 
The non - monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a 
foreign currency that are measured at fair value are transla-
ted to the functional currency at the exchange rates applying 
at the dates the fair value was determined. Foreign currency 
denominated non - monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured at historical cost are not retranslated.

Principles for consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries comprise those companies over which NV 
Nederlandse Spoorwegen has direct or indirect control. 
Control is defined as when the Group is able to directly or 
indirectly determine the financial and operational policy of a 
company in order to obtain benefits from the activities of the 
company. 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are fully consolidated 
with effect from the date control was first obtained until the 
date on which such control ends.

Associates
Associates (investments in which substantial influence is 
exercised) comprise those companies in which the Group has 
substantial influence on the financial and operational policy, 
but no control. Substantial influence is defined as when the 
Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights in 
another entity. 
Associates are measured using the equity method. The equity 
method is defined as follows: Initial recognition is at the 
acquisition price, which is subsequently increased or decre-
ased by a proportionate share in the profit or loss of the 
associate with effect from the date that the Group first 
obtains substantial influence to the date on which such 
influence ends. With respect to investments accounted for 
using the equity method, the share of the Group in the result 
of these investments is recognised in the income statement.
If the share of the Group in the losses is greater than the 
value of the interest in an investment, the carrying amount of 
the investment on the Group’s balance sheet is written down 
to zero, and further losses are no longer taken into account, 
except to the extent that the Group has a legal or construc-
tive obligation or has made payments towards the relevant 
investment.

Joint ventures
Joint ventures are those companies that the Group controls 
jointly with third parties, with this joint control agreed in a 
contract and pursuant to which strategic decisions con-
cerning the financial and operational policy are taken 
unanimously. The consolidated financial statements include 
the proportional share of the Group in the assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses of the company, with items being 
combined line-by-line with similar items as from the date on 
which joint control is exercised until the date that joint 
control ceases.

Acquisition of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates
Acquisitions of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures are 
accounted for using the purchase method. In this method, 
the price of an acquisition consists of the sum of the fair 
value of the assets relinquished, the securities issued and the 
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The exchange differences relating to monetary items are the 
differences between amortized cost in the functional cur-
rency at the beginning of the period, adjusted for effective 
interest (payments) during the period, and the amortized cost 
at the exchange rate at the end of the period. The foreign 
currency differences arising on translation are recognized as 
an expense in the profit and loss account, with the exception 
of a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net 
investment in a foreign operation, or qualifying cash flow 
hedges, which are processed recognized directly in equity.

Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including 
goodwill and fair value adjustments resulting from consolida-
tion, are translated into euros using the rate applying on the 
balance-sheet date. The income and expenses of foreign 
operations are translated into euros using the exchange rate 
applying on the transaction date.

Exchange-rate differences are taken directly to equity in the 
translation reserve. If a foreign operation is sold in full or in 
part, the relevant amount is transferred from the translation 
reserve to the income statement.

financial instruments
Acquisitions and disposals of financial instruments are 
accounted for on the transaction date. The Group derecogni-
ses a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or if it transfers the rights to 
receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 
virtually all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset are transferred.

The Group uses the following financial instruments:

Non-derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in 
shares, deposits, bonds, trade and other receivables, cash and 
cash equivalents, loans and other borrowing commitments, 
and trade and other payables.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances, 
and deposits with maturities of up to three months.

Upon first-time recognition, non-derivative financial instru-
ments are carried at fair value. Subsequently, non-derivative 
financial instruments are measured as follows.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net result is 
shown on the balance sheet only if the Group has a legally 
enforceable right to netting and if it intends to offset on a net 
basis and to realise the asset and the liability simultaneously.

The treatment of financing income and expenses is described 
on page 75.

Financial assets held to maturity
If it is the Group’s express aim to hold financial assets to 
maturity and it is in a position to do so, these are measured at 
amortised cost plus any directly attributable transaction costs 
using the effective interest-rate method, less impairment 
losses.

Financial assets held for sale
The investments of the Group in certain bonds and deposits 
are classified as financial assets held for sale. After initial 
recognition, these assets are measured at fair value and any 
changes in the fair value are taken directly to equity, except 
for impairment losses and exchange rate gains and losses on 
monetary items available for sale. Attributable transaction 
costs are recognised in the income statement when they are 
incurred. When an investment is no longer recognised in the 
balance sheet, the cumulative profit or cumulative loss in 
equity is transferred to the income statement.
If there is no information available for determining the fair 
value, the assets are measured at cost. 

Other non-derivative financial instruments
Other non-derivative financial instruments are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest-rate method, less 
impairment losses, which are recognised in the income 
statement.

derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge 
exchange rate and interest-rate risks. 
Upon initial recognition, derivative financial instruments are 
carried at fair value, which is the same as the cost at that 
time. Attributable transaction costs are charged to the income 
statement when incurred. Subsequently, derivative financial 
instruments are measured at fair value and any changes in 
the fair value are accounted for as described below.

Hedge accounting
When a derivative is first designated as a hedging instrument, 
the Group formally documents the relationship between the 
hedging instrument(s) and the position(s) being hedged. This 
includes its risk management objectives and strategy in 
entering into the hedge transaction and the hedging risk, as 
well as the methods used to determine the effectiveness of 
the hedging relationship. On entering into the hedging 
relationship, and subsequently on an ongoing basis, the 
Group assesses whether the hedging instruments are expec-
ted to be ‘very effective’ during the designated hedging 
period in providing compensation for changes in the fair 
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assets constructed by the company includes the cost of raw 
materials, direct labour costs, a fair portion of the indirect 
manufacturing costs and capitalised borrowing costs. If 
relevant, the estimated costs of disassembly and removal of 
the asset and the clean-up costs of the site where the asset is 
situated are included in the cost.
Computer software that forms an integral part of the 
computer equipment is capitalised as part of the relevant 
equipment. 
Assets where only the beneficial ownership rests with the 
Group are recognised in the balance sheet and treated in 
accordance with the same principles. 

Gains and losses on the sale of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined on the basis of a comparison 
between the sales revenue and the carrying amount of the 
item of property, plant and equipment and is taken net to 
‘other revenues’ in the income statement.

investment Property
Investment property is property held to realise rental income, 
an increase in value or both. Investment property is valued at 
cost less cumulative depreciation and impairment losses. The 
cost of assets constructed by the company includes the cost of 
raw materials, direct labour costs, a fair share of the indirect 
manufacturing costs and capitalised borrowing costs. If 
relevant, the estimated costs of disassembly and removal of 
the asset and cleaning up the site where it was located are 
included to the cost.

The following principles are applied both to property, plant 
and equipment and to investment property.

Components
Should property, plant and equipment or investment 
property consist of components with different useful lives, 
these components are specified as separate items under 
property, plant and equipment and investment property 
respectively.

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment or investment property includes the cost for the 
renewal of that asset or part of it when the expenses are 
incurred and if it is likely that the restoration will result in 
future economic benefits. All other costs associated with the 
maintenance of the asset are charged to the income state-
ment when they are incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to the income statement using the 
straight-line method based on the estimated useful life of an 
item of property, plant and equipment or component thereof. 
Land is not depreciated, with the exception of paving.

value or cash flows attributable to the hedged position(s) and 
whether the actual results of each hedge are within the set 
range of 80% to 125%. A requirement for cash-flow hedges of 
expected transactions is that it should be extremely likely 
that the transaction will take place.

Cash-flow hedges
If a derivative is designated as a hedge for fluctuations in cash 
flows ensuing from a certain risk associated with a recognised 
asset or liability, or because an extremely likely expected 
transaction could affect the profit or loss, then the effective 
portion of the changes in the fair value of the derivative is 
recognised in the unrealised results and presented in equity in 
the hedging reserve. Any ineffective portion of the changes in 
the fair value of the derivative financial instrument is recog-
nised directly in the income statement. The accrued amount is 
transferred to the income statement in the same period in 
which the hedged position affects the income statement.

Fair value of hedges
Changes in the fair value of a derivative hedging instrument 
that is designated a fair-value hedge are charged or credited 
to the income statement together with the changes in the fair 
value of the (group of) assets and liabilities insofar as they are 
attributable to the hedged risk.

If a hedging instrument no longer satisfies the criteria for 
hedge accounting, or if it expires or is sold, the hedge is 
ended prospectively. The cumulative profit or cumulative 
loss that was previously recognised in equity remains part 
of the equity until the expected transaction has taken place. 
The amount recognised in equity is transferred to the 
income statement (with the net change in the fair value  
of the cash flow hedges transferred from equity) in the  
same period in which the hedging instrument affects the  
income statement.

Economic hedges
Hedge accounting is not applied to derivative instruments 
used in an economic sense as a hedge for assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency. Changes in the fair value of 
such derivatives are taken to the income statement as part of 
the exchange rate gains and losses.
The Group applies accrual accounting for its commodity 
derivatives for own use, availing itself of the exemption 
granted under IAS 39.5, as far as the requirements of IAS 39.5 
are met. This applies to the purchases of diesel, oil and 
energy and has been disclosed in the risk paragraph and in 
the off-balance-commitments.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less 
cumulative depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of 
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The estimated useful life for property, plant and equipment is 
as follows:
• Buildings broken down into components 

(15 to100 years) average 40 years
• Other fixed plant 10 to 25 years
• Trains 20 years
• Buses 6 to15 years
• Plant and equipment 3 to10 years

And for investment property:
• Foundations and underlying land 100 years
• Structure and core 50 years
• Facades and outer walls 33 years
• Roofing 15 years
• Interior finish 15 years
• Technical equipment 15 years

The estimated useful life is an average for the relevant assets 
and asset components.

The depreciation method, the remaining useful life and the 
residual value are reviewed on an annual basis.

Should property, plant and equipment be designated as 
investment property through a change in its intended use, or 
if investment property is designated as for own use, a transfer 
is made to investment property or property, plant and 
equipment respectively. Since the measurement of both 
categories of tangible fixed assets is the same, the transfer is 
made at the carrying amount. 

intangible non-current assets 
Goodwill
All the business combinations are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. Goodwill is the amount that results from 
the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. 
Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the 
acquisition and the fair value of the acquired identifiable 
assets and liabilities at the time of acquisition. Goodwill is 
measured at cost less cumulative impairment losses. Negative 
goodwill that results from an acquisition is taken directly to 
the income statement.

Other intangible non-current assets
The other intangible non-current assets acquired or produced 
by the Group with a finite useful life are measured at cost less 
cumulative amortisation and cumulative impairment losses.

Expenses after initial recognition for capitalised intangible 
assets are only capitalised if it would increase the future 
economic benefits that are contained in the specific asset  
to which they relate. All the other expenses, including 
internally generated goodwill and trademarks, are  

charged to the income statement when they are incurred.
Amortisation is charged in a straight line to the income 
statement based on the estimated useful life of the intangible 
asset, except for goodwill, from the time it is available for 
use. The estimated useful life for the current and comparable 
periods is as follows:
• Software 5 to 8 years
• Contracts 5 to 10 years

inventories
Inventories are stated at cost or net realisable value, if lower. 
The net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
context of ordinary business operations, less the estimated 
cost of completion and the selling costs.
The cost of inventories is based on the average purchase 
prices or costs, and includes expenses incurred for the 
acquisition of the inventories and the related purchasing 
costs. The cost of inventories of finished products and 
projects in progress includes a fair share of the indirect cost 
based on normal production capacity. 

Work in progress commissioned by third parties
Work in progress commissioned by third parties is measured 
at cost plus profit taken up to the balance-sheet date, less a 
provision for foreseeable losses and less invoiced instalments 
in proportion to the project’s progress. The cost includes all 
the direct expenses in connection with specific projects and 
an allocation of indirect fixed and variable costs incurred in 
connection with the contract activities based on normal 
production capacity. 
A receivable is defined as when the sum of the costs incurred 
(including the recognised result) exceeds the sum of the 
invoiced instalments. If the sum of the costs incurred 
(including the recognised result) is lower than the sum of the 
invoiced instalments, it constitutes a debt.

impairment
Financial assets
Financial assets are tested at each balance-sheet date to 
ascertain whether they have been impaired. A financial asset 
is considered to have been impaired if there are objective 
indications that one or more events have had a negative 
impact on the expected future cash flows of that asset.

An impairment loss with respect to financial assets measured 
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between the 
carrying amount and the present value of the expected future 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
An impairment loss with respect to a financial asset available 
for sale is calculated on the basis of the fair value.

Significant financial assets are tested individually for 
impairment. The remaining financial assets are grouped 
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indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if the estimates have changed on 
the basis of which the net realisable value was determined. 
An impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the 
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed the carrying 
amount, after deduction of depreciation or amortisation, that 
would have been determined if no impairment loss had been 
recognised.

equity
Dividends are recognised in the period in which profit is 
appropriated and dividends are declared. 

deferred credits
This income concerns one-off amounts received in connection 
with agreements that extend into future years. The income is 
taken to the income statement during the term of the 
agreements to which they are related. The income is meas-
ured at amortised cost. 

Employee benefits
Employee benefits include pension liabilities arising from 
benefit plans and other employee benefit obligations consist-
ing of long-service awards, early retirement (VUT) benefits 
and obligations in connection with staff occupational 
disability.

Defined contributions plans are plans where the Group has 
no further obligations over and above paying the contractual 
contributions. These contributions are recognised in the 
income statement in the period in which they are due. 

Defined benefit plans are plans where the Group cannot 
suffice with paying the compulsory, contractual contributions 
to pension funds or insurance companies. The Group’s net 
obligation is calculated separately in respect of each plan by 
making an estimate of the pension entitlements employees 
have accrued during the year under review and preceding 
years. The present value of these entitlements is calculated 
and this amount is offset against the fair value of the plan 
assets. The discount rate is the interest rate as at the balance-
sheet date of gilt-edged fixed-income securities the term of 
which approximates that of the pension liabilities. The 
calculation takes account of aspects such as future wage 
increases due to general wage developments and career 
opportunities, inflation and current life expectancy tables. 
The calculation is performed on an annual basis by a regis-
tered actuary using the ‘projected unit credit’ method. If the 
calculation produces a positive result for the Group, the 
recognition of the asset is limited to a maximum that does 
not exceed the balance of any non-recognised pension costs of 
past service and the present value of any future reimburse-
ments by the fund, or the future pension premiums if lower.

together on the basis of comparable credit risk features and 
tested as a group.

All impairment losses are charged to the income statement. 
A cumulative loss with respect to a financial asset available 
for sale that had previously been charged to equity is trans-
ferred to the income statement.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be objec-
tively linked to an event that occurred after the loss had  
been recognised. With respect to financial assets measured  
at amortised cost and financial assets available for sale in  
the form of bonds, the reversal is credited to the income 
statement. 

Non-financial assets
The carrying amount of the non-financial assets of the Group, 
with the exception of inventories and deferred tax assets, is 
reassessed at every balance-sheet date to ascertain whether 
there are indications of impairment. In the event of such 
indications, an estimate is made of the net realisable value of 
the asset. With respect to goodwill and intangible non-cur-
rent assets not yet ready for use, an estimate is made of the 
realisable value on every balance-sheet date.

The net realisable value of an asset or a cash-generating unit 
is the realisable value at the higher of the going-concern 
value or the fair value less selling costs. When determining 
the going-concern value, the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows before tax is calculated using a discount rate 
before tax that reflects both the current market valuations of 
the time value of money and the specific risks associated with 
the asset. For the purpose of impairment tests, assets are 
combined in a group of assets that generate cash flows from 
ongoing use that are largely independent of other assets and 
groups (‘cash-generating unit’). For impairment testing, 
goodwill acquired in a business combination is attributed to 
cash-generating units that are expected to gain from the 
synergy benefits of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of 
an asset or the cash-generating unit to which that asset 
belongs is higher than the estimated net realisable value. 
Impairment losses are taken to the income statement. 
Impairment losses recognised in connection with cash-gener-
ating units are first deducted from the carrying amount of 
any goodwill attributed to the units, and subsequently 
deducted in proportion from the carrying amount of the 
other assets in the unit (or group of units).

As far as goodwill is concerned, impairment losses are not 
reversed. For other assets, impairment losses recognised in 
prior periods are tested at each balance-sheet date for 
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The pension obligations related to the group companies 
established in the UK are recognised for the franchise periods.

The expected changes in the pension liabilities and the invest-
ment results at the beginning of the year based on actuarial 
calculations are incorporated in the net liabilities and taken 
to the income statement. The paid amounts are deducted 
from the net liabilities. The actuarial gains and losses, 
consisting of the difference between the actual and the 
expected changes in the pension liabilities and investment 
results, are taken to equity. 

Obligations arising from long-service awards and early 
retirement benefits are calculated actuarially and recognised 
at present value. Account is taken of wage, price indexes, 
recent mortality tables and estimations of employment. Any 
actuarial gains or losses are taken to the income statement in 
the period in which they occur.
Obligations arising from occupational disability are calculated 
similarly.

Short-term employee benefits
The unused paid leave rights are discounted, taken into 
account future salary increases.

Other short-term employee benefits are measured without 
discounting and recognised when the corresponding service 
is delivered.

Provisions
A provision is formed on the balance sheet when the Group 
has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of an event in 
the past and it is likely that settlement of this obligation will 
require the outflow of funds.
Provisions are calculated on the basis of the present value of 
the expected future cash flows discounted at a rate before tax 
that reflects the current market valuations of the time value 
of money and, where necessary, taking account of the risks 
associated with the obligation.

Reorganisation costs and inactivity schemes
Provisions are formed for reorganisation when a detailed plan 
for the reorganisation has been formalised or made public. 
No provision is formed for future operating costs. The 
reorganisation provision mainly relates to redundancies, 
bridging payments and the redeployment of staff whose jobs 
have been abolished. 

Provision for soil decontamination
The provision for soil decontamination is formed to cover the 
expenses required to maintain operating assets or to bring 
them up to standard. In accordance with the published 
environmental policy of the Group and the applicable legal 

requirements, provisions are formed to manage and clean up 
environmental pollution when pollution occurs or appears to 
have occurred.

Onerous contracts
A provision for onerous contracts is formed on the balance 
sheet when the benefits the Group expected to gain from a 
contract are lower than the unavoidable costs that arise by 
virtue of the contract.
The provision is measured at the present value of the expected 
net cost of continuing the contract or, if lower, the present 
value of the cost of terminating the contract, which is any 
compensation or penalty as a result of not complying with the 
contract. Prior to forming a provision, an impairment loss is 
recognised on the assets related to the contract.

Other provisions
Provisions are formed for damage through fire, accidents, 
guarantees issued, claims and other matters.

Lease
Assets where the company or its subsidiaries have beneficial 
ownership by virtue of a lease agreement are classified as 
financial leases. The company or its subsidiaries have benefi-
cial ownership if almost all the risks and benefits associated 
with ownership have been transferred to it. Contracts where 
the beneficial ownership is in the hands of third parties are 
classified as operating leases. The substance is the determining 
factor in the classification of lease agreements as operating or 
financial leases (rather than the legal form of the contract).

Revenues
Revenues include transport earnings and earnings from the 
other business divisions, less discounts and turnover tax.

Providing services and selling goods 
Revenue from services provided is recognised in the period in 
which the service is provided. With respect to delivery 
contracts that extend beyond the balance-sheet date, revenue 
is allocated to the separate years in proportion to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the balance-sheet date. The 
stage of completion is determined based on assessments of the 
work performed. 
Revenue from the sale of goods is taken to the income state-
ment when the significant risks and benefits of ownership 
have been transferred to the buyer, the collection of the 
payment due is likely, the associated costs or any returns can 
be reliably estimated, there is no longer any management 
involvement in the goods and the amount of revenue can be 
reliably determined.
Payments from the public authorities by virtue of transport 
contracts or transport concessions are recognised in the period 
to which the payment is related.
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The release from cross-border lease agreements is deducted 
from the interest charges.

Exchange-rate gains and losses are part of the financial 
income and expenses. 

Default interest related to positions with the tax authorities is 
included under other financing income and expenses. 

Government grants
Government grants are recognised when it is reasonable to 
expect that the entity will satisfy the conditions attached to 
the grants and that the grants will be received. The govern-
ment grants are deducted from the related assets and 
liabilities.

lease payments
Lease payments pursuant to operating leases are recognised 
as operating expenses in the income statement in a straight 
line over the lease period. 

income tax
Tax on the profit or loss for the reporting period comprises 
the payable and deductible taxes for the reporting period and 
deferred income tax. Income tax is stated in the income 
statement, unless it is directly related to items taken directly 
to equity, in which case the tax is taken to equity. 
All the tax items are stated at nominal value.

The payable and deductible tax for the financial year is the 
expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the reporting 
period, calculated on the basis of tax rates that apply on  
the balance-sheet date and adjustments to tax payable for 
prior years.

Almost all the subsidiaries that belong to the Group are part 
of the NS tax entity for corporation tax purposes, with the 
exception of foreign subsidiaries.

Deferred tax assets and tax liabilities are formed for tempo-
rary differences between the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities in the financial reporting and the value of these 
assets and liabilities for tax purposes. The calculation is based 
on the tax rates expected to apply when the temporary 
differences are reversed, using the tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantially enacted as at the balance  
sheet date.

As far as deferred tax assets within the tax entity are con-
cerned, assumptions are made about the continuity of the 
enterprise, that there will be sufficient taxable profit in the 
future and that there is no limit on loss compensation. As a 
result, it is assumed that deferred tax assets will be collected. 

Work in progress commissioned by third parties
The contractual income and expenses of work in progress 
commissioned by third parties are recognised in the income 
statement in proportion to the stage of completion of the 
project. The stage of completion is determined on the basis of 
the cost of the work performed in relation to the total 
expected expenses. As soon as a reliable estimate can be 
made of the result, a proportional part of the profit is 
credited to the income statement. Expected losses on 
contracts are directly recognised in full in the income 
statement.

Rental income
Rental income from property is included in the income 
statement in a straight line based on the term of the lease 
agreement. The cost of incentives offered to encourage the 
conclusion of lease agreements is recognised as an integral 
part of the total rental income.

Other revenues
These include capitalised production for own use, incidental 
revenue and cover provided by third parties for the costs of 
additional activities that do not form part of the operating 
activities of the company. The balance between the income 
from the sale of property, plant and equipment and the 
carrying amount is also taken to ‘other revenues’.

The capitalised production for own use comprises the directly 
attributable personnel expenses and costs of materials used 
in the construction of assets for own use. This is mainly for 
the overhaul of trains.

Operating expenses
Operating expenses are allocated to the year to which they 
are related or during which the goods and services are 
delivered to the client.

Financing income and expenses
Financing income includes the interest income on invested 
funds (including financial assets available for sale), lease income 
and profit on the sale of hedging instruments that are recog-
nised in the income statement. Interest income is recognised in 
the income statement as it accrues, using the effective interest-
rate method. Dividend income is recognised in the income 
statement when the right to payment becomes vested.

Borrowing costs include the interest charges on loans taken 
up, interest added to provisions and losses on hedging 
instruments. All the borrowing costs that cannot be directly 
attributed to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are taken to the income statement in 
accordance with the effective interest-rate method. No 
financing costs were capitalised in 2012 and 2013.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are only offset if there is a 
formal right to offset and the company intends to offset the 
deferred taxes simultaneously. Deferred taxes are recognised 
at nominal value.

new standards and interpretations
The Group has not voluntarily opted for the early adoption of 
any new standards or amendments to existing standards or 
interpretations that are only mandatory with effect from the 
financial statements for 2014 or later.

The Group is currently investigating the consequences of the 
following new standards, interpretations and amendments to 
existing standards, the application of which is mandatory 
with effect from the financial statements for 2014, or later 
where specified:

IFRS 11
IFRS 11 revises the accounting for joint ventures (which are 
listed under the new standard ‘joint agreements’). The main 
change is that there is no longer a choice between accounting 
according the equity method and proportional consolidation, 
but it should be determined whether the equity method or 
proportionate consolidation is still permitted based on the 
joint agreements. It is expected that a number of joint 
ventures as of 2014 may no longer be consolidated propor-
tionally but are valued using the equity method.

The impact of these changes on the balance sheet and profit 
and loss account will be material, the expectation is that on 
the basis of the 2013 figures, the balance sheet at December 
31, 2013 will decrease by around 1%, the revenue in 2013 will 
reduce by approximately 10% and net profit in 2013 will 
remain unchanged.

This standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2014.

Other standards
•  IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and adjustments 

in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(endorsed, mandatory as from financial statements 2014). It 
is expected that this standard will have limited impact on 
the financial statements 2014.

•  IFRS 12 Disclosures of interests in other entities (endorsed, 
mandatory as from financial statements 2014). The impact 
of this standard is under investigation, but will only have 
impact on the disclosures.

determining the fair value
A number of principles and the information provision of the 
Group require that the fair value be determined of both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. For valuation 

and information provision purposes, fair value is determined 
as follows. 

Property, plant and equipment
The fair value of property, plant and equipment included as a 
result of a business combination is based on the market 
value. The fair value is calculated on the basis of current 
purchase prices or is determined by using indexation figures 
to bring the historical purchase price to the current price.

Investment property
The fair value is determined independently and professionally 
through the engagement of qualified specialists. It takes 
account of the current lease agreements that the Group has 
concluded in a business-like and objective manner and that 
are comparable to those of similar property in the same area. 
To measure the value of property, the annual net rentals are 
discounted by a factor that includes the risks that are 
inherent to the net cash flows. The factor assumed is 10% per 
annum (2012: 10%).
The fair value of investment property is only determined for 
information purposes.

Intangible non-current assets
The fair value of other intangible non-current assets is based 
on the expected present value of the cash flows from the use 
and the final sale of the assets.

Investments in bonds and deposits
The fair value of financial assets held to maturity and 
financial assets available for sale is determined on the basis of 
the price at the balance-sheet date. The fair value of invest-
ments held to maturity is only determined for information 
purposes.

Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other receivables, excluding 
projects in progress for third parties, is estimated at the 
present value of the future cash flows that, in turn, are 
discounted at the intra-banking swap interest rate as at the 
balance-sheet date.

Derivatives
The fair value of derivatives is given by the estimated amount 
that the Group would receive or pay to terminate the contract 
on the balance-sheet date, with account being taken of the 
current interest rate and the current creditworthiness of the 
counterparties to the contract. 

Non-derivative financial liabilities
The fair value of non-derivative financial obligations is 
measured for disclosure purposes and calculated on the basis 
of the present value of the future redemptions and interest 
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payments, discounted at the market rate as at the reporting 
date. As far as financial leases are concerned, the market 
interest rate is determined on the basis of similar lease 
agreements.

Segmented information
Pursuant to IFRS, the Group is not obliged to provide 
segmented information. Therefore, the financial statements 
do not include a statement of segmentation. The notes to 
the financial statements include segmented information 
with respect to some items.

The primary segmentation basis - that of business segments 
- is based on the different nature of the operating activities, 
the management structure and the internal reporting 
structure employed by the Group.
Prices for transactions between the segments and between 
the group companies within the segments are determined 
on the basis of commercial, objective principles.
The revenue and assets of a segment consist of items that 
can be directly attributed to the segment or where it is 
reasonable to do so.

Business segments 
The Group makes a distinction between the following 
business segments:
•  Passenger transport: the transport of passengers in the 

Netherlands in domestic trains and buses and in interna-
tional trains, as well as passenger transport in trains and 
buses abroad. This also includes activities at the service  
of passenger transport, such as the provision and mainte-
nance of rolling stock;

•  Hub development and operations, comprising the mainte-
nance of property and station sites and the operation  
of commercial sites in and around stations;

•  Other, comprising support companies, holding company 
operations and the elimination of inter-company  
transactions.

The passenger transport segment primarily operates in the 
Netherlands, the UK and Germany. The return and risk 
profiles do not differ to such an extent as to require separate 
segmentation according to geographical areas. 

Principles for the consolidated cash flow  
statement
The cash flow statement is prepared accordance the indirect 
method on the basis of the comparison between the opening 
and closing balance for the relevant financial year. In this 
context, the result is adjusted for changes that did not result 
in receipts or payments during the financial year.
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Acquisition and disposal of companies
HTM
On October 15, 2013 the Group acquired an interest in HTM 
Personenvervoer N.V. of 49%. This interest is obtained in the 
form of cumulative preference shares. This capital funding is 
considered a loan, and the recognition is disclosed in note 5.

Sale of associates
The Group has sold two subsidiaries in the second half  
of 2013. The result of these transactions amounted to  
€17 million loss, and is included in other operating expenses 
in 2013.

General notes
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1
Property, plant and equipment

Land Buildings

Other fixed 
installati-

ons
Rolling 

stock Parts

Machinery 
& 

equipment

Assets 
under con-

struction Total*(in millions of euros)

2012
Cost as at 1 January  119  462   146  5,417  99  568 475 7,286 

Additions  442  442 

Capitalisations  14  13  8  429  1  68  -539 -6

Acquisitions  -   -   -   5  -   -   -   5 

Exchange rate differences  -   -   -   1  -   1  -  2 

Divestments  -1  -8  -2  -28  -   -8  -13  -60 

Impairment reversals  -   -   -   3  -   -   -   3 

Other changes  -   -   -   -25  -1  -7  -52  -85 

Cost as at 31 December 132  467 152 5,802 99 622  313  7,587 

Cumulative depreciation and impairment as 
at 1 January  26   213   104 3,079  58  423  -  3,903 

Depreciation of the year 2 17  10  236  5  55 -  325 

Divestments  -  -7 -3  -24 -  -5 -  -39 

Impairments  -   -  - 2 -  - - 2

Impairments reversals  -   -  - -  -  - - -

Exchange rate differences  -   -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Other changes  -  - - -7  -1 -1 - -9

Cumulative depreciation and impairment as 
at 31 December 28  223  111  3,286  62  472  -  4,182 

Carrying amount as at 1 January   93  249 42 2,338  41 145   475   3,383

Carrying amount as at 31 December  104  244  41 2,516  37  150  313  3,405 

notes
to the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 december 2012

Collateral has been pledged in the form of a pledge on rolling 
stock for the Eurofima loans that are not part of the cross-
border lease financing. Beside that an amount of €100 million 
(2012: €36 million) has been pledged with respect to (leased) 
assets. The carrying value of this is €406 million (2012: €382 
million). More information can be found in the Financial Risk 
Management section (see page 106).

Projects and materials under construction mainly consist of 
investments in trains and buildings.

 

The ‘other changes’ item primarily relates to intercompany 
eliminations and reclassifications. 

Some of the trains recognised on the balance sheet are part  
of cross-border lease transactions concluded in the past.  
The carrying amount of the rolling stock accommodated  
in cross-border leases at year-end 2013 is €127 million  
(2012: €156 million). 

* The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting policy with respect to the spare parts (see page 81).
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(in millions of euros) Land Buildings

Other fixed 
installati-

ons
Rolling 

stock Parts

Machinery 
& 

equipment

Assets 
under con-

struction Total

2013
Cost as at 1 January 132  467  152  5,802  99  622  313  7,587

Additions      376  376 

Capitalisations 1 86 13  266 - 66  -432  -   

Acquisitions  -  -  -  -  - -  -    - 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -  -1  - -1  -    -2 

Divestments -4 -5 -1  -115  - 2 -14  -  -141 

Impairment reversals  -  -  -  -  -  -   -88  -88 

Other changes - -4 -1 7 1 -1  -2  - 

Cost as at 31 December 129 544 163 5,959  96 674  167  7,732

Cumulative depreciation and impairment as 
at 1 January  28  223 111  3,286 62 472  -  4,182

Depreciation of the year 2 17 10 239 3 52  -  323 

Divestments  - -4 -1 -67  -2 -11  -  -85 

Impairments  -  -  - 184 - 2  - 186

Impairments reversals   -  -  - -  -  -  -  -   

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -  -1  -  -  -  -1

Other changes  - 1 1 - -1 - 1  -  -

Cumulative depreciation and impairment as 
at 31 December 29  237 120 3,640 63 516  -  4,605

Carrying amount as at 31 December 100  307  43 2,319 33 158  167  3,127 

Impairments and reversals

Valuation of V250-assets and contract AnsaldoBreda
During 2013, the Group has decided definitely that the V250 
material will no longer be used (decommissioned). In 2013, 
an impairment loss (impairment of assets) net of €125 million 
has been recognised, consisting of sums already paid under 
deduction of the related bank guarantees. The impairment 
has been recognised as follows:

  

Given the uncertainties surrounding the settlement of the 
contract no financial consequences such as still paying 
obligations arising from the contract, any claims back and 
forth and/or a possible sale of the V250-assets are taken into 
account.

The possible range of the possible impact on the result is 
between €0 and €300 million loss for the Group. An amount 
of €125 million loss has been recognised in the income 
statement of 2013. 

Other impairment losses and reversals
The calculations that result in impairment losses and their 
reversal are based on a weighted average discount rate after 
tax ranging between 6.5% and 9.1% (2012: between 6.5% and 
9.1%).

impairment and reversal

(in millions of euros) 2013

Impairment rolling stock  181

Impairment assets under construction 88 

Total 269

Receivable bank guarantees -81

Other (including an release of an  

obligation for unpaid purchase price) -63

Assessment impairment loss 125
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2
investment property

(in millions of euros) Totaal

2012
Cost as at 1 January 450

Additions 13

Capitalisations  - 

Disposals -

Divestments -6

Other changes 3

Cost as at 31 December 460

Cumulative depreciation and impairment as at 1 January 135

Depreciation of the year  15 

Disposals -

Divestments -4

Impairment 3

Other changes -3

Cumulative depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 146

Carrying amount as at 1 January 315

Carrying amount as at 31 December 314

(in millions of euros) Totaal

2013
Cost as at 1 January  460 

Additions 21

Capitalisations  - 

Disposals  - 

Divestments -10

Other changes 4

Cost as at 31 December 475

Cumulative depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 146

Depreciation of the year 16

Disposals  - 

Divestments -8

Impairment 1

Other changes -

Cumulative depreciation and impairment as at 31 December 155

Carrying amount as at 31 December 320
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The fair value of investment property as at 31 December 
2013 amounts to €0.5 billion (2012: €0.5 billion). The value 
was measured independently and professionally through the 
engagement of qualified specialists. In this context, account 
was taken of the current lease agreements that the Group has 
concluded in a business-like, objective manner and that are 
comparable to those for similar property in the same area. 
The fair value of the property portfolio is calculated based on 
a net initial yield of 10% (2012: 10%). If the yield applied to 
the valuation of the property portfolio as at 31 December 
2013 were to be more than 100 basis points above the 
current yield, the value would fall by 10% (2012: 10%).
 

Investment property consists of a number of business 
premises let to third parties. Generally, the lease agreements 
include a period of some years during which it is not possible 
to cancel the agreement. After this period, renewal of the 
agreement is negotiated with the tenant. No conditional lease 
payments are charged. 

The direct rental income amounts to €58 million (2012: €62 
million). The direct rental costs include maintenance costs, 
immovable property tax and direct management costs, and 
came to €13 million (2012: €12 million).
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3
intangible assets

(in millions of euros) Goodwill
Other intangible

assets Total

2012
Cost as at 1 January  32  71  103 

Additions  1  37  38 

Acquisitions  11  4  15 

Disposals  -   -1  -1 

Other changes  -   2   2 

Cost as at 31 December  44  113  157 

Cumulative amortisation and impairment as at 
1 January 5  16 21

Amortisation for the year  -   11  11 

Impairment  6  2  8 

Disposals  -   -   -  

Other changes  -   -   -  

Cumulative amortisation and impairment as at  
31 December 11  29  40 

Carrying amount as at 1 January  27 55 82

Carrying amount as at 31 December  33  84 117

(in millions of euros) Goodwill
Other intangible

assets Total

2013
Cost as at 1 January 44  113 157

Additions  -   33  33 

Acquisitions  -   -   -  

Disposals  -7  -4   -11

Other changes  -  -3  -3

Cost as at 31 December 37 139 176

Cumulative amortisation and impairment as at 
1 January  11  29 40

Amortisation for the year  -   12  12 

Disposals  -  -  - 

Impairments  -7  -2  -9 

Other changes  1  -5  -4 

Cumulative amortisation and impairment as at 
31 December  5  34 39

Carrying amount as at 31 December 32 105 137

Other intangible assets include an amount of €4 million 
relating to acquired intangible assets.

The cash flows used for determining the impairments are 
based on the business plans prepared by the relevant business 
unit for a period of five years. A weighted average cost of 
capital (WACC) has been agreed for each cash-generating unit 
in accordance with that of comparable businesses.
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The calculations resulting in impairments and reversals are 
based on a weighted average discount rate after tax ranging 
between 6.5% and 9.1% (2012: between 6.5% en 9.1%). The 
goodwill at the end of the financial year relates entirely to the 
Passenger Transport segment.

The impairment tests performed in 2012 led to a write-down 
of €6 million on the goodwill and of €2 million on the other 
intangible fixed assets of a foreign associate.

4
investments in equity accounted investees
The financial information of investments accounted for  
using the equity method with a book value of €14 million 
(2012: €14 million) are as follows:

Geassocieerde deelnemingen 

(in millions of euros) 2013

Assets  22 

Liabilities  14 

net assets / liabilities 8

Revenues 30

Profit over the period 1

Pursuant to the disclosure requirements contained in sections 
379 and 414, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, a complete list 
of group companies, associates and joint ventures has been 
filed with the Trade Register in Utrecht.

With respect to investments accounted for using the equity 
method there are no material contingent assets and /or 
contingent liabilities.
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5
other non-current financial assets, including investments

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

other non-current financial assets, including investments

Available-for-sale financial assets  136   135 

Held-to-maturity investments  2   2 

Financial leases  22   23 

Other investments 46  16 

Total 206 176

other current financial assets

Deposits 231  279 

Total  231  279 

Total available-for-sale financial assets 136  135 

Total held-to-maturity investments 2 2 

The deposits and bonds (included in financial assets available 
for sale and held to maturity) as well as cash and cash 
equivalents are intended, among other things, for payment of 
some €330 million (2012: €360 million) of the agreed 
investment obligations, redemption and interest payments on 
loans, non-current provisions and liabilities. 

The finance lease in 2012 with DB Schenker Rail Netherlands 
NV is settled. In 2013, the Group entered into a new lease 
with a party for an amount of €13 million.

The other financial assets include a loan to HTM Personenver-
voer NV in the form of preference shares. The granted 
amount of €30 million is divided into the fair value of a loan 
(€26 million) and fair value of an option of €4 million. The 
value of the option is based on the cumulative market return 
(4%) that NS must return the moment the Group decide to 
terminate the loan agreement before the end of the contract. 
At the time the group decide not to exercise the option the 
subsequent valuation (amortized cost) of both the loan and 
the option will remain unchanged. The option is given the 
term considered as long term. As of 1 January 2017, when the 
option is not exercised, the cumulative preference shares are 
converted into ordinary shares with profit entitlement under 
the payment of an additional payment of €15 million.

The credit, exchange rate and interest rate risks the Group 
faces in relation to the other investments are explained in 
detail in Note 28.

98annUal rePort 2013  ConsoliDATeD finAnCiAl sTATemenTs



6
The deferred tax assets and liabilities can be broken down 
into the relevant items as follows: 

Deferred and current tax assets and liabilities

Assets liabilities

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

Property, plant and equipment 114  124 150  144 

Non-current financial assets -  -   -   9 

Receivables 62  92  7   -  

Deferred credits 37  41  -   -  

Provisions 43  66 1  -  

Non-current liabilities 14  20  -   -  

Other items 2  2  -   -  

Tax loss carry-forward  115  1  -   -  

Deferred tax asset 387 346

Deferred tax liability 158  153 

netted deferred tax assets and liabilities 229 193

Current tax assets and liabilities

Income tax reivable 30 11

Income tax payable 12 12
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities 2012

(in millions of euros) 

 Tax base for 
 calculation of  

 deferred tax as at 
1 January 2012 

 recognised 
 in income state-

ment 

 recognised in 
 other comprehen- 

 sive income 

 Tax base for 
 calculation of  

 deferred tax 
 calculated as at 

31 Dec. 2012  

Property, plant and equipment  502  -9  -   493 

Intangible assets  1  -   -   1 

Non-current financial assets  -   -   -   -  

Inventories  -   -   -   -  

Receivables  485  -118  -   367 

Deferred credits  208  -43  -   165 

Provisions  12  251  -   263 

Non-current liabilities  58  7 11  76 

Current liabilities  -6  12  -   6 

Total for temporary differences  1,260 100 11 1,371

Deferred tax asset on temporary differences 317 26 2 345

Tax loss carry-forward 75 -74 - 1

Total deferred tax assets 392 -48 2  346 

Deferred tax liability 

Property, plant and equipment  762  137  -   899 

Financial assets  20  -   -   20 

Intangible assets  35  -   -   35 

Receivables  3  -1  -   2 

Provisions  1  -   -   1 

Total temporary differences 821  136 - 957

Deferred tax liability on temporary differences 136 17 - 153

Changes in tax rate, temporary differences - - - -

Total deferred tax liability 136 17 - 153

Changes during the reporting period in the temporary 
differences between commercial valuation in the balance 
sheet and the valuation for tax purposes, distinguished 
according to additions and reductions:   
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities 2013

(in millions of euros) 

 Tax base for 
 calculation of  

 deferred tax as at 
1 January 2012 

 recognised 
 in income 
statement 

 recognised in 
 other comprehen- 

 sive income 

 Tax base for 
 calculation of  

 deferred tax 
calculated as at 

31 Dec. 2012  

Property, plant and equipment 493  -23 - 470

Intangible assets  1  -1  -  - 

Receivables 367  -118  -  249 

Deferred credits  165  -19  -  146 

Provisions 263  -95  -3  165 

Non-current liabilities 76  -11  -11  54 

Current liabilities 6 -1 - 5 

Total temporary differences  1,371  -268  -14 1,089

Deferred tax asset on temporary differences  345 -69 -4 272

Tax loss carry-forward 1  114 - 115 

Total deferred tax assets  346 45  -4  387 

Deferred tax liability 

Property, plant and equipment  899 58  -  957 

Financial assets  20  -3  -  17 

Intangible assets  35   -  -  35 

Receivables  2  -  -  2 

Provisions  1   -  -  1 

Totaal tijdelijke verschillen 957 55 -  1,012 

Deferred tax liability on temporary differences  153 5 - 158

Changes in tax rate, temporary differences -  - - -

Total deferred tax liability 153 5 - 158

The majority of the deferred tax assets will be collectable 
during the period 2018-2022. With respect to a participating 
interest outside the fiscal unity, deferred tax assets at 31 
December 2012 totalling €9 million were not recognised 
because it is unlikely that these receivables would be realised 
in the future.
In 2013, this claim has been recognised due to positive 
adjustment of future expectations with new profitable 
concessions. All deferred tax assets arising from loss carry-
forwards are valued at year-end 2013.

The applicable income tax rate for the Dutch companies for 
2013 is 25% (2012: 25%). The calculation of the deferred tax 
position was based on the applicable rate of 25%.

The total deferred receivables with a net value of €229 million 
(2012: €193 million) can be broken down as follows:
•  Receivable from the Dutch tax authorities: €309 million 

(2012: €284 million);
•  Receivable from the German tax authorities €17 million 

(2012: €2 million);

• Owed to the UK tax authorities: nil (2012: €3 million);
•  Owed to the Irish tax authorities €97 million  

(2012: €88 million);
• Owed to the Czech tax authorities nil (2012: €2 million);

Current tax assets and liabilities
The income tax asset of €30 million (2012: €11 million) can  
be specified as follows:
•  Receivable from the UK tax authorities €2 million  

(2012: €11 million);
•  Receivable from the Dutch tax authorities €28 million 

(2012: nil).

The income tax liability of €12 million (2012: €12 million) 
can be specified as follows:
•  Owed to the UK tax authorities €7 million (2012: €7 million);
• Owed to the Dutch tax authorities nil (2012: €5 million);
• Owed to the Irish tax authorities €5 million (2012: nil).
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7
inventories

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012*

Maintenance materials  93  115 

Projects under construction, unsold  7  3 

Trade goods  14  16 

Total 114  134 

*  The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting 
policy with respect to the spare parts (see pages 81).

In 2013, the charge for the reduction in the inventories value 
to the net realisable value was €10 million (2012: €4 million). 
The cumulative impairment loss as at year-end 2013 amounts 
to €108 million (2012: €107 million). 

8
Trade and other receivables

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

Receivables from clients from 

 projects in progress  5  5 

Trade receivables  645  246 

Unbilled revenue  72  71 

Other taxes and social security 

charges
 23  21 

Other receivables  257  166 

Total 1,002 509

The trade receivables at the end of 2013 include the invoiced 
revenue from the student pass for 2014. The revenue from 
the student pass for 2013 was only invoiced in 2013 and  
is therefore not included in the trade receivables at the end  
of 2012.

The ‘Trade and other receivables’ includes an amount of  
€466 million (2012: €33 million) that concerns related 
parties.

The credit risk associated with trade and other receivables 
(excluding projects in progress for third parties) and the 
impairment losses are shown in note 28.

 

Work in progress for projects in progress

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

Costs of work in progress 198  308 

Realised gains and losses  30 29

228 337

Less: Billed instalments 253 387

-25 -50

Presented under:

Receivables from clients for projects 

in progress 5 5

Advance payments received for 

projects in progress -30 -55

 -25  -50 

Trade and other payables are specified in note 16.

9
Cash and cash equivalents

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

Cash and bank balances 871  889 

Term deposits  47  54 

Constrained accounts  1  5 

Total 919  948 

With the exception of €91 million (2012: €89 million) the 
cash and cash equivalents are readily available.

The interest-rate risk facing the Group and a sensitivity 
analysis for financial assets and liabilities can be found  
in Note 5.
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10
equity
For the reconciliation of equity, please refer to page 79.

The authorised capital as at both 31 December 2013 and  
31 December 2012 consisted of 4 million ordinary shares with 
a nominal value of €453.78 (originally NLG 1,000). There are 
2,230,738 shares issued and fully paid up. All issued shares are 
held by the Dutch State. The shareholders are entitled to 
dividend as declared each year based on a resolution by the 
general meeting of shareholders concerning profit appropria-
tion. The shareholders are entitled to cast one vote per share 
during the company’s annual general meeting. 

The amount of €92 million (2012: €74 million) proposed  
the previous year was paid out to the shareholder as dividend 
in 2012. 

Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve includes all the 
exchange-rate differences that arise from the translation of the 
financial statements of foreign companies, as well as the 
translation of liabilities with which the net investment of the 
company in a foreign group company is hedged.

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve consists of the cumulative change in the 
fair value of hedging instruments where the hedged transac-
tion has not yet taken place or the hedged position has not yet 
been terminated.

Fair value reserve
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative change in the 
fair value of investments available for sale until the investment 
is derecognised.

Actuarial reserve
The actuarial reserve concerns the actuarial gains and losses, 
consisting of the difference between the actual and the 
expected changes in the pension liabilities and the investment 
result for plan assets.

General reserve
This is recognised in equity after deduction of tax.

Dividend
The proposed profit appropriation is included under ‘Other 
information’ on page 62.

11
Deferred credits

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

Financing benefits  3  5 

Lump sum payments  130  139 

Deferred Credits  133 144

Less: current -11 -10

Total non-current as at 
31 December

122  134 

At the end of 2013, the credits concern the balance of 
financing benefits and the lump sum payment for the wage 
cost increase following the privatisation of theSpoorwegpen-
sioenfonds (railway pension fund) in 1994.
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13
employee benefits
The employee benefits comprise:
•  Obligations with respect to staff who retired early, inclu-

ding the amount of the future benefits that former employ-
ees receive pursuant to the then VUT scheme, and early reti-
rement after 40 years of service in the context of the 
transitional arrangement (OVUT);

•  Other employee benefits in the long term, including 
long-service awards;

•  Obligations arising from occupational disability and 
supplements to social security benefits;

•  Obligations in connection with defined benefit plans (for 
further information, please see pages 33 and 34).

employee benefits

(in millions of euros) 31 dec. 2013 31 dec. 2012

Defined benefit plans 4 3

Other long-term employee benefits 28  27 

Transitional arrangements for early 

retirement (OVUT)
5 5

Total 37 35

Pension liabilities
The pension plans of the following pension funds apply to the 
staff of the NS group companies, with the number of partici-
pating active members shown (as at year-end 2013):

Active members

Spoorwegpensioenfonds 15.797

Horeca & Catering industrial pension fund 3.143

Food industry industrial pension fund 631

Supplementary Servex pension plan 106

Merseyrail Railways Pension Scheme 599

Northern Rail Railways Pension Scheme 2.297

Greater Anglia 2.360

Abellio London  1.616

Qbuzz 2.360

When joining industrial pension funds, NS group companies 
are under no obligation to meet additional payments in the 
event of a shortfall in the industrial pension fund, other than 
meeting their obligations with respect to future premiums. 
Likewise, the NS group companies also have no entitlement 
to any surpluses in the funds. As a result, these defined 
benefit plans are treated as defined contribution plans in 
these financial statements in accordance with IFRS. 

The pension contributions charged to the income statement 
for 2013 totalled €60 million (2012: €44 million). The change 

12
loans and other financial liabilities, including 
derivatives
These notes contain information about the contractual 
stipulations and the interest-bearing loans and other financial 
liabilities the Group has, which are valued at amortised cost.

loans and other financial liabilities

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

non - Current liabilities

Private loans  618  520 

Finance lease liabilities  75  5 

Interest rate swaps used for hedging 38  52 

Total  731  577 

Current liabilities

Private loans  44  48 

Finance lease liabilities 13 -

Total  57  48 

Total liabilities 788 625

A total debt of HSA is included in the private loans at the end 
of 2013 for amount of €195 million (2012: €80 million). Of 
this, €153 million is included under the non-current liabilities 
for the portion that is paid after 2014. The portion that will 
be paid (€42 million) in 2014 is included in current liabilities. 
The interest rate is fixed and amounts to 3.027%.

In 2013, a total amount of €88 million, a financial lease 
contract entered into for the lease of a number of buses. This 
obligation is divided into €75 million long term and €13 
million short-term.
The liquidity, exchange rate and interest rate risks arising 
from the loans and other financial liabilities of the Group are 
explained in detail in Note 28.
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of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accoun-
ting policies applied (see page  80).

The pension plan for the railways sector is administered by 
Spoorwegpensioenfonds. For financial reporting, this plan is 
classified as a defined contribution plan. The premium agreed 
with Spoorwegpensioenfonds is a fixed, predefined annual 
premium, expressed as a percentage of the pension base. This 
eventually increases to 20%. Of the pension premiums paid to 
Spoorwegpensioenfonds, two thirds is for the account of the 
employer and one-third for the account of the employees. 
After payment of the agreed premium, the company has no 
further obligation to make additional payments should there 
be a shortfall in the pension fund. The actuarial risks and the 
investment risks are borne by the pension fund and its 
members.

With respect to Abellio London and Qbuzz, the pension plan 
is primarily a defined contribution plan.

Merseyrail and Northern Rail and Greater Anglia
The British rail companies have placed the administration of 
the pension plan for their staff with the Railways Pension 
Scheme. The respective funds can be considered as company 
pension funds and the pension plan as a defined benefit plan. 
From 2013, the pension scheme of Greater Anglia  also 
qualifies as a defined benefit plan because of the extension of 
the concession and application of IAS19R.

The defined benefit plans are managed by ‘The Railways 
Pension Trustee Company Limited’ that is legally separate 
from the Group. The board of the pension fund is legally 
required to act in the best interests of plan participants and is 
responsible for the formulation of certain policies (eg 
investment, contribution and indexation policy) of the fund.

The law stipulates that at least every three years an actuarial 
valuation is made with a full funding of the pension plan is 
pursued. Of the total pension charges calculated, 60% is for 
the account of the employer and 40% for that of the employ-
ees. Because of these defined benefit plans, the Group faces 
actuarial risks such as longevity risk, currency risk, interest 
rate risk and market risk (investment risk). 
The negative difference between the pension liabilities and 
plan assets is recognised under other non-current liabilities 
and consists of the amount that would result in payment over 
the duration of the franchise period. The residual amount at 
the end of the concession period is not recognised in the 
balance sheet because it will be part of the liabilities of the 
next franchise holder. The pension liabilities and the plan 
assets were determined using actuarial calculations carried 
out as at 31 December.

Basic assumptions
In calculating the pension liabilities and the plan assets of 
Merseyrail and Northern Rail, the following basic assumpti-
ons were used (weighted average):

Basic assumptions

2013 2012

Discount rate 4.6% 4.6%

Wage increase 3.9% 3.4%

Pension increase 2.7% 2.2%

Inflation 3.4% 2.9%

Mortality table: 2010 SFO valuation

Breakdown
The pension liabilities can be broken down as follows: 

summary of pension liabilities

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

Fair value of plan assets  781  375 

Defined benefit obligations 1,173  513 

Deficit 392  138 

Members’ share of deficit 157  55 

Deficit at the end of the  

concessionary period 231  80 

Write-down of pension surplus  -    -   

Group’s net commitments con-
cerning franchise period 4 3

The qualification of the pension scheme of Greater Anglia as 
a defined benefit scheme leads to an increase in the plan 
assets of €348 million and the present value of the defined 
benefit pension with €528 million in 2013, however, the net 
liability of the Group over the concession period Greater 
Anglia is nil. 

At year-end 2013 and 2012, the actuarial calculation of the 
arrangements Mersey and Northern Rail resulted into a 
liability.
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Change in the pension liabilities
The change in the plan assets and the pension liabilities is as 
follows:

Change in the pension liabilities

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Plan assets as at 1 January  375  331 

Addition new pension scheme 348  - 

Interest income 32 16

Pension contributions 39  20 

Pension benefits paid -23  -9 

Administration expenses -4 -1 

Return on plan assets, excluding 

interest income 28 10

Exchange rate gains and losses  -14  8 

Plan assets as at 31 December 781  375 

Defined benefit obligations as at 1 

January  513  486 

Addition new pension scheme
528 -

Pension costs 42 25

Interest expenses 45  23 

Pension benefits paid -23  -9 

Net actuarial gain or loss

   -demographic assumptions - -3

   -financial assumptions 88 -17

   -experience adjustments - -3

Exchange rate gains and losses -20  11 

Defined benefit obligations as at 
31 December 1,173  513 

Breakdown pension assets
The breakdown of the pension assets is as follows:

Breakdown pension assets

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

Shares 347 142

Fixed-income securities 104  55 

Property 74  35 

Cash  66  52 

Other  190  91 

Total  781  375 

The Investment Manager of the Railway Pension Scheme has 
a strategy that is focused on consistency in the individual 
funds. This strategy includes determining a minimum risk 
level to meet the funding requirement and developing 
liquidity budgets to match the expected cash flows from the 

Sensitivity analyses
Reasonably possible changes in the relevant actuarial 
assumptions at balance sheet date and other assumptions 
held constant would have the following effect on the defined 
benefit obligation:

sensitivity analysis 
(change with 0.25%)

increase Decrease

Discount rate 66  167 

Inflation 67  168 

Future salary increase  34  33 

Change in the mortality increase by one year would have an 
impact of €29 million to the defined benefit obligation.

The impact of these changes on the net liabilities of the 
Group over the concession period is expected to be limited 
due to the transfer of liabilities at the end of the concession.
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liquidity of the investments with the expected cash flows 
from the pension liability. The Investment Manager receives 
periodic economic and market updates based on which the 
results of the strategic investment are analysed. A flexible 
capital mix was chosen to reduce the risk profile.

Pension expense in the income statement

(in millions of euros)  2013 2012

Pension costs  26  15 

Interest expenses  -  - 

Administration expenses 2  1 

Total 28  16 

Actuarial gains and losses recognised  
in equity

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Net actuarial gain or loss    

   -demographic assumptions - 3 

   -financial assumptions -87  18 

   -experience adjustments - 3 

Return on plan assets, excluding 

interest income 28 10 

Franchise adjustment 28 -16

Changes in members' share 34  -13 

Total 3 5

The Group projects that it will have to contribute €32 million 
to the aforementioned defined benefit plan in 2014. In 2013, 
the contribution totalled €28 million.

Early pension after 40 years’ service
In accordance with the collective labour agreement (CAO) 
agreed in 1998 for the social unity of the Group, the early 
retirement scheme (VUT) was replaced at the time by the 
early pension scheme. A transitional arrangement applies for 
staff who has served 40 years before the early pension age 
and were born before 1950. As regards staff who have served 
40 years before the early pension age and were born after 
1949, the amount reserved for these members of staff has 
been used for the career break scheme [levensloopregeling]. 
The administration of the transitional arrangement has been 
transferred to Spoorwegpensioenfonds. A one-off payment 
was made to Spoorwegpensioenfonds in order to cover the 
obligations. Settlement will be based on the final costs. 

Other long-term employee benefits
This includes long-service obligations. The 2012-2062 
mortality tables are used for calculating the long-service 
awards.

The change in the provision for long-service awards is as 
follows:

Change in the provision for long-service 
obligations

 2013 2012

long-service award obligation as at 
1 January  27  23 

Addition new pension scheme 1 -

Payments -2  -2 

Actuarial gains and losses 1 5

Accrued interest 1  1 

long-service award obligation 
as at 31 December  28  27 

The short-term part of the obligation amount to €2 million.

The sensitivities are as follows:

sensitivities
Change in 

liablities  2013

Change of discountrate -0.5% 3.8%

Increase of salaries  -3.6%

Change of career opportunities  2.5% 

Dismissal rates +25%  4.1%
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Reorganisation costs and inactivity schemes
The purpose of the provision for reorganisation costs and 
inactivity schemes is to cover the costs incurred due to 
reorganisation measures. The bulk of the provision is 
earmarked for redundancy schemes, bridging payments and 
redeployment of members of staff whose positions have been 
abolished during a reorganisation. 

The addition to the provision consists mainly of estimated 
restructuring costs because of the TOP program. The calcula-
tion of the addition is based on current employment  
conditions. The provision is calculated using a discount  
rate of 4%. The Group expects until 2018 withdrawals from 
this provision.

Provision for soil decontamination
The purpose of the provision for soil decontamination is to 
manage and clean up environmental damage. The provision 
is calculated using an average discount rate of 1% (2012: 1%).
The Group expects obligations to arise with respect to this 
provision until 2030. A substantial part of this provision 
concerns the residual provision that will have to be on hand 
in 2030. This portion has a long-term character. A review will 
be carried out every five years, which may result in adjust-
ments to the addition policy. 

Provision for onerous contracts
This provision mainly concerns the loss-making concession 
contract for the operation of HSL South. Discussions with the 
Dutch State resulted in a definitive policy plan by the 
minister in 2012 to incorporate the HSL South services in the 
main rail network in a new concession to be awarded in a 
private settlement to NS with effect from 1 January 2015. 
HSA’s current concession, which was originally awarded for 
15 years, will be withdrawn and the concession contract will 

be terminated prematurely. NS has acted as guarantor 
vis-à-vis the State regarding the implementation of the 
published policy plan for the operation and HSA’s concession 
commitments up to 2015.  
It was also agreed that the payable access charges would be 
reduced by €206 million in 2012 due to exogenous factors 
(EMC-ERTMS issues). ). On 17 January 2013, the Amsterdam 
to Brussels Fyra service was suspended for precautionary 
reasons due to safety problems with the V250 rolling stock 
and later in the year is finally decided not to deploy V250 
rolling stock (see note 1).

At the end of 2013, the provision for the loss-making HSL 
South contract was calculated on the basis of the best 
estimate on the balance-sheet date of the present value of the 
expected net costs of continuing the current concession 
contract up to 1 January 2015, the date on which the current 
concession contract will be ended according to the minister’s 
policy plan.

The provision was calculated using a discount rate of 4% 
(2012: 8%). The discount rate is reduced because of changed 
risk profile and maturity of the provision. At the end of 2013, 
the provision for the loss-making HSL South contract was 
€167 million (2012: €249 million). In 2013, in addition to 
interest accruals of €15 million, an amount of €207 million 
(2012: €188 million) was released from the provision and an 
amount of €110 million added (2012: €6 million) to the 
provision. 

Other provisions
The ‘other provisions’ item concerns, among other things, 
provisions for damage due to accidents and fire, and a 
provision for risks associated with the cancellation of 
cross-border lease transactions.

14
Provisions

(in millions of euros)

Reorganisation
costs and

redundancy 
schemes

Provision  
for soil 

remediation

Provision for
onerous

contracts
Other  

provisions Total

Carrying amount as at 1 January 2013  9 102 262 79 452

Addition  42  -  111  27  180 

Accrued interest  -  -  15  -  15 

Withdrawal -6 -9 -220 -25 -260

Release -  -2  - -7 -9

Carrying amount as at 31 December 2013 45 91 168 74 378

non-current 42 82 1 57 182

Current 3 9 167 17 196
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15
Accruals
In the accruals, the obligation with respect to the renewal of 
sidings is included.
 

16
Trade and other payables

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012*

Advance payments received for 

work in progress  30  55 

Trade payables 257  300 

Current portion of deferred credits 11  10 

Other taxes and social security 

charges
93  66 

Other liabilities 468  457 

Accrued expenses and deferred 

income
322  360 

Total 1,181 1,248

*  The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting 
policy with respect to reservation paid leave (see page 80).

The accrued expenses and deferred income comprise the 
monies received in the context of FENS. About €77 million of 
the amount in this item is expected to have a term of more 
than one year. The trade payables and other liabilities include 
an amount of €21 million that concerns related parties.

The liquidity risk of the Group arising from trade payables and 
other outstanding items is specified in Note 28.

For detailed information on the ‘advance payments received 
for work in progress’ item, please refer to Note 8.

17
Deferred income
This primarily concerns prepaid student public transport pass 
and season tickets and   at the end of 2012 – prepaid season 
tickets. See disclosure note 8 trade and other receivables.

18
off-balance-sheet commitments

Long-term contracts
At year-end 2013, the Group had a number of long-term 
financial obligations to third parties. In the first instance, these 
concern operating lease agreements for trains, company cars 
and reproduction equipment. Secondly, there are long-term 
contracts for services provided by third parties in the fields of 
IT, health and safety, maintenance and cleaning. The total 
obligation for long-term rental agreements for office accommo-
dation amounts to some €90 million (2012: some €85 million). 

The amounts payable by virtue of operating lease agreements 
that cannot be cancelled fall due as follows:

operational lease commitments

(in millions of euros) 31 Dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

<1 year  142  233 

1-5 years 230  371 

>5 years 421  26 

Total 793 630

In 2005, the Group concluded an eight-year contract with 
Essent (2007-2014) for the delivery of traction power to the 
rolling stock fleet in the Netherlands. The transport costs of 
traction power are not covered by this contract. The value of 
the contract that exceeds an agreed limit is pledged as 
security by Essent or paid by Essent. The payment and the 
liability, to the extent that they exist, are offset against the 
other because they are inextricably linked. At year-end 2013, 
the compulsory purchase obligation was €108 million (2012: 
€190 million). Furthermore, there are long-term contracts for 
the delivery of consumables, including the supply of energy, 
diesel and oil. These contracts are limited in size.

Abellio has closed for several group companies fuel-hedging 
contracts to hedge the price of fuel and the associated currency 
risk. Forward contract are used to hedge the price of fuel and 
the associated and associated currency risk for a portion of its 
fuel costs for a future period (ranging between year-end 2014 
and 2016). In respect of these forward contracts Abellio has 
issued guarantees amounting to €10 million.
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Abellio signed an agreement in 2013 for the purchase of 
trains for an amount of  €140 million (delivery in 2016). In 
addition, a sale-and-leaseback contract has been closed for 
this investment. The lessor is responsible for payments (€42 
million paid in 2013). The remaining obligation for Abellio, 
which is the size of the operating lease obligation, is included 
in the above table.

Group tax entity
Virtually all the subsidiaries of the Group are part of the NS 
tax entity for Dutch income tax purposes, with the exception 
of foreign subsidiaries. Therefore, the Group is jointly and 
severally liable for the tax liabilities of subsidiaries that are 
part of the tax entity

Investment obligations
At year-end 2013, the Group had outstanding investment 
obligations totalling some €330 million (2012: €360 million), 
particularly for acquiring and overhauling trains. 

Contingent liabilities
Of the share of the Group in the share capital (converted €125 
million) of Eurofima AG, €25 million has been paid up. The 
Group has a direct callable full payment obligation and 
guarantee commitments worth €221 million. 
Collateral has been provided for the Eurofima loans that are 
not part of the cross-border lease financing in the form of a 
pledge of rolling stock.

In addition, the Group and consolidated participating 
interests have issued surety, letters of intent and guarantees 
worth some €635 million (2012: some €325 million).

Because of agreements with Belgian carrier on the IC Brus-
sels, the Group considers a for the Group negative balance in 
the settlement of the operating expenses on this route. The 
size of the balance depends on the operating result on that 
route.

Claims have been submitted against NS and/or group com-
panies that it is contesting. Although the outcome of these 
disputes is not certain, it is expected that they will not have 
negative financial consequences of material significance. For 
disclosure regarding the claim of AnsaldoBreda please refer  
to note 1.

Concessions
The Group has the following concessions:

Expiratiedatum

Main rail network 12/31/14

HSL-South 6/30/24

Regional transport concessions see further

Merseyrail Electrics concession around  

Liverpool (UK) 7/20/28

Northern Rail concession in the UK 3/31/14

Greater Anglia concession in the UK 7/19/14

Abellio concessions in Germany see further

Abellio London concessions in England see further

Qbuzz see further

Main rail network
This concession was granted by the ministry of Infrastructure 
and the Environment and concerns passenger transport by 
rail using the main railway network in the Netherlands. Each 
year, NS prepares a transport plan that requires the approval 
of the minister of Infrastructure and the Environment. With 
the transport it offers, NS is responsible for guaranteeing the 
public interest of passenger transport by train. This means 
that NS contributes towards the accessibility of major cities, 
economic core areas and the regions, and ensures accessibi-
lity for all. The service provided by NS must also be focused 
on growth. Furthermore, in the context of the public interest, 
NS should keep its operational performance up to standard as 
measured against five duty-of-care aspects: guaranteeing 
public safety, running on time, offering a proper service 
(cleanliness and ready information in the event of disrupti-
ons) and offering a fair chance of obtaining a seat.
Among other things, it has been agreed with the authorities 
that if NS should eventually lose the concession for the main 
rail network, rolling stock used on the main rail network 
should be taken over by the new concession holder at their 
carrying amount or on the basis of lease agreements.
The concession is valid from 1 January 2005 to 1 January 
2015. In 2013, NS was liable for a concession charge of €30 
million; this charge will be €30 million in 2014. In addition, 
the minister can impose a maximum penalty of €2.75 million 
per year on NS if the agreed performance as contained in the 
transport plan is not achieved.

HSL South
The concession was awarded on the basis of a public tender to 
HSA, in which NS and KLM are the shareholders. The contrac-
tual obligations include, among other things, minimum 
frequencies and maximum journey times, as well as quality 
requirements (punctuality) and requirements concerning 
customer satisfaction and accessibility. 

The term of the concession was originally 15 years. The start 
date was postponed a number of times and was set at 1 July 
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2009 by the State. The agreement does not contain any 
options for renewal. As regards termination, it stipulates that 
this is only possible through cancellation by the minister. 
Discussions with the State resulted in a definitive policy plan 
by the minister to cancel the current concession with effect 
from 1 January 2015, to terminate the concession agreements 
on that date and then to incorporate the HSL South services 
in the main rail network in a new integrated concession to be 
awarded in a private settlement to NS with a term of 10 
years. This policy plan was published on 2 January 2013.

NS has acted as guarantor vis-à-vis the State regarding the 
implementation of the published policy plan for the opera-
tion and HSA’s concession commitments up to 2015. At the 
end of 2013, the provision for the loss-making HSL South 
contract was calculated on the basis of the present value of 
the expected net costs of continuing the current concession 
contract up to 1 January 2015 (see the explanatory notes to 
the provisions).

The annual access charge is €148 million as at 2000 prices 
(the charges are index-linked) with a scheme/discount for 
the introductory phase for the first four years. The access 
charge was €161 million in 2013 (2012: €126 million). A 
one-off reduction in the debt was agreed in 2012 of €206 
million in 2012 due to exogenous factors (EMC-ERTMS 
issues). The remaining liability at the end of 2013 of €195 
million in total will be paid in annual terms of €40 million 
(nominal). A downward adjustment of €14 million was 
applied to the annual access charge for journey times and 
the frequency of the service to Paris. Renegotiations of the 
access charge, among other things, are possible under 
certain circumstances.

Regional transport concessions
This concerns passenger transport by rail for the connections 
listed below. 
The concessions contain the requirements with respect to 
frequency, accessibility, service levels and similar aspects. 

The following three concessions were extended in 2012 and 
have a term up to and including 12 December 2015:
• Gouda – Alphen aan den Rijn
• Zwolle – Kampen
• Rotterdam – Hoek van Holland Strand
The concessions were granted by the relevant provincial or 
municipal authorities.
A user fee is received from the entity granting the concession 
for its implementation.

Merseyrail franchise
This franchise is operated in a 50/50 joint venture with Serco 
Group plc, a listed British company. It concerns passenger 
transport on the rail network around Liverpool. The annual 
train-kilometres covered comes to approximately six million.
There is a duty to implement the agreed service level (timeta-

ble, quality of the service) at a fixed fee from the regional 
authorities. An evaluation is performed once every five years 
to ascertain whether the operations continue to be ‘efficient’. 
The first evaluation took place in 2008. The franchise runs for 
25 years (until 20 July 2028). There is an option to extend for 
5 years. Failure to comply with the contract means that the 
franchise may be terminated, in which case the financial 
exposure for the company would be £ 5 million. The annual 
fee from the authorities (grant) is laid down in the contract 
and is indexed annually. 

Northern Rail franchise
This franchise is operated in a 50/50 joint venture with Serco 
Group plc, a listed British company. It concerns the regional 
and urban passenger transport in the north of England. This 
franchise covers about 45 million train-kilometres a year. 
There is a mandatory requirement to perform the agreed 
service provision (timetable, quality of the timetable) at a fee 
from the authorities (grant) agreed in advance and which is 
indexed annually. The franchise runs until 1 April 2014. In 
January 2014 a head of terms agreement has been reached 
which extends the franchise for 22 months to 6 February 
2016, with an option to extend by another 2 months. If the 
contractual conditions are not met, the franchise may be 
terminated. In that case, the financial exposure for the 
company would be £ 16 million.

Greater Anglia franchise
Abellio won the Greater Anglia franchise in 2011. This 
franchise is operated by the full subsidiary Abellio Greater 
Anglia Ltd. It concerns passenger transport by train on the 
rail network in the Anglia region in the east of England. The 
number of train-kilometres for this franchise is around 34 
million per annum. The franchise started on 5 February 2012, 
was awarded for the period to 19 July 2014. It is expected to 
sign an interim franchise agreement in May/June 2014 
containing an extension for 27 months to 10 October 2016, 
with an option to extend by another 6 months. There is an 
obligation to provide the set services (timetable, quality of the 
services) for a predetermined fee paid to the government, 
which is index-linked on an annual basis. In the event of 
non-compliance with the contract, the franchise may be 
terminated. In that case the financial exposure is £ 10 
million. There are also 50 franchise obligations that must be 
met during the term of the franchise, with penalty clauses if 
the obligations are not met.

Concessions in Germany
Abellio operates various train services in North-Rhine 
Westphalia. The concessions run until between 2019 and 
2028. In 2012 the Saale-Thüringen-Südharz-Netz rail conces-
sion has been acquired with a start date in December 2015 
and an annual revenue of about €130 million. In 2013 the 
Niederrhein-Netz rail concession has been won with a start 
date in December 2016 and an annual revenue of about €42 
million.
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notes  
to the consolidated  
income statement 2013

19
Revenue
Revenues can be broken down as follows into revenue 
categories:

Revenue Categories

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Passenger services  3,603  3,568 

Hub development and 

operation  630  735 

Other activities  67  58 

Intra group elimination  -105   -95 

Total turnover  4,195  4,266 

Own capitalised production 176  159 

Other revenue  235  213 

Total revenue  4,606  4,638 

The Hub Development and Operation item includes an 
amount of €131 million (2012: €248 million) relating to 
development activities.

Concessions in the Czech Republic
After selling PROBO at the end of November 2013, Abellio no 
longer has activities in the Czech Republic.

Concessions in London
Abellio London operates 42 bus services in London from 5 
depots and 37 bus services in Surrey. The concessions have an 
average term of 5 years and end between 2014 and 2019. 

Qbuzz concessions
Qbuzz operates regional bus services in Friesland (until 
December 2016), Groningen-Drenthe (extended in 2012 by 2 
years to December 2017) and Utrecht (8 December 2013 until 
8 December 2023). On 31 December 2013 Qbuzz operated 
over 700 buses and 26 trams.

112annUal rePort 2013  ConsoliDATeD finAnCiAl sTATemenTs



oPeratinG exPenses

20
staff costs

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Lonen en salarissen  1,260  1,187 

Premies sociale verzekeringen  167  159 

Bijdragen aan toegezegde- 

bijdrage pensioenregelingen 32  28 

Bijdragen aan toegezegd-  

pensioenregelingen  28   16 

Overige personeelskosten  76  96 

Inhuur personeel  99  120 

Totaal  1,662  1,606

The average staffing, expressed in human years: 

Average staffing

2013 2012

Passenger transport 25,174  24,342 

Hub development and 

-operation 3,312  3,213 

Other activities 499  470 

Total 28,985 28,025

Remuneration of Directors

Introduction
In 2012, remuneration policy for the management of NS has 
been reassessed. In addition, we looked at the social develop-
ments in this field in the Netherlands. At year-end 2012, a 
new remuneration policy for directors of NS has been 
introduced that apply to all new board members.

Remuneration 2013
The remuneration for the CEO recruited in 2013 is based on 
this new remuneration policy. The remuneration of the 
directors sitting on January 1, 2013 is based on the remunera-
tion policy as it applied before.

Core objective of the remuneration policy in force is to 
enable the Supervisory Board to attract and retain well-quali-
fied members of the board. The remuneration policy should 
support and promote the objectives and strategy of NS.

The remuneration is determined on the proposal of the 
Remuneration Committee by the Supervisory Board. The 
remuneration committee consists of Mrs. T.M. Lodder 
(Chairman), Mr. C.J. Van den Driest and Mrs. I. Jankovich. 
Discussion include the remuneration policy, the targets and 
the calendar.

Elements of remuneration and the relationship between 
the elements
The remuneration of the Executive Board consists of a fixed 
income with fringe benefits (expense allowance, company 
car, pension) and a variable short-term income.

Level of remuneration in relation to the external remune-
ration market
The total remuneration is based on the remuneration policy 
is based on a weighted combination of the remuneration 
system at two Dutch external reference markets, namely 
‘public and semi - public’ and ‘private’. Based on the medians 
of these markets, a weighted median is determined in the 
ratio 60 ‘public and semi - public’ : 40 ‘private’. Regarding the 
peer group ‘public and semi - public’ a group is composed of 
organizations in terms of nature , size, complexity and 
impact as much as possible of similar order as NS. These semi 
-public group has been established at the end of 2012 and 
consists of AMC , Belastingdienst, Connexxion, GVB, Port of 
Rotterdam, Ministry of I & M, ProRail and Vitens. The ‘total 
cash’ remuneration of top executives of these organizations is 
taken into account. For the private sector the level of remune-
ration of Dutch director positions with comparable positions 
is taken into account. The board positions at NS are analysed 
for this purpose using the job evaluation methodology HAY 
Group, a methodology that in NS is also used for other 
functions. The reference income for the fixed income 
component of the CEO is 20% above the reference income of 
the other directors.

As of January 1, 2013, the fixed income of the directors of NS 
is adjusted by 0.5% and by February 1, 2013 by 3%. This is in 
accordance with the adjustment that was agreed in the NS 
Collective Labour Agreement and appropriate in the remune-
ration policy.

Performance criteria for variable remuneration component
The variable income is focused on achieving challenging goals 
within a year and is for the current CEO based on the current 
remuneration policy, up to 20% of the fixed salary. The 
amounts for the other current board members are up to 40% 
of the fixed income, this is based on the previously applicable 
remuneration policy.

The variable part is built up in two categories, namely the 
interest of the traveller and business economic importance. 
In the mutual weighing between the classes a factor of 75:25 
has been used. The achievement of the budgeted operating 
profit before interest and tax (‘EBIT’) is used as a financial 
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executive Board remuneration

In euros 2013 2012

T.H. Huges*
Fix salary  107,500 0

Variable remuneration 0 0

e.m. Robbe
Fix salary 391,586 379,210

Variable remuneration 0 0

m.W.l. van Vroonhoven
Fix salary 391,586 379,210

Variable remuneration 0 0

A. meerstadt**
Fix salary 378,521 489,141

Variable remuneration 0 0

Total 1,269,193 1,247,561

* October 1 until December 31, 2013
** January 1 until September 30, 2013

Crisis Levy
The amount of Executive Board remuneration excludes an 
amount of €114,921 of crisis levy (set by the government).  
For 2012, this amount was €231,210.

Pensions
The employer’s share of pension costs is for the entire NS 
Executive Board in 2013 €53,278 (2012: €39,474).  
The employer’s share of pension costs is 2/3 of the total 
pension costs.

Lease cars
In accordance with the lease arrangement of NS, the directors 
of NS are entitled to a company car. In the scheme it is 
possible to opt out of a lease car, the director will be compen-
sated for a gross payment of the lease amount. Mr Huges uses 
this scheme and receives accordingly an amount of €1,310 
gross per month. Mr. Robbe also made use of this scheme 
until December 12, 2013 and received under the scheme up to 
that date an amount of €1,310 gross per month. As of Decem-
ber 12, 2013 Mr. Robbe uses a lease car. The scheme also 
included the option to choose a smaller lease car, with gross 
payment of the difference between actual lease costs and 
maximum allowable lease amount. Ms. van Vroonhoven has 
chosen this option and receives a monthly sum of €525 gross.

target. The category of interest of travellers imposes an 
explicit link to the socially important “public transport” 
function. The targets relate to overall customer assessment, 
travellers punctuality and reputation (“reptrack - pulsesco-
re”). Both categories know objectively measurable perfor-
mance criteria, which targets are agreed that are measured 
and evaluated over a period of one year. A score of less than 
90% in the qualitative category and / or in the financial 
category leads that no variable income for that year is 
determined. The remuneration policy includes a claw back 
clause. The Board of Supervisory Directors retains its 
discretion to determine the variable income.

In 2013, no variable remuneration has been paid, after the 
supervisory board decided not to grant incentives to the NS 
directors. In 2014 no variable remuneration will be paid due 
to the performance of NS.

Pension scheme
The directors participate in the pension industry pension 
fund (Spoorwegpensioenfonds).

Contracts of employment
Mr. T.H. Huges was appointed with effect from 1 October 
2013 to President of NS for a period of 4 years. The Supervi-
sory Board followed the articles No. II.1.1 and II.2.8 of the 
Corporate Governance Code in conclusion of the employ-
ment contract with respect to the term of the appointment 
and any compensation, as well as based on the approved 
resolution of the shareholder a reduction in the fixed income 
by 15% compared to its predecessor. The variable remunera-
tion does not exceed 20% of the fixed salary. Furthermore, 
the costs of health insurance for Mr. Huges are reimbursed.

Ms. M.W.L. of Vroonhoven was reappointed on 1 August 
2013 for a period of 4 years as a member of the board of NS. 
In her contract of employment, the Supervisory Board 
Corporate Governance Code followed No. II.1.1 and II.2.8 of 
the Corporate Governance Code with respect to the duration 
of the appointment and any compensation. The variable 
remuneration is based on her contract up to 40% of the  
fixed salary.

Mr. E.M. Robbe was appointed with effect from 1 January 
2011 for a period of 4 years as a member of the board of NS. 
The above-mentioned corporate governance principles are 
also included in his contract. The variable remuneration is 
based on his contract up to 40% of the fixed salary.

Executive Board remuneration
The specifications of the gross remuneration amounts for 
each member of the Executive Board that are for the account 
of the company are as follows.
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Termination of employment at the request of  
Mr. Meerstadt
On April 1, 2014 the employment of Mr. A. Meerstadt with 
NS will come to an end. From the cessation of his CEO ship 
from 1 October 2013 until the end of employment, he will be 
an advisor to the board while retaining his salary and other 
employment in his employment agreement. From 1 October 
to 31 December 2013 an amount of €126,583 was paid to him 
in connection therewith.

Early Departure Scheme of Mr. Niggebrugge
Mr. Niggebrugge started in May 2011 using an early departure 
scheme.
This scheme is defined in his employment contract from 
2000. The scheme covers 24 months, commencing May 1, 
2011 at 90% of their last salary set. In 2013, an amount equal 
to €142,017 was paid to him. The early exit scheme ended in 
accordance with the agreements.

Remuneration of the Supervisory Board members
The remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board for 
2012 borne by the company totalled €211,347. In 2012, the 
remuneration of members of the Supervisory Board 2012 
borne by the company was €207.686. The remuneration 
comprises a fixed fee and an allowance for participating in 
one or more committees.

The specification for each member of the Supervisory Board 
is as follows:

Remuneration of the  
supervisory Board members

In euros 2013 2012

C.J. van den Driest 
(chairman, member remuneration 
committee, chairman selection 
and appointment committee) 38,965 5,180

f.J.G.m. Cremers, 
(vice chairman, chairman audit 
committee) 40,150 40,150

i.m.G. Jankovich (per 1 March 
2013) (member remuneration 
committee, member selection 
and appointment committee) 23,803 -

T.m. lodder 
(chairman remuneration com-
mittee, member selection and 
appointment committee) 34,900 35,215

m.J. oudeman (until 13 March 
2013) (member remuneration 
committee, member selection 
and appointment committee) 5,898 29,900

P. Rosenmöller 
(member audit committee) 29,900 29,900

J.J.m. Kremers
(member audit committee) 29,900 27,641

W. meijer (until 13 March 2013)
(member remuneration com-
mittee, member selection and 
appointment committee) 7,831 39,700

Total 211,347 207,686

The company has not extended any loans, advances or 
guarantees with respect to the Executive Board or Supervisory 
Board members.

All the shares of NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen are held by the 
Dutch State. No options have been extended to Executive 
Board or Supervisory Board members or to members of staff to 
hold or obtain securities in the company.
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21
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Depreciation of property, 

plant and equipment  323  325 

Depreciation of investment 

property  16  15 

Amortisation of intangible 

assets  12  11 

Total depreciation and 
amortisation  351  351 

Impairments of property, 

plant and equipment  274  2 

Impairments of investment 

property  1  3 

Impairments of intangible 

assets  -   8 

Total (reversal of)  
impairment losses  275  13 

Total  626  364 

22
Use of raw materials, consumables and 
inventories

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Raw materials and  

consumables
 340  338 

Energy  209  227 

Total 549 565

23
Costs of subcontracted work and other 
external costs

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Subcontracted work  149  238 

Cleaning  83  80 

Maintenance 116  106 

Information Technology  167  134 

Total 515 558

24
infrastructure fees
The user fee for the Dutch rail infrastructure increased from 
€314 million to €358 million due to a price increase and 
infrastructure fee paid for the high-speed rail. The user fee 
for the British rail infrastructure in 2013 was €259 million 
compared to €217 million in 2012. This increase was due to 
the start of the Greater Anglia franchise. The user fee for the 
German rail infrastructure 2013 was €21 million (2012:  
€20 million).

25
other operating expenses
Other operating expenses include insurance, accommodation 
costs and fixtures and fittings, external auditor’s fees, 
publicity costs, rental and lease costs for operating assets and 
additions to provisions.
 

external auditor’s fees

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Statutory audits 1,7  1,7 

Other assurance 

engagements
1,4  0,9 

Tax advisory services - -

Other services 0,8 0,9

Total 3,9 3,5
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26
net finance result

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Recognised in the income statement

 
Interest income from available-for-sale financial assets 1 1  

Interest income from deposits with a term longer than a month 1  4

Interest income from bank balances  4 7

Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets

transferred from equity - -

Exchange rate differences  -   -  

Lease income  -  1

Other interest income 5 2

finance income 11 15

Interest expense from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  -7  -9 

Interest expenses form interest rate swaps for cashflow hedging -14 -10

Financial benefits  8  9 

Exchange rate differences  -   -  

Other costs of financing activities  -24  -30 

finance expense -37 -40

net finance result included in the income statement -26 -25

Recognised directly in equity  

Foreign currency translation differences -1  2 

Effective portion of changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges 11  -11 

Net changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets -  1 

Income tax on gains and losses recognised in equity -3  2 

finance result recognised directly in equity, after tax 7  -6 

Attributable to:

Company shareholder 7  -6 

Minority interest  -  - 

finance result recognised directly in equity, after tax 7 -6
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27
income tax

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Included in the income statement

Current taxes 6  -23 

Deferred taxes 40  -44 

Total income tax expense 46  -67 

Reconciliation with effective tax rate

Profit before tax -89  330 

Non-deductible costs 4 4

Other permanent differences - 1

Taxable result  -85  335 

Income tax at Dutch tax rate for corporation tax (2013 and 2012: 25%): 21 -84

Effect of the tax rate in foreign jurisdictions (different rate) 17  15 

Effect of valuation of losses carry forward 9 - 

Effect of non-valuation of deductible losses - -3

Settlement previous years -1  5 

Changes in tax rate on deferred taxes  -  - 

Total income tax 46 -67

income tax on income and expenses recognised directly 
in equity -4 1

The income tax was calculated using the applicable tax rates 
in the Netherlands, the UK, Ireland, Belgium, Germany, the 
Czech Republic, France and the Scandinavian countries, 
taking account of the tax rules and the permanent differences 
between the determination of the result for reporting 
purposes and that for tax purposes. The tax rules consist of, 
among other things, the participation exemption and the 
limits to deductible costs. 

The effective tax burden on the result for income tax is 51.7% 
(2012: 20.3%). 

Agreements have been reached with the tax authorities with 
respect to the tax returns until the end of 2009. No final 
assessment has been received yet for the years after that; the 
financial statements for previous years and this year include 
the tax for those years based on the submitted returns.
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28
Financial risk management

Financial instruments are contracts between parties that 
produce a financial asset for one party and a financial liability 
or equity instrument for the other party. This includes 
traditional financial instruments (accounts receivable, debts 
and securities) and derivative financial instruments (deriva-
tives).

Financial instruments potentially bring risk. As far as the 
Group is concerned, these are mainly market risks, credit 
risks and liquidity risks. This section discusses the objectives 
and the policy with respect to the management of risks 
arising from financial instruments, as well as the manage-
ment of capital.

The purpose of the Group’s risk policy is to identify and 
analyse the risks to which the Group is exposed, to determine 
effective risk limits and controls and to monitor compliance 
with the agreed limits. The policy and systems for financial 
risk management are evaluated on a regular basis and, where 
appropriate, adjusted to the changes in the market conditions 
and the activities of the Group. 

To ensure adequate risk management, additional policies have 
been drawn up for a number of business units. For instance, 
NS Insurance and Abellio implement specific risk management 
measures for the business units where Corporate Treasury is 
responsible for the financial risk management. 

Where Corporate Treasury’s policy relates to the business 
units, this policy is recorded in the Cash Manager’s Manual 
[Handboek Cash managers], which is part of the overall NS 
Reporting Manual accessible to every Dutch member of staff 
via the NS intranet. The Group wishes to create a disciplined 
and constructive climate based on policy standards and 
procedures in which all the members of staff understand their 
role and responsibilities. The Group also strives to spread 
knowledge and expertise among several members of staff in 
order to avoid excessive dependence on individual people. 

The Group participates in transport concessions outside the 
Netherlands through Abellio. Most of these operations are in 
the UK, in part in a joint venture with its partner Serco, with 
both parties having equal representation. In addition, Abellio 
has operations in Netherlands and Germany. The nature of 
the risks and the control measures are similar to those for NS, 
bearing in mind the size of these operations.

The Audit Committee and the Supervisory Board monitor the 
adequacy of the risk management framework in conjunction 
with the risks the Group faces. In its supervisory capacity, the 

Group’s Audit Committee is assisted by Corporate Audit and 
the Corporate Finance and Administration department.
Corporate Audit performs regular and ad hoc evaluations to 
provide additional assurance of the good governance of all 
the business processes of NS. The findings of Corporate Audit 
are reported to the Audit Committee.

Insurance risks
In the context of its operating activities, the Group faces risks 
that can be insured. Risks over and above its retained cover 
are administered by the subsidiary NS Insurance. These 
concern the risks of collision, fire, operational claims and 
liability claims. The maximum amount of these damages is 
calculated by external specialists once every three years, or 
more often if changed circumstances dictate. The subsidiary 
NS Insurance insures the identified risks of the business 
units. It does not insure third parties. Should the total annual 
claims burden exceed the retained cover of NS Insurance, 
they are covered by reinsurance. The normal loss and damage 
of the Group will be reimbursed from the premium income 
and investment income of NS Insurance. If the claims exceed 
the normal claims, yet are lower than the retained cover of 
NS Insurance, these are met by the – adequate – free reserve 
of NS Insurance.

NS Insurance is reinsured by means of stop-loss reinsurance 
contracts. Maximum possible loss assessments are done on a 
regular basis to prevent under-insurance. If market conditi-
ons allow, NS Insurance only takes out reinsurance with 
parties with a minimum rating of A+ (stable outlook). Should 
the rating fall below A-, it has the option to cancel the 
reinsurance contract. This has not been the case to date. The 
reinsurers of NS Insurance have a minimum rating of A-. 

NS Insurance is an insurance company subject to regulation 
by the Dutch central bank (DNB) and the Authority for the 
Financial Markets (AFM). As is the practice in the insurance 
sector, the required size of the free reserves to be held is 
linked to the solvency margin required by DNB. It is standard 
practice in the industrial insurance market to hold free 
reserves at a factor three times the solvency margin. The 
solvency margin requirement for 2013 is approximately  
€4 million. For NS Insurance, this means that a free reserve of 
€12 million is sufficient. NS Insurance comfortably satisfies 
this requirement.

Information on risks and financial instruments 
The following financial risks are distinguished: market risk, 
credit risk and liquidity risk. There also additional risks 
arising from cross-border lease transactions.

119 ANNUAL REPORT 2013



Market risk
Market risk concerns the risk that the income and 
expenses of the Group or the value of the investments in 
financial instruments suffer a negative impact due to 
market changes, such as the cost of raw materials, foreign 
exchange rates and interest rates. The purpose of market 
risk management is to maintain an acceptable market risk 
position with optimum returns.

Price risk of raw materials
The Group is sensitive to the effect of market fluctuations 
in the energy price. In 2005, the Group signed an eight-
year contract with Essent (2007-2014) to deliver track 
power for trains in the Netherlands. The transport costs of 
the track power are not included in the contract. Under 
the contract, the Group pays Essent the costs for the 
shared use of their gas and coal-fired plants. Part of these 
costs is variable (fuel prices) and part is fixed (other costs). 
The Group uses a hedging strategy, by means of which the 
fuel costs are also fixed.
The contract offers the Group price stability and market 
conformity, and takes account of volume and credit risk:
•  Price stability: shortages in production capacity in the 

Netherlands and a shortage of CO2 emission rights do 
not result in price increases. 

•  Market conformity: the variable fuel component enables 
the company to pursue its own risk management in 
more liquid fuel markets. 

•  Volume risk: the volume risk of the contract is limited 
because the Group has the option to adjust the volume 
annually within bandwidths. 

•  Credit risk: the credit risk is hedged by means of a credit 
management system.

If the value of the contract exceeds an agreed threshold, 
Essent issues security by means of a bank guarantee or 
Essent contributes cash as security. If this security is 
pledged in cash, the contribution and the obligation will 
be offset since the two are intricately linked.

Abellio has closed fuel hedge contracts for some of its 
subsidiaries to partly hedge the fuel price and the corres-
ponding foreign exchange risks. To this end, forward 
contracts are used monthly for a part of its fuel costs for a 
future period (varying between year-end 2014 and 2016). 
The guarantees related to these hedges are enclosed in 
Note 18...

Vacancy risk for investment property
With respect to investment property, the Group faces the risk 
of vacant properties. To limit this risk, the Group uses 
long-term rental agreements with financially sound parties. 
Despite a decrease in the average remaining term of the 
rental agreements, this is still more than five years as at 
year-end 2013. The Group continues to strive to conclude 
long-term rental agreements with financially sound parties.

Exchange rate and interest risks
Interest and exchange rate risks are largely managed by the 
head office. The holding of both interest rate and foreign-cur-
rency positions in connection with foreign group companies is 
regulated, and this is done within defined position limits. 
Speculative positions are not taken.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge 
exchange rate and interest-rate exposures that arise from 
operating, financing and investing activities. Such transactions 
take place within agreed guidelines. Depending on circumstan-
ces, this policy can be adjusted from time to time. In accordance 
with the treasury policy, the Group does not hold deri  va tives  
for trading purposes, neither does the Groups issue them.

Exchange-rate risk
The Group faces exchange-rate exposure on purchases, 
trading activities, liquid assets, loans taken up and other 
balance-sheet items denominated in a currency other than 
the euro. By virtue of its operating activities, the Group’s 
foreign exchange positions mostly arise from positions 
denoted in pound sterling (GBP). With respect to foreign 
currencies, the Group recognises a transaction risk,  
a translation risk and an economic risk.

Transaction risks 
This concern risks in connection with future cash flows in 
foreign currency, as well as in connection with balance-sheet 
positions denominated in foreign currency. The policy of the 
Group is aimed at hedging 100% of all the material items 
denominated in foreign currency, with the exception of 
exchange rate risks on foreign operations (see translation 
risks). The risk of exchange-rate fluctuations is hedged using 
forward exchange contracts, spot and/or forward acquisitions 
and sales and swaps, as a result of which one or more risks to 
which the primary financial instruments are exposed are 
transferred to other contract parties. 

120ANNUAL REPORT 2013  consolidated Financial stateMents



Acquisitions and sales, investment and financing obligations 
and settlements with foreign railway companies are usually 
conducted in the functional currency of the Group’s business 
units: the euro (EUR) and pound sterling (GBP). At year-end 
2012 and 2013, no material items are held in currencies other 
than the functional currency of the relevant business unit.

Sensitivity analysis
Since no net positions denominated in foreign currency were 
held at year-end 2013 and 2012, a change in the exchange 
rate of the euro at the year-end did not impact on the equity 
and profit for the reporting period. 

Translation risks 
This concern risks in connection with the translation of the 
balance-sheet items of subsidiaries with a functional currency 
other than the euro. The ensuing risks are only hedged if the 
Group expects to discontinue the relevant operating activities 
in the short term. The net equity value of the subsidiary can 
then be hedged. If no decision has been made to dispose of or 
discontinue the relevant subsidiary, the translation differen-
ces are accounted for in equity via the statutory reserve for 
exchange differences.

Economic risks are related to a possible weakening of the 
competitive position caused by a change in the value of a 
foreign currency. These risks are not currently hedged 
because the likelihood that the competitive position is under 
threat as a result of this is low. Moreover, this risk is conside-
red a normal operational risk. 

The main exchange rate for the reporting year is as follows:

exchange rate with the euro

Average exchange rate
Spot rate on 

reporting date

2013 2012 2013 2012

GBP 1.18 1.23 1.20 1.23

interest-rate risk
The policy pursued by the Group is to ensure that at least  
50% of the interest-rate risk on loans taken up is based  
on a fixed rate. When determining the interest risk on 
borrowings, the Group can take account of available liquidi-
ties that could neutralise the interest-rate risk on variable 
interest loans. The Group uses derivatives, such as interest-
rate swaps, to limit the interest-rate risk. The tables below 
provide insight into the interest rates as at the balance sheet 
date, as well as the maturity date or - if earlier - the contrac-
tual revision date. This means that a position where the 
interest rate is due to be revised within the coming year is 
classified in the category ‘12 months or less’.

The table below presents the interest rates on the balance-
sheet date as well as the remaining term for financial assets 
in the categories of interest-bearing non-current assets and 
current assets.
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interest-bearing financial assets

2012

(in millions of euros) Interest total < 6  mth 6-12  mth 1-2 yr 2-5 yr >5 yr

Available-for-sale financial assets  0% - 5%  95  -    -    14  81  -

Held-to-maturity investments -  -    -    -    -  - - 

Financial leases  5% - 6%  15  -    -    15  -  -

Deposits  0% - 2%  279  275  -  -  4  - 

total 389 275 - 29  85 -

Non interest-bearing investments 66

total other financial assets and 
investments

455

2013

(in millions of euros) Interest total < 6  mth 6-12  mth 1-2 yr 2-5 yr >5 yr

Available-for-sale financial assets  0% - 5%  100  - 3 19 78  -

Held-to-maturity investments -  -   -  - - - - 

Financial leases 11% 13  - - 1 4 8

Deposits  0% - 2% 231 106 123  - 2  - 

Other  4% 26 - -  - 26  - 

total 370 106 126 20 110 8

Non interest-bearing investments 67

total other financial assets and 
investments

437

 
The above deposits and bonds (included in financial assets 
available for sale) are intended, among other things, for 
paying the agreed investment obligations of approximately 
€330 million (2012: €360 million), redemption and interest 
rate payments on the amounts borrowed, non-current 
provisions and liabilities.

The interest-rate risk for part of the non-current financial 
assets available for sale is hedged by means of a fair value 
hedge making use of interest-rate swaps. The face value of 
these interest-rate swaps at 31 December 2013 is €60 million 
(2012: €60 million). The carrying amount of these derivatives 
was €0.5 million (2012: nil).
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The following notes contain information about the contrac-
tual stipulations for the interest-bearing amounts borrowed 
and other financial liabilities of the Group, which are stated 
at amortised cost.

The summary of outstanding loans is as follows:

summary of outstanding loans

31 december 2012

(in millions of euros) Currency Nominal Interest Expiry date Face value Carrying amount

Private loans EUR 0% - 6% 2013 - 2015  7  7 

Private loans EUR 0% - 6% 2015 - 2021  16  16 

Private loans EUR 6% - 10% 2013 - 2015  3  3 

Private loans EUR 6% - 10% 2015 - 2021  10  10 

Private loans EUR variable 2016  357  357 

Private loans EUR variable 2017  44  44 

Private loans EUR variable 2019  51  51 

Private loans EUR 3% 2014  80  80 

Financial lease liabilities EUR 4% - 6% 2015  4  4 

total liabilities 572  572 

31 december 2013

(in millions of euros) Currency Nominal Interest Expiry date Face value Carrying amount

Private loans EUR 5% 2014 - 2016  3  3

Private loans EUR 5% 2017 - 2019   11 11

Private loans EUR 3%  2014 - 2023  2  2

Private loans EUR 5%  2027  1  1

Private loans EUR variable 2016  355  355

Private loans EUR variable 2017  44  44

Private loans EUR variable 2019  51  51

Private loans EUR 3% 2018  195  195

Financial lease liabilities EUR 6% 2017  88  88  

total liabilities 750 750
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The face amount of the interest rate swaps used for hedging 
was €419 million (2012: €445 million). The hedging position 
is as follows:

cashflow hedge accounting

 2013 2012

Face value private loans
419 445

Notional amount interest rate 

swaps 419 445

Hedge effectiveness 100% 100%

Interest-rate profile
As at the balance-sheet date, the interest-rate profile of the 
interest-bearing financial instruments of the Group could be 
specified as follows: 

 Boekwaarde Boekwaarde

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

assets / liabilities with a fixed 
interest rate

Financial assets  139  110 

Financial liabilities  298  120 

Balance -159  -10 

assets / liabilities with a  
variable interest rate

Financial assets 1.150  1.227 

Financial liabilities 450  452 

Balance 700  775 

Interest-rate sensitivity 
When determining the result, the balance-sheet position at 
the year-end was assumed for instruments that had a variable 
interest rate. Subsequently, the effect on this position of an 
increase or decrease in the variable interest rate of 100 basis 
points was calculated. For some of these instruments, the 
variable interest rates are fixed by means of interest-rate 
swaps. As a result, a change in the variable interest rate has 
no impact on these instruments. The assumption is that all 
other variables, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain 
constant. The analysis was performed based on the same 
assumptions in 2012.

An increase of 100 basis points in the interest rate as at the 
balance sheet date would mean an increase in profit for the 
reporting period of €8 million. €12 million more (2012: €12 
million) would have been received in interest income. The 
increase of €5 million (2012: €4 million) in interest charges 
would be compensated by income from interest-rate swaps  
of €4 million (2012: €5 million). This result in a positive effect 
of €11 million (2012: €13 million). Taking account of income 
tax, an increase of €8 million (2012: €9 million) in the profit 
for the reporting period and equity remains. In the event of  
a drop in the interest rate of 100 basis points, a reverse effect 
would be achieved.
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Hedging transactions
The Group uses derivatives to hedge the risk, partially or 
fully, of fluctuations in the fair value of financial assets and/or 
liabilities, as well as fixed commitments.
With the aid of interest-rate swaps, variable-interest loans are 
effectively converted into fixed-interest loans. 

The tables below show the periods in which the net cash 
flows before tax are expected with respect to derivatives that 
serve as cash flow hedges. The interest-rate risk is partly 
mitigated by these cash-flow hedges.

cash flow from interest rate swaps used for hedging purposes 2012

(in millions of euros)
 Carrying 
amount

Expected
 cash flows < 6 months 6-12 months 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years > 5 years

interest rate swaps

Liabilities 52 57 7 7 14 29 -

cash flow from interest rate swaps used for hedging purposes 2013

(in millions of euros)
 Carrying
 amount

Expected
 cash flows < 6 months 6-12 months 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years > 5 years

interest rate swaps

Liabilities 38 46 7 7 32 - -

The above items are stated at net value because the net 
contractual settlement of the hedging transactions. In the 
calculation of the future cash flows, it was assumed that the 
future variable interest rate position would be the same as 
the latest available variable interest rate position. 

Fair value versus carrying amount
The carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities 
recognised on the balance sheet does not differ from the  
fair value. 

Value determination of investments recognised under 
financial assets
When calculating the market price, it was assumed that the 
carrying amount of deposits with a residual term of less than 
one year is equal to the market value. With respect to bonds, 
the fair value was calculated using the available actual 
market prices/closing prices. 

Value determination of derivatives
When determining the value of the interest-rate swaps and 
foreign exchange derivatives, the Group uses valuation 
methods in which all the significant information required is 
derived from published market data.

The valuation of the HTM option (see note 5) is based on data 
that is not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).
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credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss for the Group if a 
supplier or counterparty of a financial instrument does not 
comply with the contractual obligations. Credit risks mainly 
arise from accounts receivable from clients and from invest-
ments. As at the balance-sheet date, there were no significant 
concentrations of credit risks. The maximum credit risk 
equals the balance-sheet value of each financial asset.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the 
maximum credit risk. The maximum credit risk as at the 
balance sheet date is as follows:
 
credit risk

 Disclosure 31 dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012

(in millions of euros)

Financial assets including  
investments

Available-for-sale financial assets 5 136  135 

Held-to-maturity investments 5 2  2 

Finance leases 5  22  23 

Other financial assets 5  46  16 

Deposits 5 231  279 

Trade and other receivables 8 902  412 

Cash and cash equivalents 9  919  948 

total 2,258 1,815

Investments
The Group reduces its credit risk on investments by exclusi-
vely investing in counterparties that meet the policy criteria 
prepared by the Group. Regular assessments are carried out 
to ascertain whether counterparties continue to meet the 
policy criteria or further action is required. 

In view of the credit rating of the counterparties, the Group 
expects that they will fulfil their obligations. No impairment 
losses were incurred on investments, bonds and deposits in 
2013 and 2012. Investments are essentially made in counter-
parties with a long-term credit rating of A from Standard & 
Poor’s and at least a long-term credit rating of A2 from 
Moody’s, or in a number of Dutch municipalities. When a 

counterparty only have one credit rating, the rating require-
ments of Standard & Poor’s or Moody’s as described above 
have to be satisfied. Investments that no longer satisfy this 
policy are only tolerated as an exception with frequent 
monitoring, or they are wound down (mainly through normal 
selling), which can still extend some time beyond the 
balance-sheet date. The foreign companies of the Group do 
not have long-term material liquidity surpluses, unless 
resulting from normal operating activities (prepaid amounts). 

Trade and other receivables
The credit risk arising from the Group’s trade and other 
receivables is primarily determined by the individual charac-
teristics of the different clients. The demographic aspects of 
the client base, including the risk of non-payment and the 
country in which the clients are active, have less impact on 
the credit risk. Some 9% (2012: 9%) of the Group’s turnover is 
realised from sales transactions with the Dutch education 
agency Dienst Uitvoering Onderwijs (DUO).

As part of the credit policy pursued by the business units, 
each new client’s credit rating is established separately before 
standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are 
offered. If a contract is renewed, the company’s own experi-
ence is also referred to when the creditworthiness is assessed. 
When assessing creditworthiness, clients are divided into 
groups based on credit profiles, including the categories of 
government, companies, private clients and clients that may 
have had earlier financial difficulties. Deliveries to clients 
with a high-risk profile are only made after approval by the 
Executive Board. Business transactions with most of the 
clients go back some years now, with only a few incidental 
cases of immaterial losses. 

The Group recognises a provision for impairment amounting 
to the estimated losses from trade and other receivables. The 
most important elements of this provision are a specific loss 
provision for separate major positions and a collective loss 
provision for groups of similar assets in connection with 
losses already incurred but not yet identified. The collective 
loss provision is determined based on historical payment data 
for comparable financial assets.

The age breakdown of the receivables as at the balance-sheet 
date is as follows:
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age analysis of receivables

31 dec. 2013  31 dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012 31 Dec. 2012
(in millions of euros) Gross Provided for Gross Provided for

Not past due  586  -   184  -  

Past due 0 - 30 days  12  -   21  -  

Past due 31 - 120 days  11  -   9  -  

Past due 121 - 180 days  13  1  14  -  

Past due 181 - 360 days  4  1  11  -  

Past due more than one year  27  6  10  3 

total 653 8 249 3

Impairment losses
The changes in the provision for impairment with respect to 
receivables during the year were as follows:

Movement provision for bad debts

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Balance as at 1 January  3  4 

Additions  7  -  

Use  -   -1 

Release  -2  -  

Balance as at 31 december 8 3

The provision accounts for receivables are used to enter 
impairment losses, unless the Group is certain that it is 
impossible to recover the amount due. In that case, the 
amount is classified as uncollectible and written off directly 
against the relevant financial asset. 

liquidity risk
The risk of the Group failing to meet its financial obligations 
is limited because the Group has sufficient liquid assets or 
assets that can be made liquid quickly. In addition, the Group 
also has at its disposal a committed credit facility allowing 
the withdrawal of €350 million, with a term until 2018. 

At year-end 2013, the liquid assets and assets that can be 
made liquid quickly amounted to €2,052 million (2012: 

€1,638 million). The contractual financial obligations within 
one year amount to €799 million (2012: €818 million). The 
Group expects to meet the investment obligations and the 
long-term liabilities from the surplus of funds in the short 
term and from the projected cash flow from operating, 
investing and financing activities.

The Group manages the liquidities based on regular bottom-
up liquidity forecasts. Based on the forecast, the business 
units that are clients of Corporate Treasury’s in-house bank 
are given financing limits. The bank monitors these limits 
and it is not possible to exceed them unless approval has been 
obtained. This provides Corporate Treasury with an early-
warning system. The aforementioned liquidity forecast and 
the financing limits enable Corporate Treasury to manage the 
liquidities (lending and borrowing of funds). 

The contractual terms of the financial liabilities, including 
the estimated interest payments, are shown below.
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contractual cashflows from financial liabilities 31 december 2012

(in millions of euros)
carrying value

31 dec. 2012
contractual 

cashflows < 6 mths. 6-12 mths, 1-2 yr. 2-5 yr. > 5 yr.

non-derivative financial liabilities

Private loans  568  579  5  45  58  373  98 

Finance lease liabilities  5  5  -   -   -   5  -  

Accruals  -   -   -   -   -   -   -  

Trade and other payables  757  754  754  -   -   -   -  

derivative financial liabilities

Interest rate swaps used for hedging  52  57  7  7  14  29  -  

total 1,382 1,395 766 52 72 407 98

contractual cashflows from financial liabilities 31 december 2013

(in millions of euros)
carrying value

31 dec. 2012
contractual 

cashflows < 6 mths. 6-12 mths, 1-2 yr. 2-5 yr. > 5 yr.

non-derivative financial liabilities

Private loans  662 672 25 22 45 481 99

Finance lease liabilities  88  88 6 7 14 39 22

Accruals  -   -    -    -    -    -    -   

Trade and other payables  725 725 725 - - - -

trade and other payables

Interest rate swaps used for hedging  38  46 7 7 32 - -

total 1,513 1,531 763 36 91 520 121

Risks arising from cross-border lease  
transactions
Until the end of 1998, the Group concluded cross-border lease 
transactions with the aim of reducing borrowing costs. Under 
these cross-border leases, which solely concerned rolling 
stock, the beneficial ownership remained with the Group, 
which is why the relevant assets are included on the balance 
sheet. The carrying amount of the rolling stock involved in 
cross-border leases at year-end 2013 was €182 million (2012: 
€156 million). The financial benefits of the cross-border leases 
are deducted from the borrowing costs spread across the term 
of the transactions in the income statement. The not yet 
amortised financing benefits obtained with these leases, 
amounting to €3 million at year-end 2013, are recognised on 

the balance sheet as income attributable to future years and 
split into a current portion of €1 million and a non-current 
portion of €2 million. The maximum risk that arises upon the 
simultaneous dissolution of all the current contracts actually 
exceeds the reserve, but the chance of this occurring is 
minimal. In view of the real risk, we consider the amount for 
the balance-sheet item of income attributable to future years 
as adequate. Some of the positions related to these leases 
concern off-balance sheet positions. The credit risk associated 
with these off-balance sheet positions is managed by Corpo-
rate Treasury. Unless exceptional unforeseeable situations 
arise, the exchange-rate risk in these contracts is hedged.
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29 
Related Parties
Transactions with related parties take place based on the 
‘arm’s length’ principle.

All the issued shares are in the hands of the Dutch State. A 
significant transaction with a company related to the State 
(DUO) concerns the receipt of the fee for the student travel 
card (2013: €423 million, 2012: €438 million).

Furthermore, NS received an amount of €46 million (2012: 
€34 million) in grants from the State in 2013 through various 
schemes. Of this total, €37 million (2012: €29 million) was 
recognised as ‘Other income’ and €9 million (2012: €5 
million) was deducted from the related costs.

The following transactions take place with ProRail, a com-
pany related to the State:
•  Payment of the user fee for the Dutch infrastructure. 

Details can be found under note 24;
•  NS has undertaken to pay ProRail BV at the end of 2013 €33 

million for the financing of commercial facilities in Nieuw 
Sleutel Projecten [new key projects] stations (2012: €38 
million). In 2013, €33 million (2012: €33 million) has been 
paid to ProRail BV.

The transactions with members of the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board are explained under note 20.

There were no significant transactions with joint ventures 
and other participating interests in 2013 and 2012.

Eurofima is a 5.8% participating interest of the Group; the 
following transactions and balance-sheet positions apply to 
this party:

2013 2012

Interest income - 3

Interest charges 2 5

31 december 2013 31 December 2012

Deposits - -

Interest payable                       - 1

Private loans 450 451

Group companies
In accordance with section 403 Book 2 of the Dutch Civil 
Code, NS Groep NV has assumed joint and several liability for 
debts arising from the actions of participating interests 
marked with an asterisk (*).

The main companies included in the consolidated financial 
statements are:

companies which are included in the 
consolidated financial statement

Percentage 
interest Registered seat

operating companies

NS Reizigers BV* 100 Utrecht

NS Internationaal BV 100 Utrecht

Abellio Transport Holding BV 100 Utrecht

NedTrain BV* 100 Utrecht

NS Financial Services 

(Holdings) Ltd 100 Dublin

NS Stations BV* 100 Utrecht

NS Vastgoed BV* 100 Utrecht

NS Insurance NV 100 Utrecht

NS Opleidingen BV 100 Utrecht

NS Spooraansluitingen BV 100 Utrecht

NS Projecten BV 100 Utrecht

subsidiaries of operating 
companies

Thalys Nederland NV 100 Utrecht

HSA Beheer NV 95 Rotterdam

NedTrain Ematech BV 100 Utrecht

NS Stations Retailbedrijf BV* 100 Utrecht

NS Fiets BV 100 Utrecht

NS-OV Fiets BV 100 Utrecht

Qbuzz BV 100 Amersfoort

Stationsfoodstore BV 100 Utrecht

NS Poort Ontwikkeling BV 100 Utrecht

NS Financial Services Company 100 Dublin

Abellio Transport Holdings Ltd 100 London

Abellio Greater Anglia Ltd 100 London

Abellio GmbH 100 Essen

Abellio West London Limited 100 London

Abellio London Limited 100 London
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Joint ventures
The Group participates in the following joint ventures:

Joint ventures

Percentage 
interest Registered seat

Waterkant CV 51 Amsterdam

Stationsdrogisterijen CV 50 Zaandam

Stationslocaties OG CV 55.8 Utrecht

Basisfonds Stationslocaties CV 50.9 Utrecht

Merseyrail Electrics 2002 Ltd 50 Liverpool

Northern Rail Ltd 50 Hampshire

Trans Link Systems BV 68.75 Amersfoort

The following items are included in the consolidated financial 
statements, corresponding with the share of the Group in the 
assets and liabilities, income and expenses of the joint 
ventures: 

Joint Ventures

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012

Non-current assets  360  341 

Current assets 336  202 

Non-current liabilities 28  14 

Current liabilities  313  179 

net assets / liabilities  355  350 

Revenue  1,041  570 

Expenses  944  514 

Result from operating activities  97  56 

Profit for the period 83  51 

Joint ventures did not enter into investment obligations at 
year end 2013 and 2012.

other interests
The Group’s interest concerns: 

other interests

Percentage 
interest

Registered 
seat

Eurofima 5.8 Basel

In accordance with the disclosure requirement contained in 
sections 379 and 414, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, a full 
list of the group companies, associates and joint ventures is 
filed with the Trade Register in Utrecht.
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separate balance sheet as at 31 december 2013 
for nV nederlandse spoorwegen

(in millions of euros) 31 dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012*

assets
Non-current financial assets 3,044  3,168 

total assets 3,044  3,168

equity

Share capital 1,012  1,012 

Foreign currency translation reserve  1  2 

Research and Development  48   15 

Hedging reserve  -28 -36 

Actuarial reserve 6  6 

Fair value reserve  13 11 

General reserve 2,035  1,895

Result for the period  -43  263 

total equity 3,044  3,168

total equity 3,044  3,168 

*  The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting 
policies in the consolidated financial statements.

seperate income statement 2013 nV nederlandse 
spoorwegen

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012*

Other result

- -

Result of group companies after tax

-43  263 

net result -43 263

*  The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting 
policies in the consolidated financial statements.

SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013

Principles applied to the financial 
statements

General
With effect from 2006, the Group applies the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and their interpretations 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), as 
adopted for use in the European Union, for preparing its 
consolidated financial statements. 
For the determination of the principles for the valuation of 
assets and liabilities and result determination for its separate 
financial statements, NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen avails itself 
of the option in section 362, paragraph 8 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code. This means that the principles for the 
valuation of assets and liabilities and result determination 
(hereinafter ‘accounting principles’) of the separate financial 
statements of NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen are the same as 
those applied to the consolidated financial statements. In this 
context, participating interests in which substantial influence 
is exercised are measured using the equity method. 

Participating interests in group companies
The participating interests in group companies are measured 
using the equity method, with losses only recognised to the 
extent that the shareholder has an obligation to settle them. 

Result of group companies
The result of group companies consists of the result after 
income tax. 
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NOTES
TO ThE SEPARATE bALANCE ShEET ANd 
ThE INCOME STATEMENT 

The amounts presented in the notes are stated in millions of 
euros, unless indicated otherwise. 

Financial assets
Participating interests in group companies

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012*

Balance as at 1 January  3,168  2,982 

Share in result  -43  263 

Dividend distributed for the  

previous reporting year  -92  -74 

Other changes 11  -3 

Balance as at 31 december 3,044 3,168

*  The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting 
policies in the consolidated financial statements.

equity

(in millions of euros) 31 dec. 2013 31 Dec. 2012*

share capital 1,012 1,012

statutory reserves

Foreign currency 

translation reserve 1 2 

Research and Deve-

lopment

 

48 

 

15 

Hedging reserve -28 -36 

Total of statutory 

reserves 21 -19 

Fair value reserve  6 6

other reserve  

Actuarial reserve 13 11

General reserve

Balance as at 1 Jan.  1,895  1,922 

Dividend paid -92 -74 

Profit for the previous 

period  263  68 

Other changes  -31  -21 

Balance as at 31 Dec. 2,035  1,895 

Total other reserves 2,048  1,906

total reserves 2,075    1,893
Result for the period -43 263

Minority interests  -  - 

total equity 3,044 3,168

*  The change of the comparative figures is due to the changes in accounting 
policies in the consolidated financial statements.
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At the start of 2012, the Group made new agreements with 
the existing shareholders in one of its equity interests with 
the aim of acquiring the remaining shares. The revaluation in 
2012 of the existing interest at its fair value has resulted in a 
gain of €6 million in 2012. This gain is recognised in the 
result of the group companies and has been transferred from 
the general reserve to the revaluation reserve via the ‘other 
changes’ item.

off-balance-sheet commitments
Other than the disclosures on page 96, no claims have been 
made against NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen and consolidated 
participating interests that have not been adequately accoun-
ted for in the balance sheet.

For the purpose of income tax, nearly all the subsidiaries 
belonging to the Group are part of the NV Nederlandse 
Spoorwegen tax group, with the exception of the foreign 
corporate units. Consequently NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen is 
jointly and severally liable for the tax liabilities of the 
subsidiaries included in the tax group.

Key participating interests
NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen is the holding company of NS 
Groep NV. NS Groep NV is the only subsidiary of NV Neder-
landse Spoorwegen. For a list of the participating interests, 
please refer to page 55.

Utrecht, 12 February 2014

supervisory Board
C.J. van den Driest, Chairman 
F.J.G.M. Cremers, Vice-chairman
Ms. I.M.G. Jankovich   
J.J.M. Kremers  
Ms. T.M. Lodder                                         
P. Rosenmöller

executive Board 
T.H. Huges, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
E.M. Robbe 
Ms. M.W.L. van Vroonhoven
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Profit appropriation as stipulated by the articles 
of association
In accordance with article 21 paragraph 2 of the Articles of 
Association of NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen, the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders decides on the appropria-
tion of any positive balance in the income statement.

Profit appropriation proposal
A proposal will be put to the Meeting that the loss of  
€43 million should be withdrawn from the general reserves.  
A dividend of €92 million was paid out in 2013.

events after the balance-sheet date
No matters have come to light after the balance-sheet date 
that provide further information about the actual situation  
as at the balance-sheet date.

OThER INFORMATION
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We have audited the accompanying financial statements for 
2013 of NS. The financial statements include the consolidated 
financial statements and the company financial statements. 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the consolida-
ted  balance sheet as at 31 December 2013, the consolidated 
income statement, the consolidated statement of the compre-
hensive income, the consolidated cash flow statement, and 
the consolidated statement of change in equity for the year 
then ended, and notes, comprising  a summary of the 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. The company financial statements comprise the 
separate balance sheet as at 31 December 2013 and the 
separate  income statement for the year then ended and the 
notes, comprising a summary of the accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

The Executive Board of NS is responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these financial statements in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of 
the Netherlands Civil Code, and for the preparation of page 6 
up to and including page 72 of the annual report in accor-
dance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

The Executive Board of NS is responsible for drawing up (the 
selected parts of) the annual report in accordance with 
Section 2:391 of the Netherlands Civil Code and the GRI G3.1 
Guidelines and presenting the selected indicators in accor-
dance with the internal reporting criteria, as stated on page 
71. In addition, the Board is also responsible for determining 
the level at which GRI is to be applied, in accordance with the 
criteria in the GRI G3.1 Guidelines.

COMbINEd AUdITOR’S REPORT ANd ASSURANCE REPORT OF ThE INdEPENdENT AUdITOR

To the General Meeting of Shareholders of NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen

The Executive Board of NV Nederlandse Spoorwegen (further ‘NS’) has asked us to perform an audit on the financial state-
ments for 2013, as included at page 73 up to and including page 133. In addition, we were asked to provide assurance con-
cerning selected parts of the annual report for 2013 (further ‘annual report’), as explained below.

Report on the financial statements

the executive Board’s responsibility

assurance-rapport relating to selected parts of 
the annual report

Furthermore, the Executive Board is responsible for such internal control as they determine necessary to enable the prepara-
tion of the financial statements, the selected parts of the annual report and the selected indicators that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our activities relating to selected parts of the annual report 
were carried out for the purpose of obtaining:

•  a limited degree of assurance that the information in the 
chapters ‘Company profile’, ‘Report by the Executive Board’, 
‘Dialogue with our stakeholders’, ‘Activity Report’, ‘Our 
Strategy’ and ‘Reporting criteria and scope’ (further 
‘selected parts of the annual report’) has been presented 
correctly in all aspects of material significance, based on 
Section 2:391 of the Netherlands Civil Code and GRI G3.1 
Guidelines;

•  a reasonable degree of assurance that the below listed 
indicators (further ‘the selected indicators’) for 2013 have 
been presented correctly in all aspects of material signifi-
cance in accordance with the internal reporting criteria, as 
stated on page 71:

 -  CO2 emissions per passenger-kilometre of NS Reizigers, NS 
Hispeed and the Greater Anglia, Northern Rail and 
Merseyrail franchises of Abellio;

 - CO2 emissions per bus-kilometre of Qbuzz and Abellio UK;
 -  Tonnage company waste, office waste and consumer waste 

from the stations and trains of NS Netherlands and the 
percentage waste which NS Netherlands offers separated 
to her waste processors.

Further, NS has asked us to check whether the GRI level at 
which NS declares that the GRI G3.1 guidelines have been 
applied, as stated on page 71, is consistent with the applica-
ble criteria imposed by the GRI G3.1 guidelines.
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auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on 
Auditing. This requires that we comply with ethical require-
ments and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Company’s prepara-
tion and fair presentation of the financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circums-
tances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
the Executive Board, as well as evaluating the overall presenta-
tion of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Our responsibility is to provide an assurance report regarding 
the selected parts of the annual report and the selected 
indicators, based on the instructions described above. We 
carried out our assignment in accordance with the Dutch Law, 
including the Dutch Standard 3000 ‘Assurance Engagement 
other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Informa-
tion’ and the Dutch Standard 3410N ‘Assurance assignments 
relating to corporate sustainable reporting’. We do not provide 
any assurance regarding the assumptions and viability of 
future-oriented information in the selected parts of the annual 
report.

The work carried out for the purpose of obtaining a limited 
degree of assurance are focused on establishing the plausibility 
of information and are less in detail than the work carried out 
for the purpose of obtaining a reasonable degree of assurance.
We carried out the following work in order to obtain a limited 
degree of assurance:

•  an assessment of the content of the selected parts of the 
annual report with respect to the specific requirements as 
presented in Section 2:391 of the Netherlands Civil Code 
and GRI G3.1;

•  an assessment of the systems and processes for gathering 
information, internal checks and the processing of the 
information;

•  interviews held with the board members who are responsi-
ble for providing the information in the selected parts of 
the annual report;

•  an assessment of the internal and external documentation 
to determine whether there is sufficient supporting 
evidence for the information in the selected parts of the 
annual report.

In order to obtain reasonable assurance for the selected 
indicators we carried out the following additional work:

•  an audit of design and existence and testing the perfor-
mance of the systems and processes for collecting informa-
tion for the selected indicators and associated explanatory 
notes, including the calculation and consolidation of the 
results;

•  site visits and interviews with staff responsible for analy-
zing and reporting the selected indicators;

•  an analysis of the selected indicators, associated explana-
tory notes and internal reporting criteria.

In terms of the level at which GRI was applied, our procedu-
res have been restricted to checking whether the GRI table is 
consistent with the criteria that have been imposed for it and 
whether the relevant information is publicly available.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion and our 
conclusion.
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opinion and conclusions

non-mandatory explanatory paragraph

other matters

Opinion with respect to the consolidated financial  
statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of NV Nederlandse 
Spoorwegen as at 31 December 2013 and of its result and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the 
European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands 
Civil Code.

Opinion with respect to the company financial statements
In our opinion, the company financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position of NV Nederlandse as at 
31 December 2013 and of its result for the year then ended in 
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Code.

Emphasis on the uncertainty caused by the financial 
settlement of a contract
We draw attention to note 1 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ 
on page 93 in the notes to the financial statements for 2013 , 
which describes the uncertainty related to the financial 
settlement of the V250-contract between NV Nederlandse 
Spoorwegen and AnsaldoBreda SpA. Our opinion is not 
qualified in respect of this matter.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Pursuant to the legal requirements under Section 2:393 sub 5 
at e and f of the Netherlands Civil Code, we have no deficien-
cies to report as a result of our examination whether page 6 
up to and including page page 72 of the annual report, to the 
extent we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with 
Part 9 of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the information as 
required under Section 2:392 sub 1 at b - h has been annexed. 
Further, we report that page 6 up to and including page page 
72 of the annual report, to the extent we can assess, is 
consistent with the financial statements as required by 
Section 2:391 sub 4 of the Netherlands Civil Code

Conclusion with respect to the selected parts of the  
annual report
Our work did not show that the information in the selected 
parts of the annual report has been presented incorrectly in 
any aspects of material significance, based on the Section 
2:391 of the Netherlands Civil Code and GRI G3.1 Guidelines.

Opinion with respect to the selected parameters
In our opinion, the selected indicators for 2013 and the 
explanatory notes in the annual report have been presented 
correctly in all aspects of material significance in accordance 
with the internal reporting criteria as stated on page 71.

Reporting on the level at which GRI has been applied
Based on the work we have carried out, we conclude that the 
A+ level at which NS declares GRI to have been applied, as 
stated on page 71 and based on the GRI table on (www.ns.nl/
jaarverslag/gritabel2013), is consistent with the GRI criteria 
imposed for that level.

The Hague, 12 February 2014

KPMG Accountants N.V.
R.R.J. Smeets, chartered accountant
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Balance sheet

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012* 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Assets

Property, plant and  

equipment  3,127  3,405  3,433  3,272  3,150  2,844  2,710  2,468  2,506  2,630 

Investment property  320  314  315  309  317  319  307  305  305  271 

Intangible assets  137  117  76  64  157  149  115  96  8  10 

Investments in equity 

accounted investees  14  14  14  14  40  33  27  24  -    -   

Other financial assets, 

including investments  206  176  150  146  305  274  263  254  311  236 

Deferred tax assets  387  346  392  407  438  455  524  654  691  723 

Total non-current assets  4,191  4,372  4,380  4,212  4,407  4,074  3,946  3,801  3,821  3,870 

Inventories  114  134  80  95  132  133  133  127  133  93 

Other investments  231  279  362  209  150  1,454  1,815  1,882  1,318  1,455 

Trade and other receivables  1,002  509  680  892  1,245  1,377  1,243  823  721  480 

Income tax receivables  30  11  14  -    34  154  116  -    -    -   

Cash and cash equivalents  919  948  534  386  546  571  291  481  285  323 

Total assets  2,296  1,881  1,670  1,582  2,107  3,689  3,598  3,313  2,457  2,351 

Total assets  6,487  6,253 6,050  5,794  6,514  7,763  7,544  7,114  6,278  6,221 

NS TEN-YEAR SUMMARY

* The revision of the comparative figures for 2012 is the result of changes to the accounting policies applied in the consolidated financial statements.

From 2007 onwards, income tax receivables have been presented separately.
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Balance sheet

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012* 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Equity and 
liabilities
Equity  3,044  3,168  2,977  2,831  2,871  4,249  4,109  3,843  3,708  3,584

Deferred credits  122  134  170  213  229  238  251  267  287  324 

Loans and borrowings, 

including derivatives  731  577  180  315  785  839  794  786  750  800 

Employee benefits  37  35  31  34  34  34  40  48  121  235 

Provisions  182  277  349  175  233  162  147  192  203  214 

Accruals  34  39  239  103  29  8  22  6  -    -   

Deferred tax liabilities  158  153  136  103  88  66  51  67  46  34 

Total non-current liabilities  1,264  1,215  1,105  943  1,398  1,347  1,305  1,366  1,407  1,607 

Bank overdrafts  -    -    -    -    18  42  46  15  -    -   

Loans and borrowings,  

including derivatives  57  48  365  387  292  244  232  248  3  3 

Corporate tax payable  12  12  17  7  -    1  84  46  -    -   

Trade and other payables  1,181  1,248  784  794  1,210  1,226  1,101  1,097  1,160  1,027 

Deferred income  733  387  754  751  707  639  616  436  -    -   

Provisions  196  175  48  81  18  15  51  63  -    -   

Total current liabilities  2,179  1,870  1,968  2,020  2,245  2,167  2,130  1,905  1,163  1,030 

Total equity and liabilities  6,487  6,253 6,050  5,794  6,514  7,763  7,544  7,114  6,278  6,221 

* The revision of the comparative figures for 2012 is the result of changes to the accounting policies applied in the consolidated accounts.
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Consolidated income statement

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012* 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Revenue  4,606  4,638  3,628  3,520  3,271  4,253  4,040  3,846  3,474  2,949 

Total operating expenses  4,670  4,284  3,356  3,286  3,121  3,925  3,685  3,536  3,186  2,805 

Result from operating 
activities  -64  354  272  234  150  328  355  310  288  144 

Net finance result  -26  -25  -12 -22  4  67  56  43  45  30 

Share in result of investments 

in equity accounted investees  1  1  1 1   -  4  5 1 - -

Profit before income tax  -89  330  261  213  154  399  416  354  333  174 

Income tax expense  46  -67  -50  -53  -37  -118  -79  -157  -112  -142 

Profit for the period  -43  263  211  160  117  281  337  197  221  32 

* The revision of the comparative figures for 2012 is the result of changes to the accounting policies applied in the consolidated accounts.

 

Passenger transport

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Total ticket revenues 2,046 2,026 1,988 1,869 1,839 1,790 1,740 1,697 1,592 1,489

comprising:

•  domestic ticket revenues 1,936 1,916 1,884 1,799 1,758 1,706 1,663  1,622 1,523 1,424

•  international ticket revenues  110  110 104 97 81 84 77 75 69 65

Passenger kilometres in  

millions 17,018  17,098 16,808 16,359 16,315 16,180 15,546 15,414 14,730 14,097

comprising:

•  standard tickets 12,782 12,591 12,381 12,252 12,290 12,277 11,644 11,498 10,962 10,577

•  major contracts  

(student travel passes) 4,236 4,507 4,427 4,107 4,025 3,903 3,902 3,916 3,768 3,530

Seat kilometres in millions  54,517 56,545 56,368 57,117 59,636 59,033 54,772 50,167 49,737 49,500

Productivity:

•  passengers per train  138  138 140 138 139 140 135 135 129 122

•  seats per train  444 458 471 487 515 482 487 441 436 430
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Hub development and operation

(in millions of euros) 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Retail and catering turnover in 

the Netherlands  359  357  347  342  330  321 291  267  237  232 

Number of stations  406  402  397  399  398  395  387  377  390  388 

Property under development 

(m2 gross floor area)  38,379  56,600  112,400  219,200 

 

259,000  583,714 

 

418,000  24,181  56,144  -   

 

Staffing levels 

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Average number of FTEs  28,985  28,025  23,369  22,979  29,505  26,270  25,502  24,334  24,712  23,084 

Average number of employees   32,462  31,517  26,548  26,099  32,705  29,033  27,978  26,819  27,135  25,491 

FTEs as at 31 December  28,592  27,879  24,201  23,630  30,068  26,581  26,004  24,961  23,626  24,794 

Number of employees as at  

31 December  32,155  31,592  27,509  26,868  33,582  29,384  28,676  27,382  26,116  27,191 
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